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“Safe Harbor” Statement under the Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995: This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain
forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that involve risks and uncertainties. The
terms “may,” “should,” “could,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “continues,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “objective,” “plan,” “potential,” “project”
and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and
involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. These statements are based on management’s current expectations,
intentions or beliefs and are subject to a number of factors, assumptions and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from
those described in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences or that might otherwise impact the
business include the risk factors set forth in Item 1A of this Form 10-K.
 

The Company undertakes no obligation to update any such factor or to publicly announce the results of any revisions to any forward-
looking statements contained herein whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I
 

ITEM 1.  BUSINESS.
 

Overview
 

Lawson Products, Inc. (“Lawson”, the “Company”, “we” or “us”) was incorporated in Illinois in 1952, and reincorporated in Delaware in
1982. Lawson is a North American distributor and marketer of systems, services and products to the industrial, commercial, institutional, and
governmental maintenance repair and operations (“MRO”) marketplace. The Company also manufactures, sells and distributes production and
specialized component parts to the original equipment marketplace (“OEM”) including the automotive, appliance, aerospace, construction, and
transportation industries. Please see Note O “Segment Reporting” in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for further information regarding financial results related to the Company’s geographical and business
segments. (Such information is incorporated herein by reference.)
 

MRO Segment
 

Industry and competition
 

The MRO industry consists of companies that buy and stock products in bulk and supply these products to customers on an as needed
basis. The customer benefits from lower costs and convenience of ordering. We estimate the MRO industry in North America to exceed
$100 billion in revenues.
 

We encounter intense competition from several national distributors and manufacturers and a large number of regional and local
distributors. Some competitors have greater financial and personnel resources, handle more extensive lines of merchandise, operate larger
facilities and price some merchandise more competitively than we do. We compete for business delivering on our proposition of vendor
managed inventory, technical expertise and highly engineered products.
 

Operations
 

We participate in the MRO industry through our Lawson Products business unit and through our Rutland Tools subsidiary (“Rutland”)
which together represented 83% of our overall net sales for the year ended December 31, 2008.
 

The majority of our sales are generated through a network of approximately 1,500 independent sales agents. These agents deliver value to
the customer by offering vendor managed inventory, technical expertise and highly engineered products. Sales agents receive education in the
best uses of our products enabling them to provide solutions customized to our customers needs. This includes on-site visits to help manage
customer inventories, introducing cost savings and improving their profitability. Regular inventory analysis and replenishment is conducted to
prevent unnecessary purchases and unplanned downtime. Additionally, we provide customized storage systems for improved organization and a
more efficient workflow. Product demonstrations that can improve our customers’ productivity are regularly given by our agents.
 

We distribute printed catalogs to two primary markets. One is the retail market where business is done with the end user of the product.
The other is the wholesale market where the distributor resells our product to an end customer. In 2008, we delivered printed catalogs to
approximately 70,000 retail customers and approximately 62,000 wholesale customers. We also have showrooms located in Whittier, California;
City of Industry, California; San Jose, California; Santa Ana, California; Chatsworth, California; Phoenix, Arizona; and Houston, Texas.
 

We receive product orders in various ways. Customers can place orders with our customer service team via fax or phone, orders can be
placed directly through the on-line catalog on our web site and agents enter orders directly into an electronic ordering system.
 

Our engineering department provides technical support as part of our value proposition for our extensive product line and on-site problem
solving. Material Safety Data Sheets are maintained electronically and are available to our customers seven days a week, 24 hours a day.
Additionally, product certifications and material test
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reports are available by contacting the engineering department at engineering@lawsonproducts.com. Our engineering department also develops
and presents product safety and technical training seminars tailored to meet our customers’ needs.
 

We sell products in all 50 states, the District of Columbia, and Canada. An important factor in attracting and retaining customers is our
ability to process orders promptly. We normally ship to customers within one to two days of order placement. This rapid shipment is facilitated
by automated order entry and inventory control systems. Products are stocked in and processed from strategically placed general distribution
centers in Des Plaines, Illinois; Addison, Illinois; Vernon Hills, Illinois; Reno, Nevada; Fairfield, New Jersey; Dallas, Texas; Suwanee, Georgia;
and Mississauga, Ontario.
 

We carry a significant amount of inventories to ensure product availability and rapid processing of customer orders. We depend on
accurate forecasting of customer demand to establish the proper level of inventory for each product. Inventory levels need to be sufficient to
meet customer demand while avoiding the costs of stocking excess items. Technology is critical to provide management with timely information
related to our current inventory on hand in relation to customer demand, vendor pricing and purchase lead times to order the replenishment of
the optimal number of parts at the proper time at the best price. We are seeking to improve and upgrade the quality of our information
technology to maximize the efficiency of our supply chain.
 

Products
 

We offer approximately 240,000 different products for sale of which approximately 180,000 products are maintained in inventory. Sales
percentages by broad categories of our product mix are as follows:
 
     

Product Category  Percent of Total MRO Sales
 

Fastening systems   20%
Specialty chemicals   13 
Cutting tools and abrasives   13 
Fluid power   11 
Aftermarket automotive supplies   9 
Electrical   9 
Welding and metal repair   6 
Other   19 
     

   100%
     

 

Substantially all of our products are manufactured by others, purchased in bulk and repackaged in smaller quantities for sale to our
customers. During 2008, our Lawson Products business unit purchased products from over 1,100 suppliers and our Rutland business unit
purchased products from approximately 600 suppliers. We generally do not engage in long-term or fixed-price contracts. No single supplier
accounted for more than three percent of our purchases in 2008 and we believe that the loss of any single supplier would not significantly affect
our operations.
 

We actively participate in the design and development of products with our manufacturers. Technology has helped us to develop new items
that are application specific. We review applications and recommend alternative products that could prove beneficial to the customer. Our quality
control department tests our product offerings to assure they meet our specifications. We also conduct failure analysis and recommend solutions
to help customers maximize product performance and avoid costly product failures. To promote brand loyalty, we sell products using various
private labels and tradenames including Lawson Products, Kent Automotive, Cronatron, and Drummond, among others.
 

Customers
 

Our customers include a wide range of purchasers of industrial supply products from small repair shops to large national and governmental
accounts. Our customers operate in a wide variety of industries including
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automotive repair, transportation, governmental including the military, manufacturing, construction, mining, wholesale, service and others.
 

During 2008, our Lawson Products business unit sold products to approximately 140,000 customers and our Rutland business unit sold
products to approximately 30,000 customers. No customer accounted for more than two percent of net sales. In 2008, 94% of our net sales came
from customers in the United States and 6% came from customers in Canada.
 

OEM Segment
 

Two of our subsidiaries, Assembly Component Systems (“ACS”) and Automatic Screw Machine Parts Company (“ASMP”) compete in
the OEM marketplace. The OEM marketplace generally consists of large manufacturing companies with multiple supply chain needs. ACS and
ASMP accounted for 13% and 4% of the Company’s net sales for the year ended December 31, 2008.
 

ACS specializes in providing OEM manufacturers with just-in-time delivery of fasteners, components and fittings to maximize the
efficiency of the customers’ supply chain. ACS seeks long-term agreements with companies to identify product needs and parameters of use,
offer engineering expertise, provide product sourcing and manage inventory replenishment. Sales support and dedicated warehousing is
provided, enabling partnered companies to focus on manufacturing operations while affording them a reduction in financial obligations
associated with inventory housing and usage. ACS operates a distribution network that includes Des Plaines, Illinois; Lenexa, Kansas;
Cincinnati, Ohio; and Memphis, Tennessee. Inventory supply rooms staffed by dedicated ACS sales personnel located close to, or within a
company’s operating space, are used to facilitate the selection and transfer of goods that are called for during a production schedule. Additional
sales support is available through sales calls, special needs requests, and pre-determined replenishment schedules.
 

ASMP manufactures and distributes components, fasteners and fittings for use by OEM manufacturers. Based in Decatur, Alabama, ASMP
manufactures components specific to the customer’s production needs including various nondependent or interdependent components. ASMP
seeks to obtain long-term commitments to enable proper support of the customers’ supply chain. ASMP manufactures products developed for
high strength critical applications and also sources externally produced items if applications call for such goods.
 

Employees and Sales Agents
 

As of December 31, 2008, we employed approximately 1,350 full time workers, consisting of approximately 340 sales and marketing
employees, 760 operations and distribution employees and 250 management and administrative staff. Approximately 12% of our workforce is
represented by four collective bargaining agreements. We believe that our relations with our employees and their collective bargaining
organizations are good.
 

Additionally, sales in our MRO segment are made primarily through a network of approximately 1,500 independent sales agents.
Independent sales agents are compensated on a commission only basis and are responsible for repayment of commissions on any uncollectible
accounts.
 

Available Information
 

We file or furnish annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and file or furnish
amendments to those reports pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and Section 16 reports with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The public can obtain copies of these materials by visiting the Commission’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE,
Washington DC 20549, by accessing the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov. In addition, as soon as reasonably practicable after such materials
are filed with or furnished to the Commission, we make copies available to the public free of charge on or through our website at
www.lawsonproducts.com. Information on our website is not incorporated by reference into this report.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant
 

The executive officers of Lawson as of December 31, 2008 were as follows.
 
           

    Year First   
    Elected to   
    Present   
Name  Age  Office  Position
 

Thomas J. Neri   57   2007  Chief Executive Officer and Director
F. Terrence Blanchard   55   2008  Chief Financial Officer
Neil E. Jenkins   59   2004  Executive Vice President; Secretary and General Counsel
Harry Dochelli   49   2008  Executive Vice President Sales and Marketing
William Holmes   49   2006  Vice President and Treasurer
Stewart Howley   47   2008  Senior Vice President Strategic Business Development
Michelle Russell   47   2007  Senior Vice President Operations and Supply Chain Management
Mary Ellen Schopp   46   2007  Senior Vice President, Human Resources
 

Biographical information for the past five years relating to each of our executive officers is set forth below.
 

Mr. Neri was elected Chief Executive Officer in April 2007. Mr. Neri was elected to the Board of Directors in December 2007. Mr. Neri
was elected President and Chief Operating Officer in January 2007. Mr. Neri was elected Executive Vice President, Finance, Planning and
Corporate Development; Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer in 2004. Mr. Neri joined the Company in October 2003 as Executive Vice
President, Finance and Corporate Planning.
 

Mr. Blanchard was elected Chief Financial Officer effective June 30, 2008. Mr. Blanchard has been a partner in the executive services firm
Tatum, LLC (“Tatum”) since 2006, where he has served as Interim Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer for Dura
Automotive Systems, Inc., as Senior Financial Officer for Hyperfeed Technologies, Inc. and in a financial consultation role for Zimmer
Holdings, Inc. Mr. Blanchard served from 1999 to 2006 in various management positions with Florsheim Group Inc., including as President and
Chief Financial Officer, Vice President, Finance and Vice President and Controller. Florsheim Group Inc. filed a petition for relief under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code on March 4, 2002.
 

Mr. Jenkins was elected Executive Vice President; Secretary and General Counsel in 2004. From 2000 to 2003 Mr. Jenkins served as
Secretary and Corporate Counsel of the Company.
 

Mr. Dochelli was elected Executive Vice President Sales and Marketing effective April 2008. Previously, Mr. Dochelli served as Executive
Vice President, North America Contract Sales for OfficeMax from 2007 until 2008, Executive Vice President of U.S. Operations for
OfficeMax/Boise Cascade Office Solutions from 2005 to 2007 and in various other management positions with OfficeMax/Boise Cascade Office
Solutions from 1987 to 2005.
 

Mr. Holmes was elected Vice President and Treasurer effective January 2006. From 2001 through 2005 Mr. Holmes was Vice President
and Assistant Treasurer of the Company.
 

Mr. Howley was elected Senior Vice President Strategic Business Development effective April 2008. Mr. Howley served as Chief
Marketing Officer from December 2005 until May 2008. From August 2002 through December 2005, he was Director of Strategic Business
Development with Home Depot Supply.
 

Ms. Russell was elected Senior Vice President Operations and Supply Chain Management in August 2007. Ms. Russell served as Chief
Ethics and Compliance Officer from April 2006 until August 2007 and in a consulting capacity from November 2005 through March 2006. Prior
to this Ms. Russell held the role of Vice President of Operations at Associated Materials from 2001 until 2005.
 

Ms. Schopp was elected Senior Vice President, Human Resources in 2007. Prior to this Ms. Schopp held the role of Vice President, Human
Resources at ConAgra Foods, Inc. from 2003 until 2006.
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ITEM 1A.  RISK FACTORS.
 

In addition to the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008, the following
factors should be considered in evaluating Lawson’s business. Our operating results depend upon many factors and are subject to various risks
and uncertainties. The material risks and uncertainties known to us which may cause the operating results to vary from anticipated results or
which may negatively affect our operating results are as follows:
 

Our results of operations may continue to be adversely impacted by the current worldwide economic recession. As a result, demand for
our products may significantly decline or the market price of our common stock may decline.

 

In late 2007, the U.S. and world economies entered into a severe economic recession due to the effects of the subprime lending crisis,
general credit market crisis, collateral effects on the finance and banking industries, volatile energy and commodity costs, concerns about
inflation, slower economic activity, decreased consumer confidence, reduced corporate profits and capital spending, adverse business conditions
and liquidity concerns. These conditions make it difficult for our customers and us to accurately forecast and plan future business activities, and
have caused U.S. and foreign businesses to slow spending on products throughout our industry, which adversely impacts our revenues and our
ability to manage inventory levels, collect customer receivables and ultimately our profitability. We cannot predict the duration of the recession
or the timing or strength of a subsequent economic recovery. Additionally, our stock price could decrease if investors have concerns that our
business, financial condition, results of operations and capital requirements will be negatively impacted by a continued worldwide recession. A
decrease in our stock price reduces the market value of the Company compared to the book value of our net assets, which may lead to further
impairment of our assets.
 

Our Deferred Prosecution Agreement with the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Northern District of Illinois, and any potential breach of
such agreement, may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and stock price.

 

We entered into a Deferred Prosecution Agreement (the “DPA”) in August 2008 with the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Northern District
of Illinois (the “U.S. Attorney’s Office), which provides for the payment of $30.0 million in penalties to resolve our liability for the actions of
our representatives in improperly providing gifts or awards to purchasing agents through our then-existing customer loyalty programs. The
signing of the DPA may negatively affect our ability to do business with certain customers (both government and non-government customers). In
addition, under the terms of the DPA, if it is determined that we deliberately gave false, incomplete or misleading information under the DPA or
have committed any federal crimes subsequent to the DPA, or otherwise knowingly, intentionally, and materially violated any provision of the
DPA, we may be subject to prosecution for any federal criminal violation of which the U.S. Attorney’s Office has knowledge. We cannot predict
the impact, if any, of the signing of the DPA on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and stock price.
 

A significant portion of our inventory may become obsolete.
 

Our business strategy requires us to carry a significant amount of inventory in order to meet rapid processing of customer orders. If our
inventory forecasting and production planning processes result in inventory levels exceeding the levels demanded by customers, our operating
results could be adversely affected due to costs of carrying the inventory and additional inventory write-downs for excess and obsolete inventory.
 

Work stoppages and other disruptions at transportation centers or shipping ports may adversely affect our ability to obtain inventory and
make deliveries to Lawson’s customers.

 

Our ability to rapidly process customer orders is an integral component of our overall business strategy. Disruptions at transportation
centers or shipping ports, due to events such as severe weather or labor interruptions or other events, affect both our ability to maintain core
products in inventory and deliver products to our customers on a
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timely basis, which may in turn adversely affect our results of operations. In addition, severe weather conditions could adversely affect demand
for our products in particularly hard hit regions.
 

Changes in our customers and product mix could cause our gross margin percentage to decline in the future.
 

From time to time, we have experienced changes in product mix and inventory costs. When our product mix changes, there can be no
assurance that we will be able to maintain our historical gross profit margins. Changes in our customers, product mix, or the volume of orders
could cause our gross profit margin percentage to decline.
 

Increases in energy costs and the cost of raw materials used in our products could impact our cost of goods and distribution and
occupancy expenses, which may result in lower operating margins.

 

Increases in the cost of raw materials used in our products (e.g., steel) and energy costs raise the production costs of our vendors. Those
vendors typically look to pass the higher costs along to us through price increases. If we are unable to fully pass these increased prices and costs
through to our customers or to modify our activities, the impact would have an adverse effect on our operating profit margins.
 

Disruptions of our information systems could adversely affect the Company.
 

We depend on our information systems to process orders, to manage inventory and accounts receivable collections, to purchase, sell and
ship products, to maintain cost-effective operations, and to service customers. Disruptions in the operation of information systems can occur due
to a variety of factors including power outages, computer bugs and human error. Any disruption in the operation of our information systems
whether over a short or an extended period of time or affecting one or multiple distribution centers could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
 

A limited number of the Company’s stockholders can exert significant influence over the Company.
 

As of January 31, 2009, members of the Port family collectively beneficially owned 55.3% of the outstanding shares of common stock.
This share ownership would permit these stockholders, if they chose to act together, to exert significant influence over the outcome of
stockholder votes, including votes concerning the election of directors, by-law amendments, possible mergers, corporate control contests and
other significant corporate transactions. The interests of the Port family may differ from those of other stockholders.
 

The Company operates in highly competitive markets.
 

Our marketplace, although consolidating, still includes large, fragmented industries that are highly competitive. We believe that customers
and competitors may continue to consolidate over the next few years, which may make the industry even more competitive. Our current or future
competitors include companies with similar or greater market presence, name recognition, and financial, marketing, and other resources, and we
believe they will continue to challenge the marketplace with their product selection, financial resources, and services.
 

Future acquisitions are subject to integration and other risks.
 

We anticipate that we may, from time to time, selectively acquire additional businesses or assets. Acquisitions are accompanied by risks,
such as potential exposure to unknown liabilities of acquired companies and the possible loss of key employees and customers of the acquired
business. In addition, we may not obtain the expected benefits or cost savings from acquisitions. Acquisitions are subject to risks associated with
financing the acquisition and integrating the operations and personnel of the acquired businesses or assets. If any of these risks materialize, they
may result in disruptions to our business and the diversion of management time and attention, which could increase the costs of operating our
existing or acquired businesses or negate the expected benefits of the acquisitions.
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An economic or other situation that affects government and tax-supported entities could negatively impact our sales and earnings.
 

We sell to numerous government and tax supported entities. Any situation that impacts these funded entities or our ability to sell to these
entities could have a material adverse effect on the Company.
 

ITEM 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
 

None.
 

ITEM 2.  PROPERTIES.
 

Our headquarters is located in Des Plaines, Illinois and we conduct our business from owned or leased facilities at the following locations.
 
                 

           Square  
Location  Segment   Function   Own/Lease   Footage  
 

Addison, Illinois   MRO    Distribution    Own    85,800 
Des Plaines, Illinois   MRO    Administration/Distribution    Own    175,000 
Des Plaines, Illinois   MRO    Administration    Own    45,000 
Des Plaines, Illinois   MRO/OEM    Distribution    Lease    135,000 
Dallas, Texas   MRO    Distribution    Own    44,264 
Fairfield, New Jersey   MRO    Distribution    Own    30,444 
Independence, Ohio   MRO    Call Center    Lease    23,096 
Mississauga, Ontario Canada   MRO    Distribution    Own    78,000 
Vernon Hills, Illinois   MRO    Distribution    Own    107,061 
Reno, Nevada   MRO    Distribution    Own    244,280 
Suwanee, Georgia   MRO    Distribution    Own    91,235 
Whittier, California   MRO    Administration    Lease    22,023 
Houston, Texas   MRO    Dist./Warehouse/Showroom    Lease    28,000 
San Jose, California   MRO    Warehouse/Showroom    Lease    6,425 
Santa Ana, California   MRO    Warehouse/Showroom    Lease    5,570 
Phoenix, Arizona   MRO    Warehouse/Showroom    Lease    3,750 
Chatsworth, California   MRO    Warehouse/Showroom    Lease    11,300 
City of Industry, California   MRO    Warehouse/Showroom    Lease    20,100 
Decatur, Alabama   OEM    Manufacturing    Own    65,000 
Centralia, Missouri   OEM    Warehouse    Lease    26,800 
Cincinnati, Ohio   OEM    Warehouse    Lease    12,583 
Dunlap, Tennessee   OEM    Warehouse    Lease    16,569 
Ettrick, Wisconsin   OEM    Warehouse    Lease    9,000 
Hopkinsville, Kentucky   OEM    Warehouse    Lease    3,820 
Johnson City, Tennessee   OEM    Warehouse    Lease    2,000 
Lenexa, Kansas   OEM    Administration/Warehouse    Lease    48,000 
Memphis, Tennessee   OEM    Warehouse    Lease    26,250 
Michigan City, Indiana   OEM    Warehouse    Lease    10,000 
Reynosa, Mexico   OEM    Warehouse    Lease    13,778 
Waite Park, Minnesota   OEM    Warehouse    Lease    2,400 
Stuttgart, Arkansas   OEM    Warehouse    Lease    16,000 
Willowbrook, Illinois   OEM    Administration    Lease    2,613 
Nuevo Laredo, Mexico   OEM    Warehouse    Lease    24,220 
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The location and operation of our facilities is frequently reviewed to determine whether they meet the strategic needs of our business. We
believe that our current facilities are adequate to meet our needs.
 

ITEM 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.
 

There is no material pending litigation to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, is a party or to which any of their property is
subject.
 

In December 2005, the FBI executed a search warrant for records at the Company’s offices and informed the Company that it was
conducting an investigation as to whether any of the Company’s representatives improperly provided gifts or awards to purchasing agents
(including government purchasing agents) through the Company’s customer loyalty programs (the “investigation”). The U.S. Attorney’s Office
for the Northern District of Illinois (the “U.S. Attorney’s Office”) subsequently issued a subpoena for documents in connection with the
investigation.
 

In April 2007, thirteen people, including seven former sales agents of the Company, were indicted on federal criminal charges, including
mail fraud, in connection with the investigation. These indictments alleged that, under the Company’s customer loyalty programs, sales agents
would provide cash gift certificates to individuals purchasing Company merchandise on behalf of their employers as a way to increase their
commissions and prices paid by customers. All of the cases involved commissioned sales agents of the Company. All seven of the indicted
former sales agents have entered guilty pleas to federal criminal charges.
 

On August 11, 2008, in connection with the investigation, the Company entered into a Deferred Prosecution Agreement (the “DPA”) with
the U.S. Attorney’s Office. An additional three people, including a former sales manager and a former sales agent were indicted on August 11,
2008 and have since pled guilty. Under the terms of the DPA, the U.S. Attorney’s Office filed a one count criminal Information charging the
Company with mail fraud in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, but agreed to defer prosecution of such charge for three
years. If the Company abides by the terms and conditions of the DPA, the U.S. Attorney’s Office will seek dismissal with prejudice of the
Information within 30 days of the expiration of the three-year period.
 

Pursuant to the DPA, the Company agreed to a $30.0 million penalty, which includes $0.8 million of restitution, and recorded a charge of
$30.0 million in the second quarter of 2008. The penalty is payable in three equal installments. The first $10.0 million payment was made in
August 2008. The remaining $10.0 million payments are due in August 2009 and in August 2010. If a controlling interest in the Company is
sold, any unpaid amounts shall due at the closing of the sale.
 

Under the DPA, the Company agreed to make restitution payments to certain customers that employed individuals who received over ten
thousand dollars in payments through the Winners Choice incentive program, that employed individuals who have been or later are convicted of
mail fraud as a result of Winners Choice payments, or that purchased Company merchandise from sales agents who have been or later are
convicted of mail fraud for providing checks to the customer’s employees. Restitution payments were made to these customers from the
Company’s first installment payment.
 

In conjunction with the Company’s internal investigation, several customer loyalty programs were terminated because the Company
believes that these programs provided or had the potential of providing promotional considerations, such as gifts and awards, to purchasing
agents that the Company deemed inappropriate. The Company has modified another customer loyalty program to limit the amount and nature of
customer gifts distributed under the program. In addition, twenty-three independent agents have been terminated, a number have resigned and
the Company has terminated four employees. The Company has also implemented a compliance and ethics program to prevent future abuses.
Under the terms of the DPA, the Company agreed to continue to implement its compliance and ethics program.
 

ITEM 4.  SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.
 

No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year covered by this Report.
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PART II
 

ITEM 5.  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

 

The Company’s Common Stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol of “LAWS.” The following table sets
forth the high and low closing sale prices as reported on the NASDAQ Global Select Market along with cash dividends declared for each
outstanding share during the last two years for the periods presented.
 
                         

  2008   2007  
        Cash Dividends         Cash Dividends  
  High   Low   Paid Per Share   High   Low   Paid Per Share  

 

First Quarter  $38.00  $23.21  $ 0.20  $47.00  $34.54  $ 0.20 
Second Quarter   29.39   23.77   0.20   39.70   34.99   0.20 
Third Quarter   38.49   23.90   0.20   39.05   34.81   0.20 
Fourth Quarter   32.10   11.81   0.20   38.73   29.96   0.20 
 

On March 5, 2009 the closing sales price of our common stock was $14.33 and the number of stockholders of record was 609.
 

Stock Price Performance Chart
 

Set forth below is a line graph comparing the yearly change in the cumulative total stockholder return on the Company’s common stock
against the cumulative total return of the S&P SmallCap 600 Index and a peer group (the “Peer Group”) of the Company for the five prior years.
The Peer Group consists of Barnes Group Inc., Fastenal Company and MSC Industrial Direct. The Company believes that the Peer Group is
representative of the markets it services in terms of product sales and customers. The chart below represents the cumulative return of a
hypothetical $100 invested on December 31, 2003 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
 

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return
Among Lawson Products, the S&P SmallCap 600 Index and a Peer Group

 

 
                               

   Indexed Returns Years Ending December 31,
Company Name/Index   Base Period 2003   2004   2005   2006   2007   2008

Lawson Products    100.00    154.52    118.57    146.33    123.43    76.41 
                               

S&P Smallcap 600    100.00    122.65    132.07    152.04    151.59    104.48 
                               

Peer Group    100.00    120.52    151.68    148.38    174.46    140.98 
                               

11



Table of Contents

ITEM 6.  SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.
 

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and Notes
thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The income statement data and balance sheet data are for, and as of the end of each of, the
years in the five-year period ended December 31, 2008, and are derived from the audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company.
 
                     

  2008  2007  2006  2005  2004
    (Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

 

Net Sales(1)  $485,207  $512,543  $514,273  $443,823  $402,142 
                     

(Loss) income from continuing operations before
cumulative effect of accounting change(2)(3)(4)  $ (27,060)  $ 11,332  $ 13,702  $ 21,944  $ 21,570 

(Loss) income from discontinued operations(5)   (571)   (703)   (729)   4,794   (145)
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of accounting

change   (27,631)   10,629   12,973   26,738   21,425 
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax   —   —   (361)   —   — 
                     

Net (loss) income  $ (27,631)  $ 10,629  $ 12,612  $ 26,738  $ 21,425 
                     

Basic (loss) income per share of common stock:                     
Continuing operations before cumulative effect of

accounting change  $ (3.18)  $ 1.33  $ 1.54  $ 2.42  $ 2.29 
Discontinued operations   (0.06)   (0.08)   (0.08)   0.53   (0.02)
Cumulative effect of accounting change   —   —   (0.04)   —   — 

                     

Net (loss) income  $ (3.24)  $ 1.25  $ 1.42  $ 2.94  $ 2.28 
                     

Diluted (loss) income per share of common stock:                     
Continuing operations before cumulative effect of

accounting change  $ (3.18)  $ 1.33  $ 1.54  $ 2.41  $ 2.29 
Discontinued operations   (0.06)   (0.08)   (0.08)   0.53   (0.02)
Cumulative effect of accounting change   —   —   (0.04)   —   — 

                     

Net (loss) income  $ (3.24)  $ 1.25  $ 1.42  $ 2.94  $ 2.27 
                     

Cash dividends declared per share  $ 0.80  $ 0.80  $ 0.80  $ 0.80  $ 0.72 
                     

Total assets  $270,996  $299,863  $281,292  $279,224  $260,550 
                     

Noncurrent liabilities  $ 64,660  $ 52,660  $ 48,320  $ 41,256  $ 37,271 
                     

Stockholders’ equity  $138,744  $174,361  $170,317  $185,425  $180,332 
                     

 

Notes
 

 

(1) Results include Rutland since the date of acquisition in December 2005, accounting for net sales of $46.5 million, $54.8 million,
$57.7 million and $4.3 million in 2008, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

 

(2) Severance and other charges, of $9.3 million, $12.3 million and $1.2 million were recorded in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
 

(3) Settlement and related charges of $31.7 million, $5.8 million and $3.2 million related to the investigation disclosed in Item 3 “Legal
Proceedings” were recorded in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

 

(4) The 2008 results include a $2.3 million charge for goodwill impairment.
 

(5) The 2005 results include a $7.5 million after tax loss related to discontinuation of the UK business and an after tax gain of $12.2 million
related to the gain on the sale of the Company’s investment in real estate.
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ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
 

OVERVIEW
 

The two principal factors affecting our 2008 results were the one-time $30.0 million DPA settlement penalty and the global economic
recession and contraction in the credit markets that led to decreased customer demand throughout our industry. The duration of the recession is
uncertain and industry demand is expected to continue to decline and create downward pressure on sales volume in 2009. Despite the negative
effects of the economy, we were able to take steps to improve our financial condition during 2008. Operationally, we made progress in
integrating previously separate businesses to allow our customers access to an expanded range of products from a single point of contact. We
were able to generate cash by reducing our working capital requirements primarily through initiatives taken to improve inventory management.
Additionally, the settlement with the United States Attorney’s Office for the Northern District of Illinois substantially brings to a close the
uncertainty created by the investigation initiated in 2005.
 

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
 
                         

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008   2007   2006  
  Amount   % of Net Sales   Amount   % of Net Sales   Amount   % of Net Sales  
  (Dollars in thousands)  

 

Net sales                         
MRO  $ 403,584   83.2%  $ 429,508   83.8% $ 430,815   83.8%
OEM   81,623   16.8   83,035   16.2   83,458   16.2 

                         

Consolidated total  $ 485,207   100.0%  $ 512,543   100.0% $ 514,273   100.0%
                         

Gross profit                         
MRO  $ 266,371   54.9%  $ 284,598   55.5% $ 286,519   55.7%
OEM   12,627   2.6   19,231   3.8   20,207   3.9 

                         

Consolidated total   278,998   57.5   303,829   59.3   306,726   59.6 
Operating expenses:                         

Selling, general and administrative
expenses   255,999   52.8   265,267   51.8   278,537   54.2 

Settlement related costs   31,666   6.5   5,793   1.1   3,224   0.6 
Severance and other charges   9,313   1.9   12,328   2.4   1,196   0.2 
Impairment of goodwill   2,251   0.5   —   —   —   — 
Loss on sale of equipment   —   —   —   —   806   0.1 

                         

Operating (loss) income   (20,231)   (4.2)   20,441   4.0   22,963   4.5 
Other, net   (469)   (0.1)   (369)   (0.1)   2,157   0.4 

                         

(Loss) income from continuing operations
before income tax expense   (20,700)   (4.3)   20,072   3.9   25,120   4.9 
Income tax expense   6,360   1.3   8,740   1.7   11,418   2.2 

                         

(Loss) income from continuing operations  $ (27,060)   (5.6)% $ 11,332   2.2% $ 13,702   2.7%
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR 2008 AS COMPARED TO 2007
 

Sales and Gross Profit
 

Sales and gross profit results for the years ending December 31, 2008 and 2007 were as follows:
 
                 

  Year Ended December 31,   Change  
  2008   2007   Amount   %  
  (Dollars in thousands)  

 

Net sales                 
MRO  $ 403,584  $ 429,508  $ (25,924)   (6.0)%
OEM   81,623   83,035   (1,412)   (1.7)

                 

Consolidated  $ 485,207  $ 512,543  $ (27,336)   (5.3)
                 

Gross profit                 
MRO  $ 266,371  $ 284,598  $ (18,227)   (6.4)%
OEM   12,627   19,231   (6,604)   (34.3)

                 

Consolidated  $ 278,998  $ 303,829  $ (24,831)   (8.2)
                 

Gross profit margin                 
MRO   66.0%  66.3%        
OEM   15.5   23.2         

Consolidated   57.5   59.3         
 

The 5.3% decrease in net sales to $485.2 million in 2008 compared to $512.5 million in 2007 resulted from decreases in both the MRO
and OEM segments as our businesses were negatively impacted by the slowdown in the global economy. Net sales of our MRO business
experienced a severe decline of 14.3% in the fourth quarter of 2008 compared to 2007 as our customers, affected by overall weakness in the
economy and a much more restrictive credit environment, reduced their purchasing requirements. We expect the demand level to continue to
deteriorate until the credit markets recover and the global economic environment improves. Sales were also negatively impacted by a net
reduction of over 100 sales agents in 2008 compared to 2007. Net sales of our OEM segment decreased $1.4 million due to customer losses and
the economic slowdown in the fourth quarter, partially offset by increased sales generated from some of our current customers.
 

Gross profit decreased $24.8 million to $279.0 million in 2008 primarily due to the reduction in net sales and a decline of 1.8 percentage
points as a percent of sales. The decline was primarily attributable to higher product and commodity costs.
 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
 

Selling, general and administrative costs declined by 3.5% to $256.0 million in 2008 compared to $265.3 million in 2007 primarily due to
decreases in sales commissions and compensation expenses. Selling, general and administrative costs as a percent of sales increased
1.0 percentage points to 52.8% in 2008 as fixed costs were not reduced in direct proportion to the overall decrease in net sales.
 

Settlement and Related Costs
 

Settlement costs relate to the investigation by the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Northern District of Illinois as to whether our sales
representatives provided improper gifts or awards to purchasing agents (including government purchasing agents) through our customer loyalty
programs. In August 2008, in connection with the investigation, we entered into the DPA with the U.S. Attorney’s Office and agreed to pay a
$30.0 million penalty. In addition to the penalty, we incurred legal and other expenses of $1.7 million in 2008 and $5.8 million in 2007 in
connection with the investigation.
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Severance and Other Charges
 

In 2008, the Company recorded $9.3 million of severance and other charges. Of this amount, $5.4 million related to severance costs
associated with the departure of certain executives and operational efficiency improvement initiatives and $3.9 million related to unclaimed
property liabilities primarily associated with years prior to 2003. During 2007, the Company implemented several initiatives designed to
improve operating efficiencies. As a result of these initiatives, certain positions and departments were eliminated and restructured, resulting in
$12.3 million of severance costs and other charges.
 

Impairment of Goodwill
 

Annually, we assess the fair value of our goodwill for impairment. Our 2008 review resulted in a $2.3 million non-cash charge to reflect
the impairment of goodwill recorded in our OEM segment related to ACS.
 

Other Expense, Net
 

Other expense, net of $0.5 million in 2008 was relatively unchanged compared to 2007. A $0.2 million decrease in interest income was
somewhat offset by a $0.1 million decrease in interest expense.
 

Income Tax Expense
 

The effective tax rates for continuing operations for 2008 and 2007 were (30.7)% and 43.5%, respectively. The 2008 effective tax rate
reflects the effect of $29.2 million related to the penalty under the DPA which was non-deductible and a $6.1 million non-deductible expense
related to a decline in the cash value of life insurance. Excluding these items, the 2008 effective tax rate would have been 43.7%.
 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR 2007 AS COMPARED TO 2006
 

Sales and Gross Profit
 

Sales and gross profit results for the years ending December 31, 2007 and 2006 were as follows:
 
                 

  Year Ended December 31,   Change  
  2007   2006   Amount   %  
  (Dollars in thousands)  

 

Net sales                 
MRO  $ 429,508  $ 430,815  $(1,307)   (0.3)%
OEM   83,035   83,458   (423)   (0.5)

                 

Consolidated  $ 512,543  $ 514,273  $(1,730)   (0.3)
                 

Gross profit                 
MRO  $ 284,598  $ 286,519  $(1,921)   (0.7)%
OEM   19,231   20,207   (976)   (4.8)

                 

Consolidated  $ 303,829  $ 306,726  $(2,897)   (0.9)
                 

Gross profit margin                 
MRO   66.3%  66.5%        
OEM   23.2   24.2         

Consolidated   59.3   59.6         
 

The decrease in net sales to $512.5 million in 2007 compared to $514.3 million in 2006 resulted from decreases in both the MRO and
OEM segments. The sales decrease for MRO businesses was primarily driven by lower sales of metalworking products due to order fulfillment
problems encountered during the Reno, Nevada distribution facility expansion which was completed in December 2007. OEM sales decreased
primarily due to the loss of some customer contracts.
 

Gross profit decreased $2.9 million to $303.8 million in 2007 compared to $306.7 million in 2006 primarily due to lower overall sales in
2007. As a percent of sales, gross profit declined by 0.3 percentage points to 59.3% in 2007 from
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59.6% in 2006. The decline was primarily attributable to a change in sales mix and increased product and commodity costs compared to 2006.
 

MRO gross profit margins declined slightly to 66.3% in 2007 from 66.5% in 2006. The gross profit margins for the OEM segment
decreased 1.0 percentage points to 23.2% in 2007 from 24.2% in 2006, principally, due to increased product costs.
 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
 

Selling, general and administrative costs declined by 4.8% to $265.3 million in 2007 compared to $278.5 million in 2006. As a percent of
sales selling, general and administrative costs declined 2.4 percentage points to 51.8% in 2007 compared to 54.2% in 2006 primarily due to
several initiatives undertaken during 2007 designed to improve operating efficiencies. The initiatives included the elimination of certain
positions and restructuring of departments.
 

Settlement Related Costs
 

The Company incurred legal and other expenses of $5.8 million in 2007 and $3.2 million in 2006 in connection with the investigation by
the U.S. Attorney’s office for the Northern District of Illinois related to whether Company sales representatives provided improper gifts or
awards to purchasing agents (including government purchasing agents) through the Company’s customer loyalty programs.
 

Severance and Other Charges
 

The Company implemented several initiatives during 2007 designed to improve operating efficiencies. As a result of these initiatives,
certain positions and departments were eliminated and restructured, resulting in $12.3 million of severance costs and other charges. The
Company incurred $1.2 million of severance and other charges in 2006.
 

Other (Expense) Income, Net
 

The Company recorded $0.4 million of other expense, net in 2007 compared to $2.2 million of other income, net, in 2006. The
$2.6 million increase in other expense, net was primarily due to a higher average balance on our revolving line of credit which increased our
interest expense in 2007 and lower foreign currency gains realized in 2007 compared to 2006.
 

Income Tax Expense
 

The effective tax rates for continuing operations for 2007 and 2006 were 43.5% and 45.5%, respectively. The higher effective tax rate in
2006 primarily reflects adjustments related to the deductibility of the Company’s customer loyalty programs in its MRO business for tax years
2005, 2004 and 2003. Many of the customer loyalty and promotion programs in place for these years were terminated or replaced early in 2006.
 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
 

Cash provided by operating activities for 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $15.7 million, $11.6 million and $19.9 million, respectively. The
$4.1 million increase in 2008 compared to 2007 was primarily due to improved working capital utilization which was mostly offset by a
decrease in net income and the $10.0 million payment related to the DPA penalty. The $8.3 million decline in 2007 cash provided by operating
activities from 2006 was due primarily to lower net income and increases in inventories, prepaid expenses and miscellaneous receivables.
 

Working capital at December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $90.0 million and $99.1 million, respectively. The $9.1 million decrease in working
capital is primarily attributable to a $10.4 million reduction in inventory, and a $10.3 million reduction in accounts receivable, partially offset by
decreases in other liabilities. Initiatives taken to improve the inventory management process led to the lower inventory balance, while increased
attention to collections and a reduction in sales during the fourth quarter led to the decrease in the amount of outstanding accounts receivable.

16



Table of Contents

Cash used to purchase property plant and equipment was $3.5 million in 2008 compared to $17.7 million in 2007 and $5.3 million in 2006.
2007 included $12.1 million related to the Reno, Nevada facility expansion. Capital spending was reduced in 2008 in response to the economic
downturn that began in the second half of 2008.
 

Financing activities included a $3.3 million paydown of our line of credit in 2008 compared to $11.0 million borrowed from the line of
credit in 2007. The Company paid dividends of $6.8 million, $6.8 million and $7.2 million to shareholders of its common stock in 2008, 2007
and 2006, respectively.
 

In October 2006, we purchased 486,493 of our common shares in a “Dutch Auction” tender offer at a cost of $20.9 million. We did not
purchase any of our common stock in 2008 or 2007. At December 31, 2008, 202,780 shares remained available for purchase pursuant to the
2004 authorization by our Board of Directors to purchase up to 500,000 shares of our common stock.
 

In November 2008, we entered into a First Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Credit Facility”) with Bank of America, N.A.
The Credit Facility provides for a total commitment of $75 million in the form of revolving loans and letters of credit and matures on
November 7, 2011. The interest rate for the Credit Facility bears interest at either, LIBOR plus 0.625%, or the prime rate minus 1.0%, as elected
by us. The interest rate may be adjusted based on the ratio of consolidated total debt to EBITDA calculated on the basis of our most recent
annual or quarterly financial statements. We had $7.7 million outstanding as of December 31, 2008 under the Credit Facility. The weighted
average interest rate was 3.2% for the year ended December 31, 2008. The Credit Facility specifies certain financial covenants, including a fixed
charge coverage and total debt to equity and minimum net worth calculations which must be met as of the end of each fiscal quarter. At
December 31, 2008 we were in compliance with all covenants.
 

In March 2009 we amended the Credit Facility (the “Amended Credit Facility”), reducing the amount of the facility, adjusting the
covenants and providing additional security to Bank of America, N.A. The Amended Credit Facility provides for a total commitment of
$55 million. The maturity date remains November 7, 2011. The interest rate is LIBOR plus a margin of 2.0% to 3.5%, based on the ratio of total
debt to EBITDA. The Amended Credit Facility contains covenants for adjusted EBITDA, as defined in the agreement, for each quarter through
September 30, 2009. Commencing with the quarter ending December 31, 2009, additional covenants will be in place, including fixed charge
coverage, total debt to equity and minimum net worth, as defined in the credit agreement. The Amended Credit Facility places a restriction on
quarterly dividends of $0.26 million, or $1.04 million on an annual basis. The Amended Credit Facility is secured by substantially all of the
assets of the Company, excluding real property and the capital stock of the Company’s subsidiaries, except for the stock of Lawson Canada. The
Company paid an amendment fee of $0.1 million.
 

We believe that cash provided by operations and the $55 million revolving line of credit will be sufficient to fund our operating
requirements, cash dividends and capital improvements for the upcoming fiscal year.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
 

Contractual obligations that will require payment over future periods are as follows:
 
                     

     Payments Due In Years Ended December 31,  
  Total   2009   2010 - 2011   2012 - 2013   Thereafter  
  (Amounts in thousands)  

 

Operating leases  $ 6,446  $ 2,396  $ 3,341  $ 709  $ — 
Capital leases   2,904   1,133   1,634   137   — 
Revolving line of credit   7,700   —   7,700   —   — 
Deferred compensation   11,301   1,922   3,475   1,789   4,115 
Security bonus plan*   26,218   906   —   —   25,312 
Severance obligation   6,111   4,889   1,222   —   — 
Long term incentive plan   6,071   3,090   2,981   —   — 
Purchase commitments   4,485   4,485   —   —   — 
Deferred Prosecution Agreement   20,000   10,000   10,000   —   — 
                     

Total contractual cash obligations  $ 91,236  $ 28,821  $ 30,353  $ 2,635  $ 29,427 
                     

 

 

* Payments to beneficiaries of the security bonus plan are made on a lump sum basis at time of retirement. Payouts for known retirement dates
have been included in 2009, while payouts for unknown retirement dates are reflected in the thereafter column.

 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
 

We have not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.
 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 

The Company has disclosed its significant accounting policies in Note B to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The following provides
supplemental information to these accounting policies as well as information on the accounts requiring more significant estimates.
 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Methodology — We evaluate the collectibility of accounts receivable based on a combination of factors.
In circumstances where we are aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations (e.g., bankruptcy filings, substantial
down-grading of credit ratings), a specific reserve for bad debts is recorded against amounts due to reduce the receivable to the amount we
believe will be collected. For all other customers, we recognize reserves for bad debts based on our historical experience of bad debt write-offs
as a percent of accounts receivable outstanding. If circumstances change (i.e., higher than expected defaults or an unexpected material adverse
change in a major customer’s ability to meet its financial obligations), the estimates of the recoverability of amounts due to us could be revised
by a material amount. In 2008, we recorded an allowance reserve equal to 3% of our trade receivables outstanding. A hypothetical change of one
percent to our reserve allowance would have affected our annual doubtful accounts expense by approximately $0.5 million.
 

Inventory Reserves — We carry a significant amount of inventory as part of our strategy to fulfill the vast majority of our customers’
orders the same day received. However, this strategy increases the chance that portions of the inventory have lost value through obsolescence or
becoming slow-moving or excess. To reduce inventory to a lower of cost or market value, we record a reserve for slow-moving and obsolete
inventory. Obsolete and slow-moving inventory is monitored by examining reports of parts which have not been sold for extended periods. If
experience or market conditions change, estimates of the reserves needed could be revised by a material amount. In 2008, we have an allowance
reserve of $10.1 million equal to approximately 10% of our total inventory. A hypothetical change of one percent to our reserve allowance
would have affected our selling, general and administrative expenses by approximately $1.0 million.
 

Income Taxes — Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statements and tax basis of
assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the
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differences are expected to reverse. We record a provision for income taxes based on domestic and international statutory income tax rates and
tax planning opportunities in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Significant judgment is required in determining income tax provisions as
well as deferred tax asset and liability balances, including the estimation of valuation allowances and the evaluation of tax positions.
 

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
 

Through one of our subsidiaries, we distribute products in Canada. The functional currency of this subsidiary is the Canadian dollar which
is translated into U.S. dollars when included in our consolidated financial statements. Therefore, we are exposed to market risk relating to the
change in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar. A hypothetical 10% change in the Canadian foreign currency exchange rate
would have affected our 2008 net sales by $3.2 million and total assets by $2.0 million.
 

We are exposed to investment market risk relating to changes in the value of the $18.0 million cash value of life insurance asset. This
exposure is mostly offset by the $10.8 million value of the deferred compensation liability. A hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in the
investment portfolios of both the cash value of life insurance asset and the deferred compensation liability would have affected our net income
by $0.7 million.
 

At December 31, 2008, we had a $7.7 million outstanding balance on our revolving line of credit. The market risk of a one percentage
point change in the LIBOR or Prime interest rates would be immaterial to our operating results.
 

We are exposed to market risk relating to increased commodity and energy costs affecting the production costs of our vendors. Those
vendors typically look to pass their increased costs along to us and if we are unable to fully pass these costs through to our customers or to
modify our activities, the impact would have an adverse effect on our operating profit margins.

19



Table of Contents

ITEM 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.
 

The following information is presented in this item:
 
     

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting   21 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting   22 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Consolidated Financial Statements   23 
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007   24 
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006   25 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006   26 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006   27 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements   28 
Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts   43 
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such
term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. All internal control systems have inherent
limitations, regardless of how well-designed they are. Therefore, an effective internal control over financial reporting system provides only
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance with respect to the preparation and/or presentation of the financial statements.
 

The Company’s management conducted an evaluation, with the participation of the Company’s chief executive officer and chief financial
officer, of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008 based on the framework in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”).
 

Based on the evaluation described above and using the COSO criteria, the Company’s management concluded that our internal control
over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2008.
 

Ernst & Young LLP, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and, as part of its audit, has issued an attestation report, which is included herein, on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

 

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Lawson Products, Inc.
 

We have audited Lawson Products, Inc.’s (the “Company”) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008 based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (the “COSO” criteria). Lawson Products, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit.
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that the transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. In our opinion, Lawson Products, Inc. maintained in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on the COSO criteria.
 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Lawson Products, Inc. as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of operations,
changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2008 and our report dated
March 11, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
 

Chicago, Illinois
March 11, 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
on Consolidated Financial Statements

 

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Lawson Products, Inc.
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Lawson Products, Inc. as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2008. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and
schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and
schedule based on our audits.
 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
Lawson Products, Inc. at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related
financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material
respects the information set forth therein.
 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Lawson
Products, Inc’s. internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 11, 2009, expressed
an unqualified opinion thereon.
 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
 

Chicago, Illinois
March 11, 2009
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Lawson Products, Inc.
 

Consolidated Balance Sheets
 
         

  December 31,  
  2008   2007  
  (Dollars in thousands)  

 

ASSETS
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 4,300  $ 1,671 
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,680 and $1,376 respectively   48,634   58,882 
Inventories   86,435   96,785 
Miscellaneous receivables and prepaid expenses   11,812   10,303 
Deferred income taxes   6,127   3,226 
Discontinued current assets   296   1,064 

         

Total current assets   157,604   171,931 
Property, plant and equipment, less accumulated depreciation and amortization   47,783   53,031 
Other assets:         

Cash value of life insurance   17,970   23,702 
Deferred income taxes   18,159   21,344 
Goodwill   25,748   27,999 
Other   3,732   1,856 

         

Total assets  $ 270,996  $ 299,863 
         

 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:         
Revolving line of credit  $ —  $ 11,000 
Accounts payable   16,334   16,266 
Settlement payable — current   10,000   — 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   41,205   45,254 
Discontinued current liabilities   53   322 

         

Total current liabilities   67,592   72,842 
         

Noncurrent liabilities and deferred credits         
Revolving line of credit   7,700   — 
Security bonus plan   26,218   25,491 
Deferred compensation   11,301   19,119 
Settlement payable — noncurrent   10,000   — 
Other   9,441   8,050 

         

   64,660   52,660 
         

Commitments and contingencies — Note L         
Stockholders’ equity:         

Preferred stock, $1 par value:         
Authorized — 500,000 shares, Issued and outstanding — None   —   — 
Common stock, $1 par value:         
Authorized — 35,000,000 shares, Issued and outstanding — 8,522,001 shares   8,522   8,522 

Capital in excess of par value   4,774   4,774 
Retained earnings   126,158   160,606 
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income   (710)   459 
         

Stockholders’ equity:   138,744   174,361 
         

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 270,966  $ 299,863 
         

 

See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Lawson Products, Inc.
 

Consolidated Statements of Operations
 
             

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008   2007   2006  
  (Dollars in thousands, except per share data)  

 

Net sales  $ 485,207  $ 512,543  $ 514,273 
Cost of goods sold   206,209   208,714   207,547 
             

Gross profit   278,998   303,829   306,726 
Operating expenses:             

Selling, general and administrative expenses   255,999   265,267   278,537 
Settlement and related costs   31,666   5,793   3,224 
Severance and other charges   9,313   12,328   1,196 
Impairment of goodwill   2,251   —   — 
Loss on sale of equipment   —   —   806 

             

Operating (loss) income   (20,231)   20,441   22,963 
Interest and dividend income   47   255   513 
Interest expense   (789)   (910)   (150)
Other income, net   273   286   1,794 
             

(Loss) income from continuing operations before income taxes and cumulative effect of
accounting change   (20,700)   20,072   25,120 

Income tax expense   6,360   8,740   11,418 
             

(Loss) income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change   (27,060)   11,332   13,702 
Discontinued operations, net   (571)   (703)   (729)
             

(Loss) income before cumulative effect of accounting change   (27,631)   10,629   12,973 
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax   —   —   (361)
             

Net (loss) income  $ (27,631)  $ 10,629  $ 12,612 
             

Basic (loss) income per share of common stock:             
Continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change  $ (3.18)  $ 1.33  $ 1.54 
Discontinued operations   (0.06)   (0.08)   (0.08)
Cumulative effect of accounting change   —   —   (0.04)

             

Net (loss) income  $ (3.24)  $ 1.25  $ 1.42 
             

Diluted (loss) income per share of common stock:             
Continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change  $ (3.18)  $ 1.33  $ 1.54 
Discontinued operations   (0.06)   (0.08)   (0.08)
Cumulative effect of accounting change   —   —   (0.04)

             

Net (loss) income  $ (3.24)  $ 1.25  $ 1.42 
             

 

See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Lawson Products, Inc.
 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
 
                     

           Accumulated     
  Common   Capital in      Other     
  Stock,   Excess of   Retained   Comprehensive   Comprehensive  
  $1 Par Value   Par Value   Earnings   (Loss) Income   Income (Loss)  
  (Dollars in thousands)  

 

Balance at January 1, 2006  $ 8,972  $ 4,137  $ 172,668  $ (352)     
Net income   —   —   12,612   —  $ 12,612 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:                     

Adjustment for foreign currency translation   —   —   —   (609)   (609)
                     

Comprehensive income for the year                  $ 12,003 
                     

Cash dividends declared   —   —   (7,098)   —     
Stock issued under employee stock plans   35   870   —   —     
Purchase and retirement of common stock   (486)   (258)   (20,174)   —     
                     

Balance at December 31, 2006   8,521   4,749   158,008   (961)     
Net income   —   —   10,629   —  $ 10,629 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:                     

Cumulative translation adjustment related to closure of
Mexico operations   —   —   —   403   403 

Adjustment for foreign currency translation   —   —   —   1,017   1,017 
                     

Comprehensive income for the year                  $ 12,049 
                     

Adjustment for FIN 48 adoption   —   —   (1,213)   —     
Cash dividends declared   —   —   (6,818)   —     
Stock issued under employee stock plans   1   25   —   —     
                     

Balance at December 31, 2007   8,522   4,774   160,606   459     
Net loss   —   —   (27,631)   —  $ (27,631)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:                     

Adjustment for foreign currency translation   —   —   —   (1,169)   (1,169)
                     

Comprehensive loss for the year   —   —   —   —  $ (28,800)
                     

Cash dividends declared   —   —   (6,817)   —     
                     

Balance at December 31, 2008  $ 8,522  $ 4,774  $ 126,158  $ (710)     
                     

 

See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Lawson Products, Inc.
 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
 
             

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008   2007   2006  
  (Dollars in thousands)  

 

Operating activities             
Net (loss) income  $(27,631)  $ 10,629  $ 12,612 
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:             

Depreciation and amortization   8,282   7,435   7,544 
Provision for allowance for doubtful accounts   1,481   954   594 
Deferred income taxes   912   (1,456)   (4,309)
Deferred compensation and security bonus plans   (526)   5,000   6,593 
Payments under deferred compensation and security bonus plans   (6,255)   (4,922)   (3,285)
Stock based compensation   (843)   (427)   2,482 
Provision for settlement   30,000   —   — 
Settlement payment   (10,000)   —   — 
Impairment of goodwill   2,251   —   — 
Loss on sale of equipment   56   —   806 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:             
Accounts receivable   7,956   1,120   (991)
Inventories   9,368   (5,955)   (11,723)
Prepaid expenses and other assets   2,276   (5,732)   (357)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   (3,101)   (387)   7,664 
Other   1,512   5,289   2,255 

             

Net cash provided by operating activities   15,738   11,548   19,885 
             

Investing activities             
Purchases of property, plant and equipment   (3,549)   (17,694)   (5,291)
Other   36   90   631 

             

Net cash used for investing activities   (3,513)   (17,604)   (4,660)
             

Financing activities             
Net (payments on ) proceeds from revolving line of credit   (3,300)   11,000   — 
Dividends paid   (6,817)   (6,817)   (7,189)
Purchases of common stock   —   —   (20,919)
Proceeds from other common stock transactions   —   26   906 

             

Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities   (10,117)   4,209   (27,202)
             

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   2,108   (1,847)   (11,977)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   2,473   4,320   16,297 
             

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   4,581   2,473   4,320 
Cash held by discontinued operations   (281)   (802)   (929)
             

Cash and cash equivalents held by continuing operations at end of year  $ 4,300  $ 1,671  $ 3,391 
             

 

See notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Lawson Products, Inc.
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

 

Note A — Description of Business
 

Lawson Products, Inc. (“Lawson” or the “Company”) is a North American distributor and marketer of systems, services and products to
the industrial, commercial and institutional maintenance, repair and operations (“MRO”) marketplace. The Company also manufactures sells and
distributes specialized component parts to the original equipment marketplace (“OEM”).
 

Note B — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 

Principles of Consolidation — The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts and transactions of the Company
and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
 

Revenue Recognition — Revenue includes product sales, billings for freight and handling charges and fees earned for services provided.
Sales and associated cost of goods sold are generally recognized when products are shipped and title passes to customers. We accrue for returns
under the guidance of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 48, Revenue Recognition When Right of Return Exists, based
on historical evidence of rates of return.
 

Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs — Costs related to shipping and handling fees are included on the Consolidated Statements of
Operations in the caption “Selling, general and administrative expenses”. Shipping and handling fees charged to customers are included in the
caption “Net sales” and totaled $18,624, $17,130 and $16,819 in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
 

Cash Equivalents — The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be
cash equivalents.
 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Methodology — The Company evaluates the collectibility of accounts receivable based on a combination
of factors. In circumstances where the Company is aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations (e.g., bankruptcy
filings, substantial down-grading of credit ratings), a specific reserve for bad debts is recorded against amounts due to reduce the receivable to
the amount the Company reasonably believes will be collected. For all other customers, the Company recognizes reserves for bad debts based on
the Company’s historical experience of bad debt write-offs as a percent of accounts receivable outstanding. If circumstances change (i.e., higher
than expected defaults or an unexpected material adverse change in a major customer’s ability to meet its financial obligations), the estimates of
the recoverability of amounts due the Company could be revised by a material amount.
 

Inventories — Inventories which consist principally of finished goods are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market.
To reduce inventory to a lower of cost or market value, the Company records a reserve for slow-moving and obsolete inventory based on
historical experience and monitoring current inventory activity.
 

Property, Plant and Equipment — Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation expense is computed by the straight-line method for buildings and improvements using useful lives of 20 to 30 years and using the
double declining balance method for machinery and equipment, furniture and fixtures and vehicles using useful lives of 3 to 10 years.
Amortization of capitalized leases is included in depreciation expense. Depreciation expense was $5,357, $4,308 and $4,568 for 2008, 2007 and
2006, respectively. Capitalized software is amortized over estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years using the straight-line method. Amortization
expense of capitalized software was $2,675, $2,877 and $2,726 for 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
 

Stock-Based Compensation — The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123(R)”) on January 1, 2006 using
the modified prospective method. The adoption resulted in recording a $361 Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year
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Lawson Products, Inc.
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) — (Continued)

 

ended December 31, 2006. Under SFAS No. 123(R), share based compensation is valued at its fair value at the grant date and the expense is
recognized over the vesting period. Fair value is re-measured each reporting period for liability classified awards.
 

Goodwill and Other Intangibles — Goodwill represents the cost of business acquisitions in excess of the fair value of identifiable net
tangible and intangible assets acquired. Intangible assets with a finite life are amortized on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life.
Goodwill and other intangible assets with indeterminate lives are assessed for impairment at least annually or more often if triggering events
occur.
 

Income Taxes — Deferred tax assets or liabilities reflect temporary differences between amounts of assets and liabilities for financial and
tax reporting. Such amounts are adjusted, as appropriate, to reflect changes in tax rates expected to be in effect when the temporary differences
reverse. A valuation allowance is established to offset any deferred tax assets if, based upon the available evidence, it is more likely than not that
some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The determination of the amount of a valuation allowance to be provided on recorded
deferred tax assets involves estimates regarding (1) the timing and amount of the reversal of taxable temporary differences, (2) expected future
taxable income, and (3) the impact of tax planning strategies. In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, the Company considers all
available positive and negative evidence, including past operating results, projections of future taxable income and the feasibility of ongoing tax
planning strategies. The projections of future taxable income include a number of estimates and assumptions regarding our volume, pricing and
costs. Additionally, valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets can be impacted by changes to tax laws.
 

Significant judgment is required in determining income tax provisions under SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes
(“SFAS No. 109”) and in evaluating tax positions. In the normal course of business, the Company and its subsidiaries are examined by various
Federal, State and foreign tax authorities. The Company regularly assesses the potential outcomes of these examinations and any future
examinations for the current or prior years in determining the adequacy of our provision for income taxes. The Company continually assesses the
likelihood and amount of potential adjustments and adjusts the income tax provision, the current tax liability and deferred taxes in the period in
which the facts that give rise to a revision become known.
 

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty
in Income Taxes (“FIN 48”), which requires that the Company recognize in the financial statements, the impact of a tax position, if that position
is more likely than not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. In addition, FIN 48 provides guidance on the
derecognition, classification, accounting in interim periods and disclosure requirements for uncertain tax positions. As a result of the
implementation of FIN 48, the Company recorded at the date of adoption an additional liability of $1,213 for unrecognized tax benefits relating
to uncertain tax positions which was accounted for as a reduction to the January 1, 2007 balance of retained earnings
 

Earnings Per Share — Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential dilution from the exercise or conversion of stock options into
common stock.
 

Foreign Currency — The accounts of foreign subsidiaries are measured using the local currency as the functional currency. All balance
sheet amounts have been translated into U.S. dollars using the exchange rates in effect at the applicable period end. Income statement amounts
have been translated using the average exchange rate for the applicable period. The gains and losses resulting from the changes in exchange rates
from the translation of subsidiary accounts in local currency to U.S. dollars have been reported as a component of “Accumulated other
comprehensive income” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses result from the effect of exchange
rate changes on transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency. These gains and losses are included in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and were immaterial for all years presented.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) — (Continued)

 

Use of Estimates — Preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from these estimates.
 

Reclassifications — Certain amounts related to freight charges billed to customers and the addition of the settlement and related costs line
item have been reclassified in the 2007 and 2006 financial statements to conform with the 2008 presentation. The reclassifications did not affect
operating income. The following financial statement line items in the Consolidated Statements of Operations were affected by the
reclassification for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006:
 
                 

    Reclassifications   
  As Originally  Billed  Settlement   
  Reported  Freight  Charges  As Adjusted

 

2007                 
Net sales  $509,695  $2,848   —  $512,543 
Gross profit   300,981   2,848   —   303,829 
Selling, general and administrative expenses   268,212   2,848   (5,793)   265,267 
Settlement and related costs   —   —   5,793   5,793 

2006                 
Net sales  $511,377  $2,896   —  $514,273 
Gross profit   303,830   2,896   —   306,726 
Selling, general and administrative expenses   278,780   2,896   (3,139)   278,537 
Settlement and related costs   —   —   3,224   3,224 
Severance and other charges   1,281   —   (85)   1,196 

 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, which defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The provisions of SFAS 157 are effective as of the beginning of
our 2009 fiscal year, as it relates to fair value measurement requirements for nonfinancial assets and liabilities that are not remeasured at fair
value on a recurring basis. We do not expect the adoption to have a material impact on our financial statements.
 

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 141(R), Business Combinations. SFAS 141(R) establishes principles and requirements for an
acquirer, which improves the relevance, representational faithfulness and comparability of information provided by a reporting entity in its
financial reports about business combinations and its effects. SFAS 141(R) is effective prospectively to business combinations as of the
beginning of our 2009 fiscal year. We do not expect the adoption to have a material impact on our financial statements.
 

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements (an amendment of ARB
No. 51). SFAS 160 establishes accounting and reporting standards designed to improve the relevance, comparability and transparency of the
financial information provided in a reporting entity’s consolidated financial statements. SFAS 160 is effective as of the beginning of our 2009
fiscal year. Currently, we do not expect the adoption to have a material impact on our financial statements.
 

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, which is an amendment
of FASB Statement No. 133. This statement requires enhanced disclosures about an entity’s derivative and hedging activities and thereby
improves the transparency of financial reporting. This statement is effective as of the beginning of our 2009 fiscal year. Based on current
conditions, we do not expect the adoption of SFAS 161 to have a significant impact on our financial statements.
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Note C — Inventories
 

Components of inventories were as follows:
 
         

  December 31,  
  2008   2007  

 

Finished goods  $ 92,565  $ 102,410 
Work in progress   1,791   1,885 
Raw materials   2,146   2,514 
         

Total   96,502   106,809 
Reserve for obsolete and excess inventory   (10,067)   (10,024)
         

  $ 86,435  $ 96,785 
         

 

Note D — Property, Plant and Equipment
 

Components of property, plant and equipment were as follows:
 
         

  December 31,  
  2008   2007  

 

Land  $ 9,197  $ 9,444 
Buildings and improvements   54,069   54,333 
Machinery and equipment   32,754   32,142 
Furniture and fixtures   6,708   6,384 
Vehicles   354   414 
Capitalized software   13,246   14,563 
Capital leases   3,736   3,342 
Construction in progress   1,014   924 
         

   121,078   121,546 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (73,295)   (68,515)

         

  $ 47,783  $ 53,031 
         

 

Note E — Goodwill
 

The Company reviews goodwill annually for impairment as required by SFAS 142, Accounting for Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.
Goodwill impairment is deemed to exist if the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value and the carrying amount of the
goodwill exceeds its estimated fair value. In the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company determined, based on market prices of comparable
businesses and forecasted discounted cash flows, that the goodwill associated with its OEM segment was impaired and recorded a non-cash
charge of $2,251 for the year ended December 31, 2008.
 

Goodwill by business segment consisted of the following:
 
             

  MRO   OEM   Total  
 

Balance at December 31, 2007 and 2006  $ 25,748  $ 2,251  $ 27,999 
Impairment loss   —   (2,251)   (2,251)

             

Balance at December 31, 2008  $ 25,748  $ —  $ 25,748 
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Note F — Other Intangibles
 

Intangible assets, included in other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:
 
                         

  December 31, 2008   December 31, 2007  
        Net         Net  
  Gross   Accumulated   Carrying   Gross   Accumulated   Carrying  
  Balance   Amortization   Amount   Balance   Amortization   Amount  

 

Trademarks and tradenames  $1,400  $ 787  $ 613  $1,400  $ 737  $ 663 
Non-compete covenant   1,000   600   400   1,000   400   600 
                         

  $2,400  $ 1,387  $1,013  $2,400  $ 1,137  $1,263 
                         

 

Trademarks and tradenames are amortized over 20 years. The non-compete covenant is being amortized over 5 years. Amortization
expense, all of which is included in the MRO segment, for these intangible assets was $250 per year for 2008, 2007 and 2006 and is expected to
be $250 per year for 2009 and 2010 and $50 per year thereafter until the trademarks and tradenames are fully amortized.
 

Note G — Income Taxes
 

(Loss) income from continuing operations before income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change for the years ended
December 31, consisted of the following:
 
             

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008   2007   2006  

 

United States  $ (23,901)  $ 15,741  $ 20,446 
Canada   3,201   4,331   4,674 
             

  $ (20,700)  $ 20,072  $ 25,120 
             

 

Provisions (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations for the years ended December 31, consisted of the following:
 
             

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008   2007   2006  

 

Current income tax:             
U.S. Federal  $ 2,920  $ 6,485  $ 11,438 
U.S. State   666   1,960   3,025 
Canada   915   1,544   1,264 

             

Total  $ 4,501   9,989   15,727 
             

Deferred income tax (benefit):             
U.S. Federal  $ 1,874  $ (1,500)  $ (4,281)
U.S. State   21   177   (489)
Canada   (36)   74   461 

             

Total  $ 1,859  $ (1,249)  $ (4,309)
             

Total income tax:             
U.S. Federal  $ 4,794  $ 4,985  $ 7,157 
U.S. State   687   2,137   2,536 
Canada   879   1,618   1,725 

             

Total  $ 6,360  $ 8,740  $ 11,418 
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The reconciliation between the effective income tax rate and the statutory federal rate for continuing operations was as follows:
 
             

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008   2007   2006  

 

Statutory federal rate   35.0%   35.0%  35.0%
Increase (decrease) resulting from:             

State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit   (3.7)   7.4   7.8 
Settlement penalty   (49.3)   —   — 
Canadian subsidiaries   0.2   0.2   0.4 
Executive life insurance   (10.3)   (3.4)   (3.0)
Non-deductible promotion expense   —   —   7.7 
Other items, net   (2.6)   4.3   (2.4)

             

Provision for income taxes   (30.7)%  43.5%  45.5%
             

 

Income taxes paid for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 amounted to $7,008, $13,958 and $11,284, respectively.
 

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The Company also has a $8,154 capital loss carryforward remaining
related to the 2003 sale of the Company’s UK MRO business and the closure of its Mexico operations. A valuation allowance is recorded for all
of the capital loss carryforward due to the uncertainty of the Company’s ability to realize the capital loss against future capital gains prior to
expiration in 2008.
 

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 were as follows:
 
         

  December 31,  
  2008   2007  

 

Deferred tax assets:         
Compensation and benefits  $ 20,879  $ 25,075 
Inventories   6,142   4,122 
Capital loss   2,854   3,337 
Accounts receivable   594   503 
Property, plant & equipment   260   230 
Other   903   — 

         

Total deferred tax assets   31,632   33,267 
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets   (2,854)   (3,337)

         

Net deferred tax assets   28,778   29,930 
         

Deferred tax liabilities:         
Goodwill   3,687   3,259 
Other   805   2,101 

         

Total deferred liabilities   4,492   5,360 
         

Total net deferred assets  $ 24,286  $ 24,570 
         

Net deferred tax assets:         
Net current deferred income taxes   6,127   3,226 
Net noncurrent deferred income taxes   18,159   21,344 

         

  $ 24,286  $ 24,570 
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Net deferred tax assets include the tax impact of items in comprehensive income of $382 and $(247) at December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively.
 

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
 
         

  December 31,  
  2008   2007  

 

Balance at beginning of year  $ 923  $ 4,059 
Additions for tax positions of current year   248   — 
Additions for tax positions of prior years   1,799   1,029 
Reductions for tax positions of prior years   —   (2,010)
Settlements   —   (2,155)

         

Balance at end of year  $ 2,970  $ 923 
         

 

The recognition of the $2,970 unrecognized tax benefits would have a favorable effect on the effective tax rate. Due to the uncertainty of
both timing and resolution of income tax examinations, the Company is unable to determine whether any amounts included in the December 31,
2008 balance of unrecognized tax benefits represent tax positions that could significantly change during the next twelve months.
 

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. At
December 31, 2008, the Company had accrued $1,793 for the potential payment of interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits.
 

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as income tax of multiple state and Canadian jurisdictions.
As of December 31, 2008, the Company is subject to income tax examinations for the tax years 2000 through 2007.
 

Note H — Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities
 

Accrued expenses and other liabilities consisted of the following:
 
         

  December 31,  
  2008   2007  

 

Salaries, commissions and other compensation  $ 15,498  $ 18,386 
Accrued severance   4,889   4,344 
Accrued and withheld taxes, other than income taxes   2,774   3,101 
Accrued profit sharing contributions   2,372   3,952 
Accrued stock performance rights   1,206   2,098 
Accrued self-insured health benefits   2,630   2,548 
Cash dividends payable   1,704   1,704 
Other   10,132   9,121 
         

  $ 41,205  $ 45,254 
         

 

Note I — Revolving Line of Credit
 

In November 2008 the Company entered into a First Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Credit Facility”) with Bank of
America, N.A. The Credit Facility provides for a total commitment of $75 million in the form of revolving loans and letters of credit and
matures on November 7, 2011. The interest rate for the Credit Facility bears interest at either, LIBOR plus 0.625%, or the prime rate minus
1.0%, as elected by the Company. The
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interest rate may be adjusted based on the Company’s ratio of consolidated total debt to EBITDA calculated on the basis of the Company’s most
recent annual or quarterly financial statements. The Credit Facility also specifies unused commitment fees that are assessed based on the average
unused balance and the Company’s ratio of total debt to EBITDA. The Credit Facility is secured by a pledge of 65% of the capital stock of the
Company’s subsidiary, Lawson Products, Inc. (Ontario) (“Lawson Canada”). The Credit Facility specifies certain financial covenants, including
a fixed charge coverage and total debt to equity calculation which must be met as of the end of each fiscal quarter. At December 31, 2008 the
Company was in compliance with all covenants.
 

The Company had $7,700 outstanding under the revolving line at December 31, 2008 and paid interest of $535, $910 and $150 in 2008,
2007 and 2006, respectively. The weighted average interest rate charged on the outstanding balance of the Credit Facility was 3.2% for the year
ended December 31, 2008.
 

In March 2009 the Company amended the Credit Facility (the “Amended Credit Facility”), reducing the amount of the facility, adjusting
the covenants and providing additional security to Bank of America, N.A. The Amended Credit Facility provides for a total commitment of
$55.0 million. The maturity date remains November 7, 2011. The interest rate is LIBOR plus a margin of 2.0% to 3.5%, based on the ratio of
total debt to EBITDA. The Amended Credit Facility contains covenants for adjusted EBITDA, as defined in the agreement, for each quarter
through September 30, 2009. Commencing with the quarter ending December 31, 2009, additional covenants will be in place, including fixed
charge coverage, total debt to equity and minimum net worth, as defined in the credit agreement. The Amended Credit Facility places a
restriction on quarterly dividends of $260, or $1,040 on an annual basis. The Amended Credit Facility is secured by substantially all of the assets
of the Company, excluding real property and the capital stock of the Company’s subsidiaries, except for the stock of Lawson Canada. The
Company paid an amendment fee of $100.
 

Note J — Reserve for Severance
 

Severance charges related to management realignment and reorganization of $5,378, $10,886 and $1,196 were recorded in 2008, 2007 and
2006, respectively. The severance costs are primarily related to the MRO segment. The table below shows the changes in the Company’s reserve
for severance and related payments.
 
             

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008   2007   2006  

 

Beginning balance  $ 7,058  $ 962  $ 216 
Charged to earnings   5,378   10,886   1,196 
Cash paid   (6,264)   (4,670)   (297)
Adjustment to reserves   (61)   (120)   (153)
             

Ending balance  $ 6,111  $ 7,058  $ 962 
             

 

Accrued severance charges were included in the line items of the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2008 and 2007 as follows:
 
         

  December 31,  
  2008   2007  

 

Accrued severance included in:         
Accrued expenses and other liabilities  $ 4,889  $4,344 
Noncurrent other   1,222   2,714 

         

Total accrued severance  $ 6,111  $7,058 
         

 

The Company anticipates the remaining benefits outstanding as of December 31, 2008 will be substantially paid out by the end of 2010.
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Note K — Retirement and Security Bonus Plans
 

The Company has a retirement plan with a profit sharing feature for certain office and warehouse personnel. The amounts of the
company’s annual contributions are determined by the board of directors subject to limitations based upon operating results. Provisions for the
profit sharing plan were $2,216, $3,997 and $4,152 for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
 

The Company provides 401(k) defined contribution benefit plans to give employees a pre-tax investment vehicle to save for retirement.
Matching funds contributed by the Company’s subsidiaries amounted to $169, $160 and $154 in the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and
2006.
 

The Company has a security bonus plan for the benefit of its independent sales agents, under the terms of which participants are credited
with a percentage of their yearly earnings. The aggregate amounts credited to participants’ accounts vest 25% after five years and an additional
5% vests each year thereafter. For financial reporting purposes, amounts are charged to operations over the vesting period. Provisions for the
security bonus plan were $2,641, $2,093 and $3,364 for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
 

Note L — Commitments and Contingencies
 

Lease Commitments
 

Total rental expense for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 amounted to $3,479, $4,126 and $4,355, respectively. The
Company’s future minimum lease commitments, principally for facilities and equipment, as of December 31, 2008, were as follows:
 
         

Year Ended December 31,  Operating Leases   Capital Leases  
 

2009  $ 2,396  $ 1,133 
2010   2,055   933 
2011   1,286   701 
2012   709   137 
2013 and thereafter   —   — 
         

Total  $ 6,446  $ 2,904 
         

 

Litigation
 

In December 2005, the FBI executed a search warrant for records at the Company’s offices and informed the Company that it was
conducting an investigation as to whether any of the Company’s representatives improperly provided gifts or awards to purchasing agents
(including government purchasing agents) through the Company’s customer loyalty programs (the “investigation”). The U.S. Attorney’s Office
for the Northern District of Illinois (the “U.S. Attorney’s Office”) subsequently issued a subpoena for documents in connection with the
investigation.
 

In April 2007, thirteen people, including seven former sales agents of the Company, were indicted on federal criminal charges, including
mail fraud, in connection with the investigation. These indictments alleged that, under the Company’s customer loyalty programs, sales agents
would provide cash gift certificates to individuals purchasing Company merchandise on behalf of their employers as a way to increase their
commissions and prices paid by customers. All of the cases involved commissioned sales agents of the Company. All seven of the indicted
former sales agents have entered guilty pleas to federal criminal charges.
 

On August 11, 2008, in connection with the investigation, the Company entered into a Deferred Prosecution Agreement (the “DPA”) with
the U.S. Attorney’s Office. An additional three people, including a former sales manager and a former sales agent were indicted on August 11,
2008 and have since pled guilty. Under the terms of the DPA, the U.S. Attorney’s Office filed a one count criminal Information charging the
Company with mail fraud in

36



Table of Contents

 

Lawson Products, Inc.
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data) — (Continued)

 

the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, but would defer prosecution of such charge for three years. If the Company abides by
the terms and conditions of the DPA, the U.S. Attorney’s Office will seek dismissal with prejudice of the Information within 30 days of the
expiration of the three-year period.
 

Pursuant to the DPA, the Company agreed to a $30,000 penalty, which includes $806 of restitution, and recorded a charge of $30,000 in
the second quarter of 2008. The penalty is payable in three equal installments. The first $10,000 payment was made in August 2008. The
remaining $10,000 payments are due in August 2009 and in August 2010. If a controlling interest in the Company is sold, any unpaid amounts
shall be accelerated and due at the closing of the sale.
 

Other
 

In November 2008, the Company became aware that it had not properly withheld state income tax from a small number of employees in
approximately 15 states. The Company may have exposure for penalties and interest for state income taxes withholdings and payroll tax returns,
however, since the amount is subject to further analysis and interpretations by state taxing jurisdictions, the Company is unable to reasonably
estimate the amount of the exposure at this time.
 

Note M — Stock Performance Plan
 

The Stock Performance Plan (the “Plan”), provides for the issuance of incentive compensation to non-employee directors, officers and key
employees including in the form of stock performance rights (“SPRs”). The Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board
of Directors.
 

Stock Performance Rights
 

The Company grants SPRs pursuant to the Plan to selected employees and outside directors. The SPRs have a ten-year life and vest ratably
over three years beginning on the first anniversary of the date of the grant. The SPRs entitle the recipient to receive a cash payment equal to the
excess of the market value of the Company’s common stock over the SPR exercise price when the SPRs are surrendered.
 

Employees and non-employee directors who are retirement eligible, defined as age 65 or older, are permitted to retain their awards after
retirement and exercise them during the remaining contractual life. Grants of SPRs, with the retirement eligible provision, are recognized as
expense on the grant date.
 

As required by SFAS 123(R), the SPRs outstanding have been remeasured at fair value using the Black-Scholes valuation model. This
model requires the input of subjective assumptions that will usually have a significant impact on the fair value estimate. The weighted-average
estimated value of SPRs outstanding as of December 31, 2008 was $6.12 per SPR using the Black-Scholes valuation model with the following
assumptions:
 
   

Expected volatility  51.0% to 88.8%
Risk-free interest rate  0.4% to 1.6%
Expected term (in years)  1.0 to 5.4
Expected annual dividend  $0.80
 

The expected volatility was based on the historic volatility of the Company’s stock price commiserate with the expected life of the SPR.
The risk-free rate of return reflects the weighted average interest rate offered for zero coupon treasury bonds over the expected life of the SPR.
The expected life represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding and was calculated using the simplified
method prescribed by the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107. The estimated annual dividend was based on the recent dividend payout trend.
 

Compensation (income) expense, included in selling, general and administrative expenses for SPRs was $(843), $(427) and $2,482 for the
years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Cash paid out due to the exercise of SPRs was $49, $51 and $1,236 for the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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Activity related to the Company’s SPRs during the year ended 2008 was as follows:
 
         

  Number   Average  
  of SPRs   Exercise Price  

 

Outstanding on December 31, 2007   209,250  $ 34.17 
Granted   151,500   25.82 
Exercised   (28,250)   27.10 
Cancelled   (24,900)   25.57 

         

Outstanding on December 31, 2008   307,600   31.40 
         

Exercisable on December 31, 2008   180,270  $ 33.95 
         

 

The SPRs outstanding had no aggregate intrinsic value as of December 31, 2008 since all exercise prices exceeded the market price of the
Company’s stock at that date. Unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested SPRs was $590 at December 31, 2008, which will be
recognized over a weighted average period of 1.9 years. During the year ended December 31, 2008, 39,467 SPRs vested. At December 31, 2008,
the weighted average remaining contractual term was 7.2 years for all outstanding SPRs and 5.9 years for the SPRs that are exercisable.
 

Stock Options
 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company had 5,000 fully vested outstanding stock options with an average exercise price of
$23.11 and an immaterial aggregate intrinsic value. The options have a weighted average remaining contractual term of 1.3 years. There was no
compensation expense related to stock options in 2008, 2007 or 2006. The Company’s stock option plan expired in 2006.
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Note N — (Loss) Earnings Per Share
 

The computation of basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share consisted of the following (shares in thousands):
 
             

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008   2007   2006  

 

Weighted average shares             
Basic weighted average shares outstanding   8,522   8,522   8,878 
Dilutive stock options outstanding   —   2   2 

             

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding   8,522   8,524   8,880 
             

(Loss) Earnings             
(Loss) income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change  $ (27,060)  $ 11,332  $ 13,702 
Loss from discontinued operations   (571)   (703)   (729)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax   —   —   (361)

             

Net (loss) income  $ (27,631)  $ 10,629  $ 12,612 
             

Basic (loss) earnings per share of common stock             
(Loss) income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change  $ (3.18)  $ 1.33  $ 1.54 
Loss from discontinued operations   (0.06)   (0.08)   (0.08)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax   —   —   (0.04)

             

Net (loss) income  $ (3.24)  $ 1.25  $ 1.42 
             

Diluted (loss) earnings per share of common stock             
(Loss) income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change  $ (3.18)  $ 1.33  $ 1.54 
Loss from discontinued operations   (0.06)   (0.08)   (0.08)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax   —   —   (0.04)

             

Net (loss) income  $ (3.24)  $ 1.25  $ 1.42 
             

 

The effect of future stock option exercises for the year ended December 31, 2008 would have been anti-dilutive and, therefore, was
excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share.
 

Note O — Segment Reporting
 

The Company has two reportable segments:  MRO and OEM. The Company’s MRO segment is a distributor and marketer of systems,
services and products to the industrial, commercial, institutional, and governmental maintenance repair and operations marketplace. The
Company’s OEM segment manufactures, sells and distributes production and specialized component parts to the original equipment
marketplace. The Company’s two reportable segments are distinguished by the nature of products distributed and sold, types of customers and
manner of servicing them. The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources to reportable segments primarily based on operating
income.
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Financial information for the Company’s reportable segments from continuing operations consisted of the following:
 
             

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008   2007   2006  

 

Net sales             
MRO  $ 403,584  $429,508  $430,815 
OEM   81,623   83,035   83,458 

             

Consolidated total  $ 485,207  $512,543  $514,273 
             

Operating income (loss)             
MRO  $ 26,174  $ 34,366  $ 22,962 
OEM   (3,175)   4,196   5,227 
Settlement and related costs   (31,666)   (5,793)   (3,224)
Severance and other charges   (9,313)   (12,328)   (1,196)
Impairment of goodwill   (2,251)   —   — 
Loss on sale of equipment   —   —   (806)

             

Consolidated total   (20,231)   20,441   22,963 
Interest and dividend income   47   255   513 
Interest expense   (789)   (910)   (150)
Other, net   273   286   1,794 

             

(Loss) income from continuing operations before income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change  $ (20,700)  $ 20,072  $ 25,120 
             

Capital expenditures             
MRO  $ 2,809  $ 16,943  $ 4,710 
OEM   740   751   581 

             

Consolidated total  $ 3,549  $ 17,694  $ 5,291 
             

Depreciation and amortization             
MRO  $ 7,509  $ 6,692  $ 6,782 
OEM   773   743   762 

             

Consolidated total  $ 8,282  $ 7,435  $ 7,544 
             

Total assets             
MRO  $ 202,413  $221,274  $204,852 
OEM   44,000   52,955   50,408 

             

Segment total   246,413   274,229   255,260 
Corporate   24,287   24,570   23,879 

             

Consolidated total  $ 270,700  $298,799  $279,139 
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Financial information related to the Company’s continuing operations by geographic area consisted of the following:
 
             

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2008   2007   2006  

 

Net sales             
United States  $ 455,028  $ 482,491  $ 485,591 
Canada   30,179   30,052   28,682 

             

Consolidated total  $ 485,207  $ 512,543  $ 514,273 
             

Long lived assets             
United States  $ 67,076  $ 73,971  $ 64,233 
Canada   7,468   8,322   7,943 

             

Consolidated total  $ 74,544  $ 82,293  $ 72,176 
             

 

Net sales are attributed to countries based on the location of customers. Long-lived assets consist of total property, plant and equipment,
goodwill and other intangible assets.
 

Note P — Discontinued Operations
 

The Company closed its operations in Mexico in 2007. Accordingly, the Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of
Operations reflect the assets and liabilities and operating results as discontinued operations.
 

Note Q — Loss on Sale of Equipment
 

In 2006, the Company incurred a loss of $0.8 million ($0.5 million, net of tax) on the sale of equipment related to the Company’s decision
to outsource the manufacturing of a product line in the Company’s OEM business. Net book value for the disposed equipment was
approximately $1.0 million.
 

Note R — Summary of Unaudited Quarterly Results of Operations
 

Amounts related to freight charges billed to customers that were originally recorded as a reduction to selling, general and administrative
expenses have been reclassified to net sales. This reclassification had no effect on net income (loss). A reconciliation of the amounts previously
reported to the reclassified amounts for the first three quarters of 2008 and the four quarters of 2007 are as follows:
 
                         

  Net Sales   Gross Profit  
  Originally Reported   Adjustment   Reclassified   Originally Reported   Adjustment   Reclassified  

 

Quarter ended:                         
September 30, 2008  $ 124,567  $ 797  $ 125,364  $ 70,292  $ 797  $ 71,089 
June 30, 2008   126,310   838   127,148   72,606   838   73,444 
March 31, 2008   125,004   866   125,870   73,262   866   74,128 
December 31, 2007   122,935   651   123,586   72,000   651   72,651 
September 30, 2007   127,913   725   128,638   76,457   725   77,182 
June 30, 2007   129,178   731   129,909   76,697   731   77,428 
March 31, 2007   129,669   741   130,410   75,827   741   76,568 
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Unaudited quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are summarized as follows:
 
                 

  2008 Quarter Ended  
  Dec. 31   Sep. 30   Jun. 30   Mar. 31  

 

Net sales  $ 106,825  $125,364  $127,148  $125,870 
Gross profit   60,337   71,089   73,444   74,128 
(Loss) income from continuing operations  $ (5,417)  $ 3,068  $ (29,235)  $ 4,524 
(Loss) income from discontinued operations   (8)   10   (418)   (155)
                 

Net (loss) income  $ (5,425)  $ 3,078  $ (29,653)  $ 4,369 
                 

Basic (loss) income per share of common stock:                 
Continuing operations  $ (0.64)  $ 0.36  $ (3.43)  $ 0.53 
Discontinued operations   —   —   (0.05)   (0.02)

                 

Net (loss) income  $ (0.64)  $ 0.36  $ (3.48)  $ 0.51 
                 

Diluted (loss) income per share of common stock:                 
Continuing operations  $ (0.64)  $ 0.36  $ (3.43)  $ 0.53 
Discontinued operations   —   —   (0.05)   (0.02)

                 

Net (loss) income  $ (0.64)  $ 0.36  $ (3.48)  $ 0.51 
                 

 
                 

  2007 Quarter Ended  
  Dec. 31   Sep. 30   Jun. 30   Mar. 31  

 

Net sales  $ 123,586  $128,638  $129,909  $130,410 
Gross profit   72,651   77,182   77,428   76,568 
Income (loss) from continuing operations  $ 4,216  $ 2,410  $ (20)  $ 4,726 
Loss from discontinued operations   (207)   (11)   (329)   (156)
                 

Net income (loss)  $ 4,009  $ 2,399  $ (349)  $ 4,570 
                 

Basic income (loss) per share of common stock:                 
Continuing operations  $ 0.49  $ 0.28  $ —  $ 0.55 
Discontinued operations   (0.02)   —   (0.04)   (0.02)

                 

Net income (loss)  $ 0.47  $ 0.28  $ (0.04)  $ 0.54 
                 

Diluted income (loss) per share of common stock:                 
Continuing operations  $ 0.49  $ 0.28  $ —  $ 0.55 
Discontinued operations   (0.02)   —   (0.04)   (0.02)

                 

Net income (loss)  $ 0.47  $ 0.28  $ (0.04)  $ 0.54 
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  Balance at   Charged to      Balance at  
  Beginning of   Costs and      End of  
Description  Period   Expenses   Deductions   Period  
 

Allowance for doubtful accounts:                 
Year ended December 31, 2008  $ 1,376  $ 1,461  $ (1,157)(1) $ 1,680 
Year ended December 31, 2007   1,332   928   (884)(1)  1,376 
Year ended December 31, 2006   1,483   605   (756)(1)  1,332 

Allowance for excess and obsolete inventory:                 
Year ended December 31, 2008  $ 10,024  $ 2,486  $ (2,443)(2) $ 10,067 
Year ended December 31, 2007   9,233   2,455   (1,664)(2)  10,024 
Year ended December 31, 2006   9,348   521   (636)(2)  9,233 

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets:                 
Year ended December 31, 2008  $ 3,337  $ (483)  $ —  $ 2,854 
Year ended December 31, 2007   1,318   2,763   (744)(3)  3,337 
Year ended December 31, 2006   1,318   —   —   1,318 

 

 

(1) Uncollected receivables written off, net of recoveries and translation adjustment.
 

(2) Disposal of excess and obsolete inventory and translation adjustment.
 

(3) Net operating loss carryforward written off.
 

ITEM 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
 

None.
 

ITEM 9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

The Company’s chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded, based on their evaluation as of the end of the period
covered by this report, that the Company’s “disclosure controls and procedures” (as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) was effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company (including its consolidated
subsidiaries) in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 were recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding
financial disclosures.
 

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

The report of management under Item 9A is contained in Item 8 of this 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading
“Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting” and is incorporated herein by reference.
 

Changes in Internal Controls
 

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the last fiscal quarter that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 

The attestation report required under Item 9A is contained in Item 8 of this 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading “Report
of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting” and is incorporated herein by reference.
 

ITEM 9B.  OTHER INFORMATION.
 

Not applicable.
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PART III
 

ITEM 10.  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.
 

a.  Directors
 

The information required by this Item is set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on
May 12, 2009, under the caption “Election of Directors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” which information is
incorporated herein by reference.
 

b.  Executive Officers
 

The information required by this Item is set forth under the caption Item 1 — Business under “Executive Officers of the Registrant.”
 

c.  Audit Committee
 

Information on the Company’s Audit Committee is contained under the caption “Board of Directors Meetings and Committees” in the
Company’s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 12, 2009, which is incorporated herein by reference.
 

The Board of Directors has determined that Mitchell Saranow, member of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, qualifies as an
“audit committee financial expert” as defined in Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K, and that Mr. Saranow is “independent” as the term is
defined in the listing standards of the NASDAQ Global Select Market.
 

d.  Code of Business Conduct
 

The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct applicable to all employees and sales agents. The Company’s Code of Business
Conduct is applicable to senior financial executives including the principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting
officer of the Company. The Company’s Code of Business Conduct is available on the Corporate Governance page in the Investor Relations
section of the Company’s website at www.lawsonproducts.com. The Company intends to post on its website any amendments to, or waivers from
its Code of Business Conduct applicable to senior financial executives. The Company will provide any persons with a copy of its Code of
Business Conduct without charge upon written request directed to the Company’s Secretary at the Company’s address.
 

ITEM 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.
 

The information required by this Item is set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on
May 12, 2009, under the caption “Remuneration of Executive Officers,” which information is incorporated herein by reference.
 

ITEM 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

 

The information required by this Item is set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on
May 12, 2009 under the caption “Securities Beneficially Owned by Principal Stockholders and Management” which information is incorporated
herein by reference.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information
 

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2008 regarding the number of shares of common stock that were available
for issuance under the Company’s equity compensation plans.
 
             

        Number of Securities  
  Number of Securities   Weighted-Average   Remaining Available for Future  
  to be Issued Upon   Exercises Price of   Issuance Under Equity  
  Exercise of   Outstanding   Compensation Plans  
  Outstanding Options,   Options, Warrants   (Excluding Securities Reflected  
Plan category  Warrants and Rights   and Rights   In The First Column)  
 

Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders   5,000  $ 23.11   — 

Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders   —   —   — 

             

Total   5,000  $ 23.11   — 
             

 

ITEM 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.
 

The information required by this Item is set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on
May 12, 2009 under the caption “Election of Directors” and “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” which information is incorporated
herein by reference.
 

ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.
 

The information required under this Item is set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held
on May 12, 2009 under the caption “Fees Paid to Independent Auditors” which information is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
 

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
 

(a) See Index to Financial Statements and Schedule II in Item 8 on page 20.
 

(b) Exhibits

 

EXHIBIT INDEX
 

     

Exhibit   
Number Description of Exhibit

 

 3.1
 

Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as amended, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3(a) to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1988.

 3.2
 

Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company, incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
dated September 15, 2008.

 10.1*
 

Lawson Products, Inc. Incentive Stock Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A to the Company’s Proxy Statement
for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on May 11, 1999.

 10.2*
 

Amended and Restated Executive Deferral Plan, incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(c)(7) to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1995.

 10.3*
 

Lawson Products, Inc. Stock Performance Plan, incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(c)(8) to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000.

 10.4*
 

Lawson Products, Inc. 2002 Stock Equivalents Plan for Non Employee Directors, incorporated herein by reference from
Exhibit 10(c)(9) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002.

 10.5*
 

Lawson Products, Inc. Long-Term Capital Accumulation Plan, incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10(c)(10) to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 21, 2004.

 10.6*
 

Form of Shareholder Value Appreciation Rights Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(c)(14) to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004.

 10.7*
 

Form of Restricted Stock Award and Acknowledgment, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(c)(15) to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004.

 10.8*
 

Form Letter regarding Stock Performance Rights, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(c)(16) to the Company’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004.

 10.9*
 

Employment Agreement dated April 16, 2007 between the Company and Mr. Thomas Neri, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 9, 2007.

 10.10*
 

Employment Agreement dated October 1, 2007 between the Company and Mr. Neil Jenkins, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 9, 2007.

 10.11* Executive Employment Agreement dated December 5, 2005 between the Company and Stewart Howley.
 10.12* Employment Agreement dated February 29, 2008 between the Company and Harry Dochelli.
 10.13*

 
Lawson Products, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated May 13, 2008.

 10.14* Executive Services Agreement dated June 23, 2008 between the Company and Tatum, LLC.
 10.15

 

Deferred Prosecution Agreement, dated August 11, 2008 between the Company and the United States District Court, Northern
District of Illinois Eastern Division, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2008.

 10.16*
 

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors and Officers incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K dated September 15, 2008.

 10.17

 

First Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated November 7, 2008 between the Company and Bank of America, N.A.
Successor by Merger to LaSalle Bank National Association, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated November 7, 2008.

 10.18*
 

Amendment No. 1 to Lawson Products, Inc. Long-Term Capital Accumulation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 12, 2009.
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Exhibit   
Number Description of Exhibit

 

 10.19*
 

Form of Amended and Restated Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated February 12, 2009.

 10.20*
 

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of February 12, 2009 by and between the Company and Thomas Neri,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 12, 2009.

 10.21*
 

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of February 12, 2009 by and between the Company and Neil E. Jenkins,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 12, 2009.

 10.22*
 

Change in Control Agreement dated as of February 12, 2009 by and between the Company and Harry Dochelli, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 12, 2009.

 10.23*
 

Change in Control Agreement dated as of February 12, 2009 by and between the Company and Stewart Howley, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 12, 2009.

 10.24
 

First Amendment to First Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and Security Agreement dated March 9, 2009 between the
Company and Bank of America, N.A. Successor by Merger to LaSalle Bank National Association.

 21  Subsidiaries of the Company.
 23  Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
 31.1

 
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

 31.2
 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

 32 
 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

 

 

* Indicates management employment contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 

LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC.

 

 By: /s/  Thomas J. Neri
Thomas J. Neri
Chief Executive Officer and Director

 

Date: March 11, 2009
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below this 11th day of March, 2009, by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated.
 
     

Signature  Title
 

   
/s/  Thomas J. Neri

Thomas J. Neri  
Chief Executive Officer and Director

(principal executive officer)
   

/s/  F. Terrence Blanchard
F. Terrence Blanchard  

Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)

   
/s/  Ronald B. Port

Ronald B. Port  
Chairman of the Board

   
/s/  James T. Brophy

James T. Brophy  
Director

   
/s/  James S. Errant

James S. Errant  
Director

   
/s/  Lee S. Hillman

Lee S. Hillman  
Director

   
/s/  Thomas S. Postek

Thomas S. Postek  
Director

   
/s/  Robert G. Rettig

Robert G. Rettig  
Director

   
/s/  Mitchell H. Saranow

Mitchell H. Saranow  
Director

   
/s/  Wilma J. Smelcer

Wilma J. Smelcer  
Director
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Exhibit 10.11

EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

          This Agreement is made and effective as of this 5th day of December 2005, between LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Lawson”), and
Stewart Howley (“Executive”).

          WHEREAS, Lawson wishes to continue to employ Executive as an officer of Lawson; and

          WHEREAS, Executive wishes to continue employment with Lawson in such position; and

          WHEREAS, Company (as defined in paragraph 14.1 below) is engaged in: (i) the acquisition for and the distribution and sale of fasteners, parts, hardware,
pneumatics, hydraulic and other flexible hose fittings, tools, safety items and electrical and shop supplies, automotive and vehicular products, chemical specialties,
maintenance chemicals and other chemical products, welding products and related items, all as more particularly described in Company’s sales kits and manuals;
(ii) the sale and distribution and the providing of systems and services related thereto; and (iii) the manufacture, sale and distribution of production and specialized
parts and supplies; and (iv) the provision of just-in-time inventories of component parts to original equipment manufacturers and of maintenance and repair parts to a
wide variety of users; and (v) the provision of in-plant inventory systems and of electronic vendor-managed, inventory systems to various customers (collectively
“Company’s Products, Systems and Services”). Company’s independent sales agents or other representatives employed or retained by Company (“Agents”), solicit
orders for Company’s Products, Systems and Services, in the territories assigned to them and also maintain, on behalf of Company, frequent contact for such purposes
with customers; and

          WHEREAS, Lawson’s officers are responsible for duties inherent to their offices relating to the management and operation of the Company, including but not
limited to assisting Company in the development of its product line, the marketing, sale and distribution of Company’s Products, Systems and Services to Company’s
customers, assisting in the cross-marketing and cross-selling of products of Company, and for Company’s sales activities, including but not limited to its sales
management and management of its employees, agents and other representatives; and

          WHEREAS, Lawson’s officers interact, cooperate, assist and confer with executives, employees, officers, directors, agents, representatives, consultants and
others within the Company in the regular course of business and regularly engage in management, sales, distribution and operational activities, and activities relating
thereto or in connection therewith; and

          WHEREAS, Lawson reposes great trust and confidence in its officers.

          NOW THEREFORE, in recognition of the needs of Company and its employees, and in consideration of Executive’s position with and employment or
continued employment by Lawson, the rights and benefits provided hereunder and in any plan or program which requires as

 



 

a condition to participation therein or receipt of benefits thereunder by Executive’s, execution of this Agreement, and of the mutual agreements, promises and
undertakings herein set forth, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged by the parties hereto, Lawson and
Executive mutually agree as follows:

     1. EMPLOYMENT/DUTY OF LOYALTY.

          Lawson hereby agrees to employ Executive as Senior Vice President, Construction Markets (or with such other title as mutually agreed upon) and as a member
of its Corporate Management Committee, on a full-time basis, and Executive hereby accepts such employment. Executive shall report to the Chief Operating Officer,
or to such other person as designated by the Chief Executive Officer (the “Reporting Person”).

          Executive hereby acknowledges that he has a fiduciary responsibility and duty of loyalty to Company hereunder. For so long as Executive remains employed,
Executive shall, on a full-time basis, devote his best efforts and his entire business time, energy, attention, knowledge and skill solely and exclusively to advance the
interests, products and goodwill of Company. Executive shall diligently, competently and faithfully perform the duties assigned to him by Company from time to time.

     2. COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS.

     2.1 Executive shall receive the following compensation:

          (a) An initial annual salary in the amount of $260,000 which, subject to satisfactory performance, will be increased to $275,000 six months after
commencement of employment hereunder, and a further increase of $12,000 if and when the executive relocates his residence to Chicago. In addition to these
increases, this amount may be increased by the Chief Executive Officer of Lawson subject to approval of the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors, in its sole discretion, from time to time. Executive’s salary shall be payable in substantially equal semi-monthly installments (“Salary”).

          (b) Commencing with the year 2006, an annual incentive bonus, if any, determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Lawson
in its sole discretion based upon the overall growth and profitability of the Company as compared to the prior year as more fully described on and consistent
with the terms of Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof (the “Incentive Bonus”). The Incentive Bonus, if any, shall be payable not later than
April 15 of the following year, provided Executive’s employment hereunder has not been terminated by Lawson for cause prior to such date. The terms,
conditions and provisions of the Incentive Bonus shall be in conformance with the incentive bonus program applicable to executive officers generally and
particularly to such office as is held by Executive.

          2.2 Executive shall receive the following standard benefits; provided, however, Lawson may modify or terminate such benefits from time to time to the extent
and on such terms as Lawson modifies or terminates such benefits as provided to other officers:
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          (a) Coverage under Lawson’s group health plan on such terms as provided to Lawson’s officers.

          (b) Long-term disability insurance coverage; provided however, if Executive becomes disabled within the meaning of any long-term disability policy
then in effect, Lawson will pay to Executive the Salary which would have been due but for Executive’s disability for six (6) months following such disability.
For thirty (30) months thereafter, Lawson will pay to Executive sixty percent (60%) of the Salary of Executive which would have been due but for Executive’s
disability. While Lawson is making such payments, Lawson will be entitled to receive in money or by credit against such payments a sum equal to any
Company provided long-term disability insurance benefits paid to or for the benefit of Executive for such period.

          (c) Group term life insurance with a death benefit amount of not less than $50,000, with additional double indemnity coverage.

          (d) Accidental death insurance.

          (e) Participation in Lawson’s 401(k) and profit-sharing retirement plans.

          (f) Four weeks annual vacation under the terms of Lawson’s vacation policy for officers.

          (g) Participation in Employer’s Executive Deferral Plan, if any.

          (h) If Executive dies while employed by Lawson under this Agreement and is not then in default or breach of this Agreement, Lawson shall pay an
additional compensation amount equal to two (2) times the annual Salary being paid to Executive at the time of his death (“Additional Compensation
Amount”). The Additional Compensation Amount shall be payable to the beneficiary(ies) identified in writing by Executive from time to time on forms
provided by Lawson for that purpose and filed by Executive with Lawson and shall be paid in forty-eight (48) equal, semi-monthly installments made as of the
15th day and the last day of each calendar month following Executive’s death.

          (i) Reimbursement for all reasonable and approved business expenses in accordance with Lawson policy, or as otherwise approved by the Reporting
Person, provided Executive submits paid receipts or other documentation acceptable to Lawson and as required by the Internal Revenue Service to qualify as
ordinary and necessary business expenses under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).

          2.3 All compensation and benefits to become payable to Executive under subparagraphs 2.1 and 2.2 shall be subject to applicable governmental laws and
regulations regarding income tax withholding and other payroll taxes and deductions.
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3   TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT.

     3.1 Executive’s employment under this Agreement may be terminated as follows:

          (a) By Lawson, without cause effective on the date that written notice of termination is delivered to Executive or sent to him by certified or registered
mail to Executive’s home address as listed on Lawson’s records (or effective on such later date as indicated in such notice).

          (b) By the Executive for Good Reason effective on the date that written notice of termination is delivered to the Reporting Person by certified or
registered mail, or hand delivery or overnight mail. “Good Reason” means, without the Executive’s consent, (i) the assignment to the Executive of duties
substantially and materially inconsistent with the position and nature of the Executive’s employment (ii) a reduction of compensation and benefits (other than
incentive compensation which, it is acknowledged, will increase or decrease from year to year) that would diminish the aggregate value of the Executive’s
compensation and benefits, or (iii) relocation of the Executive’s office outside of a 35-mile radius of metropolitan Atlanta or Chicago

          (c) By Lawson, for cause, effective on the date that written notice of termination is delivered to Executive or sent to him by certified or registered mail to
Executive’s home address as listed on Lawson’s records. For purposes of this Agreement, cause shall mean (i) violation by Executive of any agreement
between Executive and Lawson or any law relating to non-competition, trade secrets, inventions, non-solicitation or confidentiality; (ii) material breach or
default of any of Executive’s duties or other obligations or covenants under this Agreement; (iii) Executive’s gross negligence, dishonesty or willful
misconduct; (iv) conviction of a crime by Executive (other than traffic related offenses); or (v) an act of fraud, embezzlement or the misappropriation of
property by Executive.

          (d) By Executive effective on the expiration of sixty (60) days following written notice of resignation delivered to the Reporting Person by certified or
registered mail, or hand delivery or overnight mail.

          (e) Automatically, upon Executive’s date of death or the date on which Executive is determined to be permanently “disabled” pursuant to the terms of
Lawson’s long-term disability insurance policy.

          3.2 Executive shall remain employed by Lawson until the effective date of termination or resignation, as the case may be, unless the parties shall otherwise
agree; provided, however, following Lawson’s notice of termination without cause or Executive’s notice of resignation in accordance herewith, and until the effective
date thereof, Executive shall perform only those services specifically authorized and directed by the Reporting Person, Chief Executive Officer or the Board of
Directors and shall receive as compensation while so employed only the annual Salary then in effect and benefits as then in effect, subject to modifications in such
benefits as may occur in the interim pertaining to such benefit programs generally affecting officers of Lawson.
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     3.3 Upon the effective date of termination of Executive’s employment under this Agreement:

          (a) Executive, upon notice of termination of his employment, shall immediately return to Lawson all Company property, including without limitation the
property and information described in paragraphs 4 or 5 hereof, in whatever form, together with all copies thereof in his possession or under his control.

          (b) Lawson shall pay to Executive, within thirty (30) days following the effective date of termination of his employment, the sum of any compensation or
benefits or other amounts due to him from Lawson as may be accrued for periods prior to the effective date of termination and not previously paid, less the sum
of any payments, advances, loans and other charges due and owing from Executive to Company.

          (c) In the event of termination pursuant to paragraph 3.1(a) or 3.1(b) hereof during the first twelve-month period following Executive’s commencement
of employment with the Lawson, Lawson shall, in return for Executive’s performance of the Consulting Services (as defined below), pay to Executive an
amount equal to one year’s salary; otherwise, Lawson shall have no obligation to Executive. In the event of termination pursuant to paragraph 3.1(a) or 3.1(b)
hereof after the first twelve-month period following Executive’s commencement of employment with Lawson, Lawson shall, in return for Executive’s
performance of the Consulting Services (as defined below), pay to Executive an amount equal to one year’s annual Salary plus two additional months’ Salary
(to a maximum of twelve additional months Salary) for each complete year Executive has been employed by Lawson after the initial twelve-month period of
employment by the Lawson. (For example, if Executive is employed for six (6) years, Executive would be paid one year’s annual Salary plus an additional ten
(10) months of that annual Salary). Amounts due to Executive under this paragraph 3.3(c) shall be paid to Executive in equal, semi-monthly installments as
though Executive had continued in the employ of the Lawson for the period of time upon which such payment is based. (For example, if Executive is entitled to
an amount equal to six months’ Salary, such amount shall be paid to Executive in equal semi-monthly installments over the six-month period immediately
following the effective date of termination.) The period of time in which Lawson is obligated to provide salary continuation payments to Executive pursuant to
this paragraph 3.3(c) is referred to herein as the “Salary Continuation Period”. During the Salary Continuation Period, Executive shall be entitled to continued
health and life insurance coverage on substantially the same basis afforded to him prior to termination of Executive’s employment. During the Salary
Continuation Period, Executive shall, upon request of the Company, make himself reasonably available on a limited basis from time to time to consult with
Lawson regarding the business affairs of the Company (the “Consulting Services”); provided, however, Executive’s Consulting Services shall be limited to not
more than twenty-four (24) hours in any calendar quarter and so that such consulting does not interfere with Executive’s employment time commitments with
any successor employer.

          (d) Following termination of Executive’s employment with Lawson for any reason, Company shall have no obligation to provide for post-termination
compensation or benefits to Executive (except as provided by paragraph 3.3(b) and as otherwise
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provided by law) unless Executive executes and delivers to the Lawson a release, in form reasonably satisfactory to the Lawson, of all claims against the
Company and its officers, directors, employees and agents.

     4. COMPANY’S PROPERTY.

          All notes, lists, reports, sketches, plans, data contained in computer hardware or software, memoranda or other documents concerning or related to Company’s
or affiliates’ business which are or were created, developed, generated or held by Executive during employment, whether containing or relating to Confidential
Information (as defined in paragraph 14) or not, are the property of Company and shall be promptly delivered to Company upon termination of Executive’s
employment for any reason whatsoever. All notes, lists, reports, sketches, plans, data contained in computer hardware or software, memoranda or other documents
concerning or related to Company’s or affiliates’ business which are or were created, developed, generated or held by Executive during the Salary Continuation
Period, whether containing or relating to Confidential Information (as defined in paragraph 14) or not, are the property of Company and shall be promptly delivered to
Company upon termination of the Salary Continuation Period. During the course of employment and during the Salary Continuation Period, Executive shall not
remove any of the above property, including but not limited to, Confidential Information, or reproductions or copies thereof, or any apparatus containing any such
property or Confidential Information, from Company’s premises without prior written authorization from Company, other than in the normal execution of Executive’s
duties.

     5. EXECUTIVE’S OBLIGATION NOT TO USE OR DISCLOSE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION.

          Executive hereby acknowledges that, during the course of Executive’s employment and during the Salary Continuation Period, Executive will learn or develop
Confidential Information in trust and confidence. Executive agrees to use the Confidential Information solely for the purpose of performing his duties hereunder and
not for his own private use or commercial purposes. Executive acknowledges that unauthorized disclosure or use of Confidential Information, other than in discharge
of Executive’s duties, will cause Company irreparable harm.

          Executive shall maintain Confidential Information in strict confidence at all times and shall not divulge Confidential Information to any unauthorized person or
entity, or use in any manner, or knowingly allow another to use, any Confidential Information, without Lawson’s prior written consent, during the term of
employment, during the Salary Continuation Period or thereafter, for as long as such Confidential Information remains confidential.

          Executive further acknowledges that Company and its affiliates operate and compete internationally and that Company and/or its affiliates will be harmed by the
unauthorized disclosure or use of Confidential Information regardless of where such disclosure or use occurs, and that therefore this confidentiality agreement is not
limited to any single state or other jurisdiction.

6



 

     6. EXECUTIVE’S OBLIGATION NOT TO SOLICIT OR HIRE COMPANY’S EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS.

          During the Restriction Period (as hereinafter defined), Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, for himself or on behalf of any person, firm, or other entity,
solicit, induce or encourage any person to leave her/his employment, agency or office with Company or any of its affiliates. During the Restriction Period, Executive
shall not, directly or indirectly, for himself or on behalf of any person, firm or other entity, hire or retain or participate in hiring or retaining any person who then is an
employee of or agent for Company or any person who has been an employee of or agent for the Company at any time in the ninety (90) days prior to termination of
Executive’s employment, and, in the event Executive is providing Consulting Services following termination of his employment, any person who has been an
employee of or agent for the Company at any time during the Salary Continuation Period, unless Lawson is informed and gives its approval prior to the hiring or
retention. The term “Restriction Period” means the period of time in which Executive is employed by Lawson, and the Salary Continuation Period, if any, and a period
of two (2) years thereafter.

     7. NON-SOLICITATION OF CUSTOMERS.

          Given Executive’s office and his participation in the development, sales, marketing and servicing of Company’s Products, Systems and Services, Executive
acknowledges that Executive will learn or develop Confidential Information relating to the development, sales, marketing or provision of Company’s Products,
Systems and Services, and Company’s customers and prospective customers. Executive further acknowledges that Company’s relationships with its customers are
extremely valuable to it, are generally the result of substantial time and effort devoted by Company, and tend to be near permanent. Therefore, during the Restriction
Period, Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, for himself or on behalf of any person, firm, or other entity, solicit or sell, attempt to sell, or supervise, participate in,
or assist the sale or solicitation of Competitive Products and Systems (i) to any person, firm or other entity to which Company sold any of Company’s Products,
Systems or Services during the last (2) years of Executive’s employment prior to the effective date of termination and (ii) in the event Executive is providing
Consulting Services following termination of his employment, to any person, firm or other entity to which the Company sells any of Company’s Products, Systems or
Services during the Salary Continuation Period. However, this paragraph shall not prohibit the solicitation of any actual or potential customer of Company which does
not fall within the preceding description. This paragraph is independent of the obligations of confidentiality under paragraph 5 hereof.

     8. UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES.

          During the term of this Agreement and at all times thereafter, Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, engage in or assist others in engaging in any unfair trade
practices with respect to Company.

     9. REMEDIES.

          Executive acknowledges that failure to comply with the terms of this Agreement will cause irreparable loss and damage to Company. Therefore, Executive
agrees that, in addition
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and cumulative to any other remedies at law or equity available to Company for Executive’s breach or threatened breach of this Agreement, Company is entitled to
specific performance or injunctive relief against Executive to prevent such damage or breach, and a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction may be
granted to Company for this purpose immediately at its request upon commencement of any suit, without prior notice and without posting any bond. The existence of
any claim or cause of action Executive may have against Company will not constitute a defense thereto.

     10. SEVERABILITY.

          If any of the restrictions in this Agreement is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be excessively broad as to area or time or otherwise, the parties
authorize the court to reduce such restriction to the extent necessary to make such restriction reasonable and to enforce such restriction as so reduced. Any provisions
of this Agreement not so reduced shall remain in full force and effect.

     11. ASSIGNMENT.

          The terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of Lawson, its successors and assigns and Executive and Executive’s
heirs, executors, administrators and other legal representatives. This Agreement is a personal service agreement and shall not be assignable by Executive.

     12. GOVERNING LAW.

          This Agreement shall be interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Illinois, without regard to its conflict of law principles. Any action
commenced to enforce or to determine any right or obligation hereunder shall be commenced only in a federal or state court with jurisdiction over Cook County,
Illinois. Executive consents to personal jurisdiction in any such court.

     13. DEFINITIONS.

          13.1 “Company” shall mean Lawson and any entity owned by Lawson or related to Lawson, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, now or at any time
during Executive’s employment with Lawson and during the Salary Continuation Period, if any, including, but not limited to, Assembly Component Systems, Inc.,
Cronatron Welding Systems, Inc., Drummond American Corporation, Automatic Screw Machine Products Company, C.B. Lynn Company, Lawson Products, Inc.
(Ontario), Lawson Products de Mexico, Assembly Component Systems Limited-UK, and any other entity in which any one or more of them has an interest at any
time during Executive’s employment with Lawson and during the Salary Continuation Period, if any, whether such entity is in the United States or elsewhere.

          13.2 “Competitive Products, Systems and Services” shall mean products, systems or services in existence or under development which are the same as or
substantially similar to or functional equivalents of those of Company including, without limitation, those which are or may be provided to Company’s customers on
behalf of Company by employees, agents, or sales representatives of Company.
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          13.3 “Confidential Information” shall mean all information, including, but not limited to, trade secrets disclosed to Executive or known by Executive as a
consequence of or through Executive’s employment by Lawson, or performance of Consulting Services to Lawson, concerning the products, services, systems,
customers and Agents of Company, and specifically including without limitation: computer programs and software, unpatented inventions, discoveries or
improvements; marketing, organizational and product research and development; marketing techniques; promotional programs; compensation and incentive programs;
customer loyalty programs; inventory systems; business plans; sales forecasts; personnel information, including but not limited to the identity of employees and
Agents of Company, their responsibilities, competence, abilities, and compensation; pricing and financial information; customer lists and information on customers or
their employees, or their needs and preferences for Company’s Products, Systems or Services; information concerning planned or pending acquisitions or divestitures;
and information concerning purchases of major equipment or property, and which:

          (a) has not been made generally available to the public; and

          (b) is useful or of value to the current or anticipated business or research or development activities of Company, or of any customer or supplier of
Company; and

          (c) has been identified to Executive by Company as confidential, either orally or in writing.

Confidential Information shall not include information which:

          (x) is in or hereafter enters the public domain through no fault of Executive;

          (y) is obtained by Executive from a third party having the legal right to use and to disclose the same; or

          (z) was in the possession of Executive prior to receipt from Company (as evidenced by Executive’s written records pre-dating the first date of
employment with Lawson).

Confidential Information also does not include Executive’s general skills and experience as defined under the governing law of this Agreement.

          13.4 “Unauthorized person or entity” shall mean any individual or entity who or which has not signed an appropriate secrecy or confidentiality agreement
with Company, or is not a current or target customer with whom Confidential Information is shared in the mutual interest of that person or entity and Company

     14. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.

          14.1 Covenants contained in this Agreement shall remain in force and effect beyond the termination of Executive’s employment.
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          14.2 During the term hereof and for four years following the effective date of termination of employment for any reason, Executive shall give notice of the
existence and a copy of this Agreement to any prospective employer or business relation.

          14.3 The paragraph headings set forth in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the interpretation or meaning of any
provision hereof.

     15. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.

          This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between Company and Executive with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all previous
communications and agreements between Lawson, including its predecessor, and Executive regarding the subject matter hereof. It may not be changed or modified
except by written instrument signed by Lawson’s Chief Executive Officer and Executive.

     16. EXECUTIVE’S ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND REPRESENTATIONS.

          Executive acknowledges and agrees that the services to be rendered by him to Company are of extraordinary merit and constitute a necessary and valuable
contribution to the general growth and development of Company that result from Executive’s unique personal talent and expertise. In return for the consideration
described in this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, and as a condition precedent
to Company entering into this Agreement, and as an inducement to Lawson to do so, Executive hereby represents, warrants, and covenants as follows:

          16.1 Executive has executed and delivered this Agreement as his free and voluntary act, after having determined that the provisions contained herein are of a
material benefit to him, and that the duties and obligations imposed on him hereunder are fair and reasonable and will not prevent him from earning a livelihood
following the termination of his employment with Company. Executive has read and fully understands the terms and conditions set forth herein, has had time to reflect
on and consider the benefits and consequences of entering into this Agreement, acknowledges that any reference in this Agreement to Company applies also to any
and all subsidiaries and affiliates of Company as defined in paragraph 14, and has had the opportunity to review the terms hereof with an attorney or other
representatives, if he chose to do so.

          16.2 The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Executive does not conflict with, or result in a breach of, or constitute a default under, any agreement or
contract, whether oral or written, to which Executive is a party or by which Executive may be bound.
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          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement at Des Plaines, Illinois, as of the date first written above.
       
EXECUTIVE:    LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC.
       
/s/ Stewart Howley    By:  /s/ Robert J. Washlow
 

     
 

Stewart Howley      Robert J. Washlow
      Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 10.12

February 29, 2008

Mr. Harry Dochelli 
644 Willow Road 
Naperville, IL 60540

Dear Mr. Dochelli,

On behalf of Lawson Products, Inc. (the Company) I am pleased to confirm the offer extended to you for the position of Executive Vice President, Sales and
Marketing. You will report to me and this position will be based at the Company headquarters in Des Plaines, Illinois. The key terms of the offer are as follows:

 •  Your tentative start date will Monday, April 7, 2008, to be discussed and confirmed with you shortly.
 

 •  Your annual salary will be $400,000, paid $16,666.67 semi-monthly and subject to required taxes and applicable deductions.
 

 •  You will be eligible to receive a sign-on bonus of $100,000 (less required taxes and deductions) payable within 30 days following your start date. If your
Lawson employment terminates for any reason (other than your death, permanent and total disability, or job elimination) prior to your first year anniversary,
you agree to repay all sign-on bonus amounts received prior to your termination date within five days thereafter.

 

 •  You are also eligible to receive a one-time $100,000 Performance Bonus after two years of employment, in April 2010, the terms and conditions of which
you and I will discuss and finalize after your start date.

 

 •  As a full-time exempt employee, you will be eligible for our employee benefit package on the first of the month following your date of hire. The enclosed
benefits overview provides a summary of our benefit package which includes comprehensive medical, prescription, dental, vision, and company paid life
insurance, short-term and long-term disability.

 

 •  You may sign up for the Lawson Products 401(k) Retirement Plan on the first day of the month following your date of hire. Provided your continued
employment at that time, you will be eligible for a Profit Sharing contribution to your Retirement Plan account for the 2009 plan year.

 



 

 •  You will be eligible for company paid holidays and will earn vacation time at the rate of 20 days per year. Vacation must be taken each calendar year and is
not carried over.

 

 •  Lawson Products will also cover the cost of an annual executive physical.
 

 •  As an executive team member, you will be eligible for our annual incentive program at a target of 60% of annual base salary, prorated from your date of hire
for the 2008 plan year payout. Your actual incentive paid will be subject to the terms and conditions of the current annual incentive plan at time of payment,
and subject to the achievement of both company and individual performance objectives and requirements.

 

 •  You are also eligible to participate in the company’s long term incentive plan, at a target of 80% of annual base salary, subject to the terms and conditions of
the long term incentive plan.

 

 •  In addition to your salary and incentive opportunity, you will recommended to receive 25,000 stock performance rights (SPRs), subject to final Board of
Directors of the company approval, and subject to the terms and conditions of the Lawson Products, Inc. Stock Performance Plan. Your grant price will be
determined as the price at the end of the day on the date of grant. These SPRs will vest over three years; 8,333 vested in each of years one and two, and
8,334 vested in year three, and will have a ten year exercise period from date of grant.

 

 •  You will be eligible to participate in the Lawson Products, Inc. Executive Deferral Plan, to provide supplemental future retirement income, per the terms and
conditions of the plan and IRS regulations. You may elect to defer a portion of your salary and annual incentive into a tax-deferred Benefit Account where
the value may grow due to interest and earnings on a tax deferred basis. The plan has a minimum deferral election depending on your age at time of deferral,
with a maximum deferral of 80% of salary and 100% of annual incentive.

 

 •  If your employment is terminated without cause by Lawson Products, you will be eligible for severance in the amount of twelve months of salary, plus
2 months of salary for every year of service. If you are terminated due to a change in control, you will be eligible for severance in the amount of twelve
months salary and the equivalent of your target annual bonus.

This letter does not represent a contract of employment for a fixed term, but rather represents the terms and conditions of your initial employment with Lawson
Products. Your employment with the company will be “at will”, meaning that either you or the Company will be entitled to terminate your employment at any time
and for any reason, with or without cause. Although your job duties, title, compensation and benefits, as well as the Company’s personnel policies

 



 

and procedures may change from time to time, the “at will” nature of your employment may only be changed in an express written agreement signed by you and me.

This offer is contingent upon successful completion of a pre-employment background investigation. By signing this offer letter agreement, you represent that you are
under no contractual commitments inconsistent with your obligations to Lawson Products, Inc, and are not otherwise under risk of any conflict of interest or
confidentiality disclosure. As required by law, your employment is contingent upon your providing legal proof of identity and proof of citizenship or eligibility to
work in this country, which will be confirmed on your date of hire.

Harry, we are truly excited about having you join the team at Lawson Products. If this offer is acceptable to you, please sign below and return the original letter to me
as soon as possible. This offer, if not accepted, will expire at the close of business on March 14, 2008. If you have any questions about any portion of this offer, please
feel free to contact me.

Best Regards,

Thomas Neri
Chief Executive Officer

CC: Mary Ellen Schopp, Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Enclosure: Employee Benefits Packet

This is the full and complete agreement of terms of employment between me and the Company, and I agree to the terms of this offer of employment and accept the
offer:
     
/s/ Harry Dochelli
 

Harry Dochelli  
3/3/08
 

Date  
 

 



Exhibit 10.14

Executive Services Agreement

June 23, 2008

Mr. Thomas J. Neri
Chief Executive Officer
Lawson Products. Inc.
1666 East Touhy
Des Plaines, IL60018

Dear Tom:

Tatum, LLC (“Tatum,” “we,” or “us”) is pleased that Lawson Products, Inc. (the “Company,” “you” or “your”) desires to employ Terry Blanchard, a member of Tatum
(the “Employee”), to serve as Chief Financial Officer of the Company. Prior to agreeing to serve as Principal Accounting Officer of the Company, Employee requests
up to two weeks to conduct his own due diligence with regards to Company’s accounting, controls and procedures and conduct discussions with assigned audit partner
from Ernst & Young and Chairman of the Audit Committee. This letter along with the terms and conditions attached as Exhibit A and any other exhibits or schedules
attached hereto (collectively, the “Agreement”) confirms our mutual understanding of the terms and conditions upon which we will make available to you the
Employee and Tatum’s intellectual capital to the Employee for use in connection with the Employee’s employment relationship with you.

Effective as of June 24, 2008, the Employee will become your employee serving in the capacity set forth above. The Employee will work on a full-time basis and be
subject to the supervision, direction and control of and report directly to the Company’s management. While the Employee will remain a member of Tatum and have
access to Tatum’s intellectual capital to be used in connection with the Employee’s employment relationship with you, we will have no supervision, direction or
control over the Employee with respect to the services provided by the Employee to you.

You will pay directly to the Employee a salary of $32,200 a month (“Salary”). In addition, you will reimburse the Employee for out-of-pocket expenses incurred by
the Employee to the same extent that you reimburse other senior managers for such expenses. In addition, you will pay directly to Tatum a fee of $6,800 semi-monthly
on the 1st and 15th of each month (“Fees”). The parties acknowledge and agree that the Salary and Fees set forth above are based upon this Agreement having a
minimum term of three months (the “Minimum Term”). In the event you terminate this Agreement prior to the expiration of the Minimum Term other than for the
Employee’s material failure to perform the obligations of his or her position with the Company, provided the Employee fails to cure such breach within 10 days after
receipt of written notice of such breach, you agree that the Salary shall be retroactively increased to $40,250 a month and the Fees shall be retroactively increased to
$17,000 a month. You agree to pay upon the termination of this Agreement a lump sum amount (i) to the Employee equal to the difference between the Salary actually
paid and the Salary that should have been paid taking into account the retroactive adjustment, and (ii) to Tatum equal to the difference between the Fees actually paid
and the Fees that should have been paid taking into account the retroactive adjustment. Payments for the first and last pay periods will be prorated based on the
number of days worked and the number of work days in the pay period. Fees for the first and last periods worked will be invoiced by Tatum and paid within ten
(10) days of receipt of invoice.

 



 

Payments to the Employee shall be made in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll and expense reimbursement policies, Payments to Tatum should be made
in accordance with the instructions set forth on Exhibit A on the 1st and 15th of each month.

Except as specifically provided for herein, you will have no obligation to provide the Employee with any health insurance benefits or equity bonuses. In lieu of the
Employee participating in the Company-sponsored employee health insurance plans, the Employee will remain on his or her current health insurance plans. As an
employee, the Employee will be eligible for any Company vacation and holidays consistent with the Company’s policy as it applies to senior management. The
Employee will be exempt from any delay periods otherwise required for vacation and holiday eligibility.

You will have the opportunity to make the Employee a permanent, full-time member of Company management at any time during the term of this Agreement by
entering into another form of Tatum agreement, at a fee calculated as 35% of first full year base salary plus bonus with final terms negotiated at such time.

As a condition to providing the services hereunder, we require a security deposit in an amount equal to $15,000 (the “Deposit”), which will only be used by us under
the limited circumstances described on Exhibit A. The Deposit is due upon the execution of this Agreement.

The Company will provide Tatum or the Employee with written evidence that the Company maintains directors’ and officers’ insurance covering the Employee in an
amount reasonably acceptable to the Employee at no additional cost to the Employee, and the Company will maintain such insurance at all times while this Agreement
remains in effect. Furthermore, the Company will maintain such insurance coverage with respect to occurrences arising during the term of this Agreement for at least
three years following the termination or expiration of this Agreement or will purchase a directors’ and officers’ extended reporting period or “tail” policy to cover the
Employee.

We appreciate the opportunity to serve you and believe this Agreement accurately reflects our mutual understanding. We would be pleased to discuss this Agreement
with you at your convenience. If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding, please sign a copy of this Agreement and return it to my attention.

Sincerely,
Tatum,LLC

Robert J. Stegmann
Managing Partner

Accepted and agreed:
Lawson Products, Inc.
     
By: 
Name: 

/s/ Thomas J. Neri
 

Thomas J. Neri  
 

Title:  Chief Executive Officer   
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Exhibit A

Terms and Conditions

1. Relationship of the Parties. The parties agree that Tatum will be serving the Company as an independent contractor for all purposes and not as an employee, agent,
partner of, or joint venturer with the Company and that the Employee will be serving the Company as an employee of the Company for all purposes and not as an
independent contractor.

 

2. Payment Terms, Payments to Tatum should be made by electronic transfer in accordance with the instructions set forth below or such alternative instructions as
provided by Tatum from time to time. Any amounts not paid when due may be subject to a periodic service charge equal to the lesser of 1.5% per month and the
maximum amount allowed under applicable law, until such amounts are paid in full, including assessed service charges. In lieu of terminating this Agreement.
Tatum may suspend the provision of services (including the Employee’s services) if amounts owed are not paid in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

 

  Bank Name: Wells Fargo, N.A.
Branch: San Francisco
Account Name: Tatum, LLC
Account Number: 4121546642
Routing Number for ACH Payments: 121000248
Swift Code: WFBIUS6S
Please reference Lawson Products in the body of the payment.

 

3. Deposit. If the Company breaches this Agreement and fails to cure such breach as provided for herein, Tatum will be entitled to apply the Deposit to its or the
Employee’s damages resulting from such breach. In the event the Deposit falls below the amount required, the Company will pay Tatum an additional amount
equal to the shortfall. Upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement, Tatum will return to the Company the balance of the Deposit remaining after
application of any amounts to damages as provided for herein, including, without limitation, unfulfilled payment obligations of the Company to Tatum or the
Employee.

 

4. Termination.

(a) Either party may terminate this Agreement by providing the other party a minimum of 30 days’ advance written notice and such termination will be effective as
of the date specified in such notice, provided that such date is no earlier than 30 days after the date of delivery of the notice. Tatum will continue to provide, and
the Company will continue to pay for, the services until the termination effective date.

(b) Tatum may terminate this Agreement immediately upon written notice to the Company if: (i) the Company is engaged in or asks Tatum or the Employee to
engage in or ignore any illegal or unethical activity; (ii) the Employee ceases to be a member of Tatum for any reason; (iii) the Employee becomes disabled; or
(iv) the Company fails to pay any amounts due to Tatum or the Employee when due. For purposes of this Agreement, disability will be defined by the applicable
policy of disability insurance or, in the absence of such insurance, by Tatum’s management acting in good faith. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in lieu of
terminating this Agreement under (ii) and (iii) above, upon the mutual agreement of the parties, the Employee may be replaced by another Tatum member.

(c) In the event that a party commits a breach of this Agreement, other than for the reasons described in the above Section, and fails to cure the same within
10 days following delivery by the non-breaching party of written notice specifying the nature of the breach, the non-breaching party may terminate this Agreement
effective upon written notice of such termination.

(d) The expiration or termination of this Agreement will not destroy or diminish the binding force and effect of any of the provisions of this Agreement that
expressly, or by reasonable implication, come into or continue in effect on or after such expiration or termination, including, without limitation, provisions relating
to payment of fees and expenses (including witness fees and expenses), hiring the Employee, governing law, arbitration, limitation of liability, and indemnity.

5. Hiring the Employee Outside of a Tatum Agreement. During the term of this Agreement and for the 12-month period following the termination or expiration of
this Agreement, other than in connection with this Agreement or another Tatum agreement, the Company will not employ the Employee, or engage the
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  Employee as an independent contractor. The parties recognize and agree that a breach by the Company of this provision would result in the loss to Tatum of the
Employee’s valuable expertise and revenue potential and that such injury will be impossible or very difficult to ascertain. Therefore, in the event this provision is
breached, Tatum will be entitled to receive as liquidated damages an amount equal to 45% of the Annualized Compensation (as defined below), which amount the
parties agree is reasonably proportionate to the probable loss to Tatum and is not intended as a penalty. The amount will be due and payable to Tatum upon written
demand to the Company. If a court or arbitrator determines that liquidated damages are not appropriate for such breach, Tatum will have the right to seek actual
damages and/or injunctive relief. “Annualized Compensation” means the equivalent of the Employee’s Salary calculated on a full-time annual basis plus the
maximum amount of any bonus for which the Employee was eligible with respect to the then-current bonus year.

 

6. Warranties and Disclaimers. It is understood that Tatum does not have a contractual obligation to the Company other than to provide the Employee to the Company
and to provide the Employee access to Tatum’s intellectual capital to be used in connection with the Employee’s employment relationship with the Company. The
Company acknowledges that any information, including any resources delivered through Tatum’s proprietary information and technology system, will be provided
by Tatum as a tool to be used in the discretion of the Company. Tatum will not be responsible for any action taken by the Company in following or declining to
follow any of Tatum’s or the Employee’s advice or recommendations. Tatum represents to the Company that Tatum has conducted its standard screening and
investigation procedures with respect to the Employee becoming a member of Tatum, and the results of the same were satisfactory to Tatum. Tatum disclaims all
other warranties, whether express, implied or statutory. Without limiting the foregoing, Tatum makes no representation or warranty as to the services provided by
the Employee, or the accuracy or reliability of reports, projections, certifications, opinions, representations, or any other information prepared or made by Tatum or
the Employee (collectively, the “Information”) even if derived from Tatum’s intellectual capital, and Tatum will not be liable for any claims of reliance on the
Information or that the Information does not comply with federal, state or local laws or regulations. The services provided by Tatum hereunder are for the sole
benefit of the Company and not any unnamed third parties. The services will not constitute an audit, review, or compilation, or any other type of financial
statement reporting or attestation engagement that is subject to the rules of the AICPA or other similar state or national professional bodies and will not result in an
opinion or any form of assurance on internal controls.

 

7. Limitation of Liability; Indemnity.

(a) The liability of Tatum in any and all categories and for any and all causes arising out of this Agreement, whether based in contract, tort, negligence, strict
liability or otherwise will, in the aggregate, not exceed the actual Fees paid by the Company to Tatum over the previous two months’ of the Agreement. In no event
will Tatum be liable for incidental, consequential, punitive, indirect or special damages, including, without limitation, any interruption or loss of business, profit or
goodwill. As a condition for recovery of any liability, the Company must assert any claim against Tatum within three months after discovery or 60 days after the
termination or expiration of this Agreement, whichever is earlier.

(b) The Company agrees to indemnify Tatum and the Employee to the full extent permitted by law for any losses, costs, damages, and expenses (including
reasonable attorneys’ fees), as they are incurred, in connection with any cause of action, suit, or other proceeding arising in connection with the Employee’s
services to the Company.

8. Governing Law, Arbitration, and Witness Fees.

(a) This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, without regard to conflicts of laws provisions.

(b) If the parties are unable to resolve any dispute arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, the parties agree and stipulate that any such disputes will be
settled by binding arbitration in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”). The arbitration will be
conducted in the New York, New York office of the AAA by a single arbitrator selected by the parties according to the rules of the AAA, and the decision of the
arbitrator will be final and binding on both parties. In the event that the parties fail to agree on the selection of the arbitrator within 30 days after either party’s
request for arbitration under this Section, the arbitrator will be chosen by the AAA. The arbitrator may in his or her discretion order documentary discovery but
will not allow depositions without a showing of compelling need. The arbitrator will render his or her decision within 90 days after the call for arbitration.
Judgment on the award of the arbitrator may be entered in and enforced by any court of competent
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jurisdiction. The arbitrator will have no authority to award damages in excess or in contravention of this Agreement and may not amend or disregard any provision
of this Agreement, including this Section. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may seek appropriate injunctive relief from any court of competent
jurisdiction, and Tatum may pursue payment of undisputed amounts through any court of competent jurisdiction.

     (c) In the event any member or employee of Tatum (including, without limitation, the Employee to the extent not otherwise entitled in his or her capacity as an
employee of the Company) is requested or authorized by the Company or is required by government regulation, subpoena, or other legal process to produce
documents or appear as witnesses in connection with any action, suit or other proceeding initiated by a third party against the Company or by the Company against
a third party, the Company will, so long as Tatum is not a party to the proceeding in which the information is sought, reimburse Tatum for its member’s or
employee’s professional time (based on customary rates) and expenses, as well as the fees and expenses of its counsel (including the allocable cost of in-house
counsel), incurred in responding to such requests.

9. Miscellaneous.

     (a) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with regard to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all agreements, whether
oral or written, between the parties with respect to its subject matter. No amendment or modification to this Agreement will be valid unless in writing and signed
by both parties.

     (b) If any portion of this Agreement is found to be invalid, or unenforceable, such provision will be deemed severable from the remainder of this Agreement
and will not cause the invalidity or unenforceability of the remainder of this Agreement, except to the extent that the severed provision deprives either party of a
substantial portion of its bargain.

     (c) Neither the Company nor Tatum will be deemed to have waived any rights or remedies accruing under this Agreement unless such waiver is in writing and
signed by the party electing to waive the right or remedy. The waiver by any party of a breach or violation of any provision of this Agreement will not operate or
be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach of such provision or any other provision of this Agreement.

     (d) Neither party will be liable for any delay or failure to perform under this Agreement (other than with respect to payment obligations) to the extent such
delay or failure is a result of an act of God, war, earthquake, civil disobedience, court order, labor dispute, or other cause beyond such party’s reasonable control.

     (e) The Company may not assign its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the express written consent of Tatum. Nothing in this Agreement will
confer any rights upon any person or entity other than the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns and the Employee.

     (f) The Company agrees to reimburse Tatum for all costs and expenses incurred by Tatum in enforcing collection of any monies due under this Agreement,
including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees.

     (g) The Company agrees to allow Tatum to use the Company’s logo and name on Tatum’s website and other marketing materials for the sole purpose of
identifying the Company as a client of Tatum. Tatum will not use the Company’s logo or name in any press release or general circulation advertisement without the
Company’s prior written consent.
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EXHIBIT 10.24

FIRST AMENDMENT TO FIRST AMENDED
AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

     This FIRST AMENDMENT TO FIRST AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of March 9, 2009 (this “Amendment”), is executed by
and among LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Lawson”), with its principal place of business and chief executive office at 1666 E. Touhy Ave.,
Des Plaines, Illinois, 60018, various SUBSIDIARIES OF LAWSON identified on the signature pages hereto (collectively, the “Borrower”), and BANK OF
AMERICA, N.A., successor by merger to LASALLE BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (together with its successors and assigns, the “Lender”).

R E C I T A L S:

     A. The Borrower and the Lender are party to a First Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of November 7, 2008 (as amended, restated, supplemented
or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”), pursuant to which the Lender agreed to provide to the Borrower a revolving credit facility in the
original maximum principal amount of $75,000,000.

     B. The Borrower has requested that the Lender agree to amend various provisions of the Credit Agreement and the Lender is willing to agree to such amendments
on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.

     NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged,
Borrower and Lender hereby agree as follows:

A G R E E M E N T S:

     1. RECITALS. The foregoing Recitals are hereby made a part of this Amendment.

     2. DEFINITIONS. Capitalized words and phrases used herein without definition shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such words and phrases in the
Credit Agreement.

     3. AMENDMENTS.

          3.1. Amendments to Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement is amended and restated in its entirety as set forth on Exhibit A hereto.

          3.2. Amendments to Exhibit A1 to Credit Agreement. Exhibit A1 to the Credit Agreement is amended and restated in its entirety as set forth on Exhibit B
hereto.

          3.3. Amendments to Exhibit A2 to Credit Agreement. Exhibit A2 to the Credit Agreement is amended and restated in its entirety as set forth on Exhibit C
hereto.

          3.4. Amendments to Schedule 6.12 to Credit Agreement. Schedule 6.12 to the Credit Agreement is amended and restated in its entirety as set forth on Exhibit D
hereto.

          3.5. Amendments to Schedule 8.2 to Credit Agreement. Schedule 8.2 to the Credit Agreement is amended and restated in its entirety as set forth on Exhibit E
hereto.

 



 

     4. ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF BORROWER. Each Borrower hereby acknowledges and agrees that, to the best of its knowledge: (a) none of the Borrowers has
any defense, offset, or counterclaim with respect to the payment of any sum owed to the Lender under the Loan Documents, or with respect to the performance or
observance of any warranty or covenant contained in the Loan Documents; and (b) the Lender has performed all obligations and duties owed to the Borrower through
the date of this Amendment.

     5. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. To induce Lender to enter into this Amendment, the Borrowers make the following representations and warranties
to the Lender on a joint and several basis, each of which shall survive the execution and delivery of this Amendment:

          5.1. Compliance with Credit Agreement. On the date hereof, no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.

          5.2. Representations and Warranties. On the date hereof, and after giving effect to this Amendment, the representations and warranties of each Borrower in the
Loan Documents are true and correct in all material respects (except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date, in which
case they are true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date).

          5.3. Power and Authority. Each Borrower is duly authorized to execute, deliver and perform this Amendment. The execution, delivery and performance of this
Amendment and the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, have been duly authorized by all necessary action, and do not (a) require any consent or approval of any
holders of capital stock of, or other equity interest in, any Borrower, other than those already obtained; (b) contravene the terms of the Borrower’s Articles of
Incorporation and by-laws, Articles of Organization and Operating Agreement, or other such similar entity formation and operating agreement; (c) contravene any
contractual or governmental restriction binding upon the Borrower; or (d) except in favor of the Lender pursuant to the Security Documents, result in the imposition of
any Lien upon any property of the Borrower under any existing indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan or credit agreement or other material agreement or instrument
to which the Borrower is a party or by which it or any of its property may be bound or affected.

          5.4. Enforceability. This Amendment and the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, are legal, valid and binding obligations of each Borrower, enforceable in
accordance with its terms, except as enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally.

     6. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT. This Amendment shall become effective (the “First Amendment Effective Date”) as of the date above first written after receipt
by Lender of the following:

          6.1. Amendment. This Amendment executed by Borrower and Lender.

          6.2. Replacement Note. A Replacement First Amended and Restated Promissory Note issued and delivered by the Borrowers to the Lender.

          6.3. Security Documents. A Security Agreement, Patent and Trademark Security Agreement, and Copyright Security Agreement, each in form and substance
satisfactory to the Lender and executed by each Borrower and Lender.
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          6.4. UCC Matters. Acknowledgments of all filings or recordations necessary to perfect its Liens in the Collateral, as well as UCC and Lien searches and other
evidence satisfactory to Lender that such Liens are the only Liens upon the Collateral, except Permitted Liens.

          6.5. Company Certificates. A certificate of a duly authorized officer of each Borrower, certifying (i) that true and complete copies of such Borrower’s Articles
of Incorporation and by-laws, Articles of Organization and Operating Agreement, or other such similar entity formation and operating agreement and all amendments
thereof are attached thereto (or have not been amended or modified since the Closing Date); (ii) that true, correct and complete copies of the resolutions adopted by
the unanimous written consent of the boards of directors or the written consent of the sole member of each Borrower authorizing the execution, delivery and
performance by each Borrower of this Amendment and such other ancillary documents, instruments and certificates to which each Borrower is or is intended to be a
party are attached thereto; and (iii) to the title, name and signature of each Person authorized to sign this Amendment and such other ancillary documents, instruments
and certificates to which each Borrower is or is intended to be a party.

          6.6. Opinion of Counsel. A written opinion of Jenner & Block LLP, counsel to the Borrowers, in form and substance satisfactory to Agent

          6.7. Insurance Certificates. Agent shall have received copies of policies or certificates of insurance for the insurance policies carried by Borrower as required by
the Loan Documents.

          6.8. Other Documents. Such other documents, certificates, resolutions, and/or opinions of counsel as Lender may request.

          6.9. Payment of Amendment Fee. Payment of an amendment fee in the amount of $100,000.

          6.10. Payment of Legal Fees and Expenses. Payment of all legal fees and expenses of counsel to Lender that are owing in connection with the Credit Agreement
and this Amendment and for which Borrower has received an invoice.

     7. GENERAL.

          7.1. Post-Closing Agreements. Borrower agrees to deliver to the Lender:

          (a) Within ninety (90) days following the First Amendment Effective Date, either (i) evidence that Borrower has closed its accounts with MB Financial Bank
or (ii) duly executed Qualifying Control Agreements in respect of such accounts.

          (b) Within sixty (60) days following the First Amendment Effective Date, duly executed landlord waivers in respect of the following locations of Borrower
following locations:

          (i) Des Plaines, IL

          (ii) Centralia, MO

          (iii) Memphis, TN

          (iv) Lenexa, KS

          (v) Stuttgart, AZ
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          (c) Within forty-five (45) days following the First Amendment Effective Date, appropriate endorsements for the insurance certificates delivered on the First
Amendment Effective Date.

          (d) Within thirty (30) days to obtain good standing certificate for Lawson Products, Inc., a Georgia corporation.

          7.2. Governing Law. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE EXECUTED AND HAS BEEN DELIVERED AND ACCEPTED IN CHICAGO,
ILLINOIS BY SIGNING AND DELIVERING IT THERE. ANY DISPUTE BETWEEN THE PARTIES HERETO ARISING OUT OF, CONNECTED WITH,
RELATED TO, OR INCIDENTAL TO THE RELATIONSHIP ESTABLISHED BETWEEN THEM IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, AND
WHETHER ARISING IN CONTRACT, TORT, EQUITY, OR OTHERWISE, SHALL BE RESOLVED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNAL LAWS AND
NOT THE CONFLICTS OF LAW PROVISIONS OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS.

          7.3. Severability. WHEREVER POSSIBLE, EACH PROVISION OF THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE INTERPRETED IN SUCH MANNER AS TO BE
EFFECTIVE AND VALID UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, BUT IF ANY PROVISION OF THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE PROHIBITED BY OR INVALID
UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, SUCH PROVISION SHALL BE INEFFECTIVE ONLY TO THE EXTENT OF SUCH LAW, SUCH PROVISION SHALL BE
INEFFECTIVE ONLY TO THE EXTENT OF SUCH PROHIBITION OR INVALIDITY, WITHOUT INVALIDATING THE REMAINDER OF SUCH PROVISION
OR THE REMAINING PROVISIONS OF THIS AMENDMENT.

          7.4. Successors and Assigns. Whenever in this Amendment there is reference made to any of the parties hereto, such reference shall be deemed to include,
wherever applicable, a reference to the successors and assigns of Borrower and the successors and assigns of Lender, and the provisions of this Amendment shall be
binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of said successors and assigns. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Borrower may not assign or otherwise
transfer its rights or obligations under this Amendment without the prior written consent of Lender.

          7.5. Continuing Force and Effect of Loan Agreement, Other Agreements, and Guaranty. Except as specifically modified or amended by the terms of this
Amendment, all other terms and provisions of the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents are incorporated by reference herein, and in all respects, shall
continue in full force and effect. Each Borrower, by execution of this Amendment, hereby reaffirms, assumes and binds itself to all of the obligations, duties, rights,
covenants, terms and conditions that are contained in the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

          7.6. References to Loan Agreement. Each reference in the Credit Agreement to “this Agreement”, “hereunder”, “hereof”, or words of like import, and each
reference to the Credit Agreement in any and all instruments or documents delivered in connection therewith, shall be deemed to refer to the Credit Agreement, as
previously amended and as amended hereby.

          7.7. Expenses. Borrower shall pay all costs and expenses in connection with the preparation of this Amendment and other related loan documents, including,
without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and time charges of attorneys who may be employees of Lender. Borrower shall pay any and all stamp and other taxes,
UCC search fees, filing fees, and other costs and expenses in connection with the execution and delivery of this Amendment and the other instruments and documents
to be delivered hereunder, and agrees to save Lender harmless from and against any and all liabilities with respect to or resulting from any delay in paying or omission
to pay such costs and expenses.
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          7.8. Release of Claims Against Bank. In consideration of the Lender executing and delivering this Amendment, each of the Borrowers does each hereby release
and discharge the Lender of and from any and all claims, harm, injury, and damage of any and every kind, known or unknown, legal or equitable, which any Borrower
may have against the Lender from the date of their respective first contact with the Lender until the date of this Amendment, including any claim arising from any
reports (environmental reports, surveys, appraisals, etc.) prepared by any parties hired or recommended by the Lender. Each of the Borrowers confirms to the Lender
that they have reviewed the effect of this release with competent legal counsel of their choice, or have been afforded the opportunity to do so, prior to execution of this
Amendment and do each acknowledge and agree that the Lender is relying upon this release in executing and delivering this Amendment.

          7.9. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed an original,
and it shall not be necessary in making proof of this Amendment to produce or account for more than one such counterpart executed by the Borrower against whom
enforcement is sought.
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     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this First Amendment to First Amended and Restated Credit Agreement as of the date first above
written.
       
  BORROWERS:   
       
  LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a Delaware   
  corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
  Name: 

 

Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   
       
  LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a Georgia   
  corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
  Name: 

 

Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   
       
  LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a New Jersey   
  corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
  Name: 

 

Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   
       
  LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a Nevada   
  corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
  Name: 

 

Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   
       
  LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a Texas   
  corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri

 

  
  Name: Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   

Signature page to First Amendment

 



 

       
  LP SERVICE CO., an Illinois corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
  Name: 

 

Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   
       
  LPI HOLDINGS, INC., an Illinois corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
  Name: 

 

Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   
       
  CRONATRON WELDING SYSTEMS, LLC, a   
  North Carolina limited liability company   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
  Name: 

 

Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   
       
  DRUMMOND AMERICAN LLC, an Illinois   
  limited liability company   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
  Name: 

 

Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   
       
  ASSEMBLY COMPONENT SYSTEMS, INC., an   
  Illinois corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
  Name: 

 

Thomas Neri   
  Title:  Chief Executive Officer   
       
  AUTOMATIC SCREW MACHINE PRODUCTS   
  COMPANY, INC., an Alabama corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
  Name: 

 

Thomas Neri   
  Title:  Chief Executive Officer   

Signature page to First Amendment

 



 

       
  C. B. LYNN COMPANY, an Illinois corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
  Name: 

 

Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   
       
  RUTLAND TOOL & SUPPLY CO., A Nevada   
  corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
  Name: 

 

Thomas Neri   
  Title:  Chief Executive Officer   

Signature page to First Amendment

 



 

       
  LENDER:   
       
  BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., a national banking   
  association   
       
  By:  /s/ David Bacon   
  Name: 

 

David Bacon   
  Title:  Vice President   

 



 

EXHIBIT A
(FIRST AMENDMENT CONFORMED VERSION)

FIRST AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

BY AND BETWEEN

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO LASALLE BANK
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

AND

LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC.,
AND CERTAIN OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES

 



 

FIRST AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

     This First Amended and Restated Credit Agreement together with all Exhibits and Schedules attached hereto and hereby made a part hereof (“Agreement”) is made
as of the 7th day of November, 2008, by and between Lawson Products, Inc., a Delaware Corporation (“Lawson”), with its principal place of business and chief
executive office at 1666 E. Touhy Ave., Des Plaines, Illinois, 60018, various Subsidiaries of Lawson listed on Schedule 6.12 hereof (Lawson and the Subsidiaries
other than Lawson Canada may be referred to herein collectively as the “Borrower”), and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., successor by merger to LASALLE BANK
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (the “Lender”), its successors and/or assigns.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS:

     A. Lender has heretofore made a loan (“Original Loan”) to Borrower in the maximum principal amount of Fifty Million and no/100 Dollars ($50,000,000) pursuant
to the terms and conditions of a Credit Agreement dated as of March 27, 2001 between Borrower and Lender, (the “Existing Credit Agreement”), and as evidenced by
a Promissory Note dated as March 27, 2001, in the principal amount of the Loan made payable by Borrower to the order of Lender (“Existing Note”).

     B. The Existing Credit Agreement has been amended (i) as of August 12, 2002 to, among other things, add a letter of credit subfacility; (ii) as of July 11, 2003 to,
among other things, increase the availability under the letter of credit subfacility; (iii) as of May 31, 2005 to, among other things, increase the Maximum Facility to
$75,000,000, (iv) as of November 30, 2006 to, among other things, modify the interest rate to be charged on the facility; (v) as of January 31, 2007 to, among other
things, acknowledge Lawson’s liquidation and dissolution Assembly Component Systems, Limited, a United Kingdom corporation (“ACSL”), a Subsidiary of
Lawson, and therefore release ACSL from the facility; (vi) as of June 21, 2007 to, among other things, increase the letter of credit subfacility and modify certain
financial covenants; (vii) as of December 26, 2007 to, among other things, increase certain subfacilities and to modify certain financial covenants; and (viii) as of
August 1, 2008, to, among other things, modify certain covenants to provide for the accounting of the Federal Settlement Amount, and waive certain Events of
Defaults resulting from the Federal Settlement Amount. The Existing Credit Agreement, as amended by the aforedescribed modifications may be hereinafter referred
to as the “Original Credit Agreement.”

     C. The Borrower and the Lender now desire to amend and restate the Original Credit Agreement, by entering into this Agreement to set forth the terms and
conditions governing the Loans (as hereinafter defined).

     D. Each Subsidiary has determined that its joint and several liabilities under this Agreement are in furtherance of its corporate or other organizational purposes and
in its best interest and that it will derive substantial benefit, whether directly or indirectly, from entering into such obligations by, among other things, enabling (i) each
Subsidiary to receive proceeds from the Loan to be used as working capital, (ii) each Subsidiary to directly receive proceeds for capital expenditures or indirectly
receive capital assets from capital expenditures made with the

 



 

proceeds received by other Subsidiary and (iii) each Subsidiary to obtain additional capital in the future by direct borrowing or from the proceeds of borrowings of a
Subsidiary or Affiliate.

     NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, and the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein, the Borrower agrees to amend and restate the
Original Credit Agreement in its entirety subject to and upon the following terms and conditions:

AGREEMENT

     For and in consideration of the foregoing, which is made a part hereof, the mutual promises, covenants and conditions contained herein, and other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

1. DEFINITIONS.

     1.1 General Terms. When used herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“Accounting Systems Letter” shall have the meaning set forth in subsection 7.1(G).

“Accounts” shall mean all present and future rights of the Borrower to payment for goods sold or leased or for services rendered, which are not evidenced by
instruments or chattel paper, and whether or not they have been earned by performance.

“Affiliate” shall mean any Person (a) that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the
Borrower, (b) that directly or beneficially owns or holds 25% or more of any class of the voting stock of the Borrower, or (c) 25% or more of the voting stock (or
in the case of a Person which is not a corporation, 25% or more of the equity interest) of which is owned directly or beneficially or held by the Borrower. As used
in this definition, “control” (including with correlative meanings the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”) means the possession, directly or
indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract
or otherwise. Unless the context otherwise clearly requires, any reference to an “Affiliate” is a reference to an Affiliate of the Borrower.

“Applicable Margin” shall mean the rate per annum added to the BBA LIBOR Daily Floating Rate to determine the interest rate for BBA LIBOR Daily Floating
Rate LIBOR Loans and added to the BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) to determine the interest rate for BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically)
LIBOR Loans, in each case as set forth on the Pricing Grid set forth on Grid A attached hereto and made a part hereof.

“Assets” shall mean the total of all assets appearing on a balance sheet of the Borrower prepared in accordance with GAAP (with Inventory being valued at the
lower of cost or market).

“Authorized Officer” shall mean, at any time, an individual whose signature has been certified to Lender on behalf of Borrower pursuant to a Signature
Authorization
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Certificate actually received by Lender at such time and whose authority has not been revoked prior to such time in the manner prescribed in such Signature
Authorization Certificate.

“BBA LIBOR Daily Floating Rate” shall mean a fluctuating rate of interest equal to the rate per annum equal to the British Bankers Association LIBOR Rate
(“BBA LIBOR”), as published by Reuters (or other commercially available source providing quotations of BBA LIBOR as selected by Lender from time to time)
as determined for each banking day at approximately 11:00 a.m. London time two (2) Business Days prior to the date in question, for U.S. Dollar deposits (for
delivery on the first day of such interest period) with a one month term, as adjusted from time to time in Lender’s sole discretion for reserve requirements, deposit
insurance assessment rates and other regulatory costs. If such rate is not available at such time for any reason, then the rate for that interest period will be
determined by such alternate method as reasonably selected by Lender.

“BBA LIBOR Daily Floating Rate LIBOR Loan” or “BBA LIBOR Daily Floating Rate LIBOR Loans” shall mean that portion, and collectively those portions, of
the aggregate outstanding principal balance of the Loans that bear interest at the BBA LIBOR Daily Floating Rate plus the Applicable Margin.

“BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically)” shall mean a rate of interest equal to the rate per annum equal to the BBA LIBOR, as published by Reuters (or other
commercially available source providing quotations of BBA LIBOR as selected by Lender from time to time) as determined for each Adjustment Date at
approximately 11:00 a.m. London time two (2) Business Days prior to the Adjustment Date, for U.S. Dollar deposits (for delivery on the first day of such Interest
Period) for the applicable Interest Period, as adjusted from time to time in Lender’s sole discretion for reserve requirements, deposit insurance assessment rates and
other regulatory costs. If such rate is not available at such time for any reason, then the rate for that Interest Period will be determined by such alternate method as
reasonably selected by Lender. The BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) will be adjusted on the last day of every Interest Period (the “Adjustment Date”)
and remain fixed until the next Adjustment Date. If the Adjustment Date in any particular month would otherwise fall on a day that is not a Business Day then, at
Lender’s option, the Adjustment Date for that particular month will be the first Business Day immediately following thereafter.

“BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan” or “BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loans” shall mean that portion, and collectively
those portions, of the aggregate outstanding principal balance of the Loans that bear interest at the BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) plus the Applicable
Margin.

“BBA LIBOR Request” shall mean a request by Lawson, on behalf of Borrower, for an advance, continuation, or conversion of a portion of a Revolving Loan
pursuant to Section 2.6(H).

“Bank Products” shall mean any service or facility extended to the Borrower or any Subsidiary by the Lender or any Affiliate of the Lender, including: (a) credit
cards, (b)
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credit card processing services, (c) debit cards, (d) purchase cards, (e) ACH Transactions, (f) cash management, including controlled disbursement, accounts or
services, or (g) Hedging Agreements.

“Bank Product Agreements” shall mean those certain agreements entered into from time to time by the Borrower with the Lender or any Affiliate of the Lender
concerning Bank Products.

“Bank Product Obligations” shall mean all obligations, liabilities, contingent reimbursement obligations, fees, and expenses owing by the Borrower to the Lender
or any Affiliate of the Lender pursuant to or evidenced by the Lender Product Agreements and irrespective of whether for the payment of money, whether direct or
indirect, absolute or contingent, due or to become due, now existing or hereafter arising.

“Bankruptcy Code” shall have the meaning set forth in subsection 6.6 hereof.

“Borrower” shall mean Lawson and the Subsidiaries of Lawson identified on Schedule 6.12 hereof with the exclusion of Lawson Canada.

“Business Day” shall mean a day other than Saturday or Sunday on which banks in Chicago are open for the transaction of banking business and if such day relates
to BBA LIBOR, any such day on which dealings in Dollar deposits are conducted between banks in the London interbank Eurodollar market.

“Capital Expenditure” shall mean, as to any Person, any and all expenditures of such Person for fixed or capital assets, including, without limitation, the incurrence
of capitalized lease obligations, all as determined in accordance with GAAP, except that capital expenditures shall not include expenditures for fixed or capital
assets to the extent such expenditures are paid or reimbursed from the proceeds of insurance.

“Capitalized Lease” shall mean, as to any Person, at any time, any lease which, in accordance with GAAP, is required to be capitalized on the consolidated balance
sheet of such Person at such time, and “capitalized lease obligations” of such Person at any time shall mean the aggregate amount which, in accordance with
GAAP, is required to be reported as a liability on the consolidated balance sheet of such Person at such time as lessee under Capitalized Leases.

“Change in Control” shall mean the failure of Sidney L. Port or his Immediate Family to own individually, or through a trust or other entity for their benefit,
including but not limited to Port Investments LLP, a Delaware Limited Liability Partnership, twenty percent (20%) or more of the shares of stock of Lawson.

“Closing Date” shall mean November 7, 2008, the closing of the Loans pursuant to the Agreement.

“Code ” shall have the meaning set forth in subsection 1.3 hereof.
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“Collateral” shall mean all property described in any Loan Documents as security for any Liabilities.

“Collateral Assignment” shall mean the Collateral Assignment of Debt Instruments, dated as of the Closing Date, by Borrower to and for the benefit of the Lender.

“Commercial Card Obligations” shall mean Bank Product Obligations owing by the Borrower to Lender or any Affiliate of the Lender for purchase cards pursuant
to the Master Commercial Card Agreement (as hereinafter defined).

“Contingent Liability” and “Contingent Liabilities” shall mean, respectively, each obligation and liability of the Borrower and all such obligations and liabilities of
the Borrower incurred pursuant to any agreement, undertaking or arrangement by which the Borrower: (a) guarantees, endorses or otherwise becomes or is
contingently liable upon (by direct or indirect agreement, contingent or otherwise, to provide funds for payment, to supply funds to, or otherwise to invest in, a
debtor, or otherwise to assure a creditor against loss) the indebtedness, dividend, obligation or other liability of any other Person in any manner (other than by
endorsement of instruments in the course of collection), including without limitation, any indebtedness, dividend or other obligation which may be issued or
incurred at some future time; (b) guarantees the payment of dividends or other distributions upon the shares or ownership interest of any other Person; (c)
undertakes or agrees (whether contingently or otherwise): (i) to purchase, repurchase, or otherwise acquire any indebtedness, obligation or liability of any other
Person or any property or assets constituting security therefor, (ii) to advance or provide funds for the payment or discharge of any indebtedness, obligation or
liability of any other Person (whether in the form of loans, advances, stock purchases, capital contributions or otherwise), or to maintain solvency, assets, level of
income, working capital or other financial condition of any other Person, or (iii) to make payment to any other Person other than for value received; (d) agrees to
lease property or to purchase securities, property or services from such other Person with the purpose or intent of assuring the owner of such indebtedness or
obligation of the ability of such other Person to make payment of the indebtedness or obligation; (e) to induce the issuance of, or in connection with the issuance
of, any letter of credit for the benefit of such other Person; or (f) undertakes or agrees otherwise to assure a creditor against loss. The amount of any Contingent
Liability shall (subject to any limitation set forth herein) be deemed to be the outstanding principal amount (or maximum permitted principal amount, if larger) of
the indebtedness, obligation or other liability guaranteed or supported thereby.

“Current Assets” and “Current Liabilities” — “Current Assets” shall mean the amount of all current assets (exclusive of prepaid expenses) which would be
classified as such on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP. “Current Liabilities” shall mean the amount of all current liabilities which would be
classified as such on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP, and which include, without limitation, trade debt, all accrued liabilities, the current
portions of long-term debt and Capitalized Lease obligations.
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“Debt” shall mean, as to any Person, without duplication, (a) all indebtedness of such Person; (b) all borrowed money of such Person (including principal, interest,
fees and charges), whether or not evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments; (c) all obligations to pay the deferred purchase price of property or
services; (d) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, with respect to the maximum face amount of all letters of credit (whether or not drawn), bankers’ acceptances
and similar obligations issued for the account of such Person (including the Letters of Credit), and all unpaid drawings in respect of such letters of credit, bankers’
acceptances and similar obligations; (e) all indebtedness secured by any Lien on any property owned by such Person, whether or not such indebtedness has been
assumed by such Person (provided, however, if such Person has not assumed or otherwise become liable in respect of such indebtedness, such indebtedness shall
be deemed to be in an amount equal to the fair market value of the property subject to such Lien at the time of determination); (f) the aggregate amount of all
Capitalized Lease Obligations of such Person; (g) all Contingent Liabilities of such Person, whether or not reflected on its balance sheet; (h) all Hedging
Obligations of such Person; (i) all Debt of any partnership of which such Person is a general partner; and (j) all monetary obligations of such Person under (i) a so-
called synthetic, off-balance sheet or tax retention lease, or (ii) an agreement for the use or possession of property creating obligations that do not appear on the
balance sheet of such Person but which, upon the insolvency or bankruptcy of such Person, would be characterized as the indebtedness of such Person (without
regard to accounting treatment). Notwithstanding the foregoing, Debt shall not include trade payables and accrued expenses incurred by such Person in accordance
with customary practices and in the ordinary course of business of such Person.

“Deposit Inventory System” shall have the meaning set forth in Schedule 3.4 hereof.

“Default” shall mean the occurrence or existence of any one or more of the events described in subsection 9.l hereof.

“Distribution” shall mean any declaration or payment of a distribution, interest or dividend on any equity interest (other than payment-in-kind); any distribution,
advance or repayment of Indebtedness to a holder of equity interests; or any purchase, redemption, or other acquisition or retirement for value of any equity
interest.

“EBITDA” for any period, shall mean the Borrower’s pretax net income (determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP) before interest, tax
distributions, dividends, state replacement tax expense, depreciation, amortization expense (of intangibles, including, without limitation, capitalized fees and
goodwill) and other noncash expenses determined in accordance with GAAP (including, without limitation, charge-offs of goodwill and write-downs of key man
life insurance), plus, to the extent included in determining net income, severance costs expensed in 2009.

“Environmental Lien” shall mean a Lien in favor of any governmental entity for (a) any liability under federal or state environmental laws or regulations, or
(b) damages arising from costs incurred by such governmental entity in response to a release of a hazardous or toxic waste, substance or constituent, or other
substance into the environment.
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“ERISA” shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time, any successor statute, and any regulations
promulgated thereunder.

“ERISA Affiliate” shall mean with respect to Lawson (i) any corporation which is a member of the same controlled group of corporations (within the meaning of
Section 414(b) of the Internal Revenue Code) as Lawson; (ii) a trade or business under common control (within the meaning of Section 4 14(c) of the Internal
Revenue Code) with Lawson; or (iii) a member of the same affiliated service group (within the meaning of Section 4 14(m) of the Internal Revenue Code) as
Lawson.

“Event of Default” shall mean any event that, if it continues uncured, will, with lapse of time or notice or both, constitute a Default.

“Federal Settlement” shall mean that certain agreement between the Borrower and the United States of America dated on August 11, 2008 whereby the Borrower
reached a settlement with the United States of America resulting from an ongoing investigation of certain “gifting” practices of employees of the Borrower made
to United States federal government employees.

“Federal Settlement Amount” shall mean the payment of the aggregate principal amount of $30,000,000 to settle all claims of the United States of America
relating to the “gifting” practices, payable by the Borrower in three (3) annual installments with the first payment made in August, 2008.

“Financials” shall have the meaning set forth in subsection 6.4 hereof.

“First Amendment” shall mean the First Amendment to First Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of March [10], 2009, by and between Lender and
Borrower.

“First Amendment Effective Date” shall have the meaning set forth for that term in the First Amendment.

“Fiscal Quarter” shall mean a period, three (3) months in duration, beginning on January 1, April 1, July 1, or October 1 of any Fiscal Year.

“Fiscal Year” shall mean a period, twelve (12) months in duration commencing on January 1 and ending on December 31.

“Funded Debt” shall mean, as to any Person, all Debt of such Person that matures more than one year from the date of its creation (or is renewable or extendible, at
the option of such Person, to a date more than one year from such date).

“GAAP” shall mean generally accepted accounting principles as in effect on the date hereof in accordance with the rules, regulations, pronouncements and
opinions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (or their successors), and as applied in a manner
consistent with preparation of the Financials, subject to the provisions of subsection 1.2.
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“Good Faith” shall have the meaning set forth for that term in Section 1-201(19) of the Code, provided that Good Faith shall also mean the absence of malice or
capriciousness on the part of Lender.

“Guaranteed Indebtedness” of any Person means all Indebtedness referred to in the definition of “Indebtedness” in this Section guaranteed directly or indirectly in
any manner by such Person, or in effect guaranteed directly or indirectly by such Person (or secured by any assets of such Person) regardless of whether the
liability of such Person is limited to such assets or otherwise nonrecourse through an agreement (i) to pay or purchase such Indebtedness or to advance or supply
funds for the payment or purchase of such Indebtedness; (ii) to purchase, sell or lease (as lessee or lessor) property, or to purchase or sell services, primarily for the
purpose of enabling the debtor to make payment of such Indebtedness or to assure the holder of such Indebtedness against loss; (iii) to supply funds to, or in any
other manner invest in, the debtor (including any agreement to pay for property or services irrespective of whether such property is received or such services are
rendered); or (iv) otherwise to assure a creditor against loss or to grant a security interest in property for the benefit of any such creditor.

“Hedging Agreement” shall mean any interest rate, currency or commodity swap agreement, cap agreement or collar agreement, and any other agreement or
arrangement designed to protect a Person against fluctuations in interest rates, currency exchange rates or commodity prices.

“Hedging Obligation” shall mean, with respect to any Person, any liability of such Person under any Hedging Agreement.

“Immediate Family” shall mean the spouse, former spouse, children, grandchildren, parents or grandparents of a Person.

“Indebtedness” of any Person means (without duplication), as of any specified date, the aggregate amount outstanding or owing under (a) all indebtedness of such
Person for borrowed money or for the deferred purchase price of property or services (including, without limitation, all obligations in respect of principal,
premium, if any, and interest payable on such indebtedness and all other obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person and in connection with any agreement
to purchase, redeem, exchange, convert or otherwise acquire for value any capital stock of, or other equity interest in, such Person or any other Person), but
excluding current liabilities for trade payables and other current liabilities other than for money borrowed, incurred in the ordinary course of business; (b) all
obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures or other similar instruments; (c) all indebtedness created or arising under any conditional sale or
other title retention agreement with respect to property acquired by such Person (even though the rights and remedies of the seller or Lender under such agreement
in the event of default are limited to repossession or sale of such property); (d) all obligations of such Person under Capitalized Leases; (e) all Indebtedness
referred to in clause (a), (b), (c) or (d) above secured by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured
by) any Lien upon or in property (including, without limitation, accounts and contract rights) owned by such Person, even though such
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Person has not assumed or become liable for the payment of such Indebtedness; (f) all Guaranteed Indebtedness of such Person; (g) all liabilities incurred by such
Person or any ERISA Affiliate to the PBGC upon the termination under Section 4041 or Section 4042 of ERISA of any Pension Plan; (h) all Withdrawal Liabilities
of such Person or any of its ERISA Affiliates; and (i) all increase in the amount of contributions required to be made by such Person and its ERISA Affiliates in
each fiscal year of such Person to Multiemployer Plans, due to the reorganization or termination of any such Multiemployer Plan within the meaning of Title IV of
ERISA, over the average annual amount of such contributions required to be made during the last three (3) years preceding such reorganization or termination.

“Interest Charges” shall mean, for any period, the sum of: (a) all interest, charges and related expenses payable with respect to that fiscal period to a lender in
connection with borrowed money or the deferred purchase price of assets that are treated as interest in accordance with GAAP, plus (b) the portion of Capitalized
Lease obligations with respect to that fiscal period that should be treated as interest in accordance with GAAP, plus (c) all charges paid or payable (without
duplication) during that period with respect to any Hedging Agreements.

“Interest Period” shall mean a period of 30, 60, 90 or 180 days, as selected by Lawson, commencing on a Business Day selected by Lawson pursuant to this
Agreement. All Interest Periods shall be subject to the following additional conditions: (i) each selection of an Interest Period shall be irrevocable for the period so
selected; (ii) each Interest Period shall be selected in such a way that no Interest Period shall extend beyond the Maturity Date; and (iii) if any Interest Period ends
on a day other than a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next succeeding day which is a Business Day unless such succeeding day would
fall in the next calendar month, in which event such Interest Period shall end on the immediately preceding Business Day.

“Internal Revenue Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, and any successor statute.

“Inventory” shall mean any and all goods including, without limitation, goods in transit, wheresoever located, whether now owned or hereafter acquired by the
Borrower, which are held for sale or lease, furnished under any contract of service or held as raw materials, work-in-process or supplies, and all materials used or
consumed in the Borrower’s business, and shall include such property the sale or other disposition of which has given rise to Accounts and which has been
returned to or repossessed or stopped in transit by the Borrower.

“Lawson Canada” shall mean Lawson Products, Inc., a Canadian corporation.

“Legal Requirement” shall mean any requirement imposed upon Lender by any law of the United States of America or the United Kingdom or by any regulation,
order, interpretation, ruling of official directive (whether or not having the force of law) of the Bank of England or any other board, central bank or governmental
or administrative
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agency, institution or authority of the United States of America, the United Kingdom or any political subdivision of either thereof.

“Lending Affiliate” means (a) each office and branch of the Lender, and (b) each entity which, directly or indirectly, is controlled by or under common control with
the Lender or which controls the Lender and each office and branch thereof.

“Letter of Credit” and “Letters of Credit” shall mean, respectively, a letter of credit and all such letters of credit issued by the Lender, in its sole discretion, upon
the execution and delivery by the Borrower and the acceptance by the Lender of a Master Letter of Credit Agreement and a Letter of Credit Application, as set
forth in Section 2.1(B) of this Agreement.

“Letter of Credit Obligations” shall mean, at any time, an amount equal to the aggregate of the original face amounts of all Letters of Credit minus the sum of
(i) the amount of any reductions in the original face amount of any Letter of Credit which did not result from a draw thereunder, (ii) the amount of any payments
made by the Lender with respect to any draws made under a Letter of Credit for which the Borrower has reimbursed the Lender, (iii) the amount of any payments
made by the Lender with respect to any draws made under a Letter of Credit which have been converted to a Loan as set forth in Section 2.1(B), and (iv) the
portion of any issued but expired Letter of Credit which has not been drawn by the beneficiary thereunder. For purposes of determining the outstanding Letter of
Credit Obligations at any time, the Lender’s acceptance of a draft drawn on the Lender pursuant to a Letter of Credit shall constitute a draw on the applicable
Letter of Credit at the time of such acceptance.

“Liabilities” shall mean all of the Borrower’s liabilities, obligations, and indebtedness to the Lender of any and every kind and nature, whether heretofore, now or
hereafter owing, arising, due or payable and howsoever evidenced, created, incurred, acquired, or owing, whether primary, secondary, direct, contingent, fixed or
otherwise (including obligations of performance) and whether arising or existing under written agreement, oral agreement or operation of law, and all of the
Borrower’s other indebtedness and obligations to the Lender under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

“Lien” shall mean any mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, deposit arrangement, encumbrance, lien (statutory or other), charge, or preference, priority or
other security interest or preferential arrangement in the nature of a security interest of any kind or nature whatsoever (including any conditional sale or other title
retention agreement, any easement, right of way or other encumbrance on title to real property, and any financing lease having substantially the same economic
effect as any of the foregoing).

“Loan(s)” shall mean, collectively, all Revolving Loans, the Letter of Credit Obligations, the Maximum Corporate Commercial Card Obligation, and the
Maximum Hedging Obligation, under and pursuant to this Agreement.
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“Loan Account” shall mean the loan account established on the books of the Lender established pursuant to Section 2.4 hereof.

“Loan Documents” shall mean, collectively, all agreements, instruments and documents, including, without limitation, this Agreement, the Note, the Security
Documents, and all other written matter whether heretofore, now or hereafter executed by or on behalf of the Borrower and delivered to the Lender, in any case in
connection with the Revolving Loans made hereunder, together with all agreements, documents or instruments referred to therein or contemplated thereby.

“Management Letter” shall have the meaning set forth in subsection 7.1(G) hereof.

“Maturity Date” shall mean November 7, 2011.

“Maximum Facility” shall mean the maximum amount which the Lender has agreed to consider as a ceiling on the Loans, including the outstanding principal
balance of the revolving loans advanced and letters of credits issued hereunder, and the obligations for commercial cards and hedging, to be made to or for the
account of the Borrower. The Maximum Facility shall be Fifty-Five Million and no/100 Dollars ($55,000,000) United States currency, unless permanently reduced
at Lawson’s election pursuant to Section 2.3.

“Maximum Commercial Card Obligation” shall mean Bank Product Obligations incurred with respect to purchase cards pursuant to Master Commercial Card
Agreement (as hereinafter defined), not to exceed at any, time Two Million and no/100 Dollars ($2,000,000).

“Maximum Hedging Obligation” shall mean any liability of a Person under any Hedging Agreement not to exceed at any time One Million and no/100 Dollars
($1,000,000).

“Maximum Letter of Credit Obligation” shall mean Ten Million and no/100 Dollars ($10,000,000).

“Multiemployer Plan” shall mean, with respect to any Person, an employee benefit plan defined in Section 4001(a) (3) of ERISA which is, or within the
immediately preceding six (6) years was, contributed to by such Person or an ERISA Affiliate of such Person.

“Net Income” shall have the meaning provided, and shall be calculated provided in accordance with GAAP.

“Net Worth” shall mean at any time the total of Assets minus Liabilities.

“Note” shall have the meaning set forth in subsection 2.1 hereof.

“PBGC” shall mean the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.

“Pension Plan” shall mean any employee pension benefit plan as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA in respect of which Lawson or any ERISA Affiliate is, or at any
time during
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the immediately preceding five (5) years was, an “employer” as defined in Section 3(5) of ERISA.

“Permitted Liens” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.1.

“Person” shall mean any individual, sole proprietorship, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, unincorporated organization, association,
corporation, institution, entity, party, or government (whether national, federal, state, provincial, county, city, municipal or otherwise, including, without limitation,
any instrumentality, division, agency, body or department thereof).

“Pledge Agreement” shall mean the Securities Pledge Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, by Lawson in favor of the Lender.

“Property” shall have the meaning set forth in subsection 10.8(B).

“Real Property” means all of the Borrower’s right, title, and interest in all of those plots, pieces or parcels of land now owned, leased or hereafter acquired by the
Borrower (the “Land”), including, without limitation, those more particularly described on Exhibit A1 as to properties owned by the Borrower, and Exhibit A2
with respect to properties leased or otherwise occupied, in whole or in part, by the Borrower, together with the right, title and interest of the Borrower in and to the
following: the streets, the land lying in the bed of any streets, roads or avenues, opened or proposed, in front of, adjoining, or abutting the Land to the center line
thereof, the air space and development rights pertaining to the Land and right to use such air space and development rights, all rights of way, privileges, liberties,
tenements, hereditaments and appurtenances belonging or in any way appertaining thereto, all easements now or hereafter benefiting the Land and all royalties and
all rights appertaining to the use and enjoyment of the Land, including, without limitation, all alley, vault, drainage, mineral, water, oil, and gas rights, timber,
sewers, pipes, conduits, wires, and other facilities furnishing utility or other services to the Land and other similar rights, together with all of the buildings and
other improvements and fixtures now or hereafter erected on the Land.

“Responsible Officer” shall mean (i) any one or more of the officers of Borrower listed on Exhibit D, (ii) an officer elected or appointed by the Board of Directors
of a Borrower to replace an officer listed on Exhibit D, or (iii) an officer not listed on Exhibit D but having substantially the same or similar responsibilities as an
officer so listed on Exhibit D, including, but not limited to, officers of newly created or acquired subsidiaries.

“Revolving Loan” and “Revolving Loans” shall mean, respectively, each direct advance and the aggregate of all such direct advances made by the Lender to the
Borrower under and pursuant to this Agreement, as set forth in Section 2.1 of this Agreement.

“Revolving Loan Availability” shall mean at any time, the Maximum Facility less the aggregate of (a) the Letter of Credit Obligations, (b) Maximum Corporate
Commercial Card Obligation, and (c) the Maximum Hedging Obligation.

“Sarbanes-Oxley” means the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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“Securities Laws” means the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Sarbanes-Oxley and the applicable accounting and auditing principles,
rules, standards and practices promulgated, approved or incorporated by the Securities Exchange Commission or the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board, as each of the foregoing may be amended and in effect on any applicable date hereunder.

“Security Agreement” shall mean the Security Agreement dated as of the First Amendment Effective Date by and among the Borrowers and the Lender.

“Security Documents” shall mean the Security Agreement, the Pledge Agreement, the Collateral Assignment, and all other agreements, instruments and documents
now or hereafter executed and delivered in connection with this Agreement pursuant to which Liens are granted or perfected or purported to be granted or
perfected in Collateral securing all or part of the Liabilities.

“Signature Authorization Certificate” shall mean a certificate, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, now or hereafter executed on behalf of
Lawson and delivered to Lender.

“Subsidiary” shall mean, with respect to any Borrower, any corporation or other entity of which more than fifty percent (50%) of the outstanding capital stock or
other membership interest having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors or controlling body of such corporation or entity (irrespective
of whether at the time stock of any other class or classes of such corporation shall have or might have voting power by reason of the happening of any
contingency) is at the time, directly or indirectly, owned by such Borrower.

“Term” shall mean the period from the Closing Date to the Maturity Date.

“Termination Event” shall mean (i) with respect to any Pension Plan, the occurrence of a reportable event described in Section 4043 of ERISA and the regulations
issued thereunder; or (ii) the withdrawal of the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate from a Pension Plan during a plan year in which it is a “substantial employer” as
defined in Section 400 1(a) (2) of ERISA; or (iii) the occurrence of an obligation of the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate arising under Section 4041 of ERISA to
provide participants in a Pension Plan and other affected parties with a written notice of intent to terminate the Pension Plan; or (iv) the institution of proceedings
to terminate a Pension Plan by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation; or (v) any other event or condition which might constitute grounds under Section 404
1(A) or 4042 of ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer, any Pension Plan; or (vi) the partial or complete withdrawal of the
Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate from a “Multiemployer Plan” (as defined in subsection 6.18 hereof).

“Third Party Goods” shall mean all raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods owned by Persons other than the Borrower and in Borrower’s possession.
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“Total Debt” shall mean (a) all Debt of the Borrower, determined on a consolidated basis, excluding (i) Contingent Liabilities (except to the extent constituting
Contingent Liabilities in respect of the Debt of a Person other than the Borrower or any Subsidiaries), (ii) Hedging Obligations, and (iii) Debt of the Borrower to
Subsidiaries and Debt of Subsidiaries to the Borrower or to other Subsidiaries, plus (b) in the case of Borrower, any unpaid portion of the Federal Settlement
Amount.

“UFCA” shall mean the Uniform Fraudulent Conveyances Act.

“UFTA” shall mean the Uniform Fraudulent Transfers Act.

“Upstream Payment” shall mean a Distribution by a Subsidiary of a Borrower to such Borrower.

“Withdrawal Liability” shall have the meaning given to such term under Part I of the Subtitle E of Title IV of ERISA.

     1.2 Accounting Terms. Calculations and determinations of financial and accounting terms used and not otherwise specifically defined hereunder shall be made and
determined, both as to classification of items and as to amount, in accordance with GAAP. If any changes in accounting principles or practices from GAAP are
occasioned by the promulgation of rules, regulations, pronouncements and opinions by or required by the Financial Accounting Standards Board or the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (or any successor thereto or agencies with similar functions), which result in a change in the method of accounting in the
calculation of financial covenants, standards or terms contained in this Agreement or any other Financing Agreement, the parties hereto agree to enter into
negotiations to amend such provisions so as equitably to reflect such changes to the end that the criteria for evaluating Borrower’s financial condition and
performance will be the same after such changes as they were before such changes, and if the parties fail to agree on the amendment of such provisions, Borrower
shall continue to provide calculations for all financial covenants, perform all financial covenants and otherwise observe all financial standards and terms in accordance
with applicable accounting principles and practices in effect immediately prior to such changes. Calculations with respect to financial covenants required to be stated
in accordance with applicable accounting principles and practices in effect immediately prior to such changes shall be reviewed and certified by Borrower’s
independent certified public accountants.

     1.3 Other Terms Defined in Illinois Uniform Commercial Code. All other terms contained in this Agreement (and which are not otherwise specifically defined
herein) shall have the meanings provided in the Uniform Commercial Code of the State of Illinois (the “Code”) to the extent the same are used or defined therein.

     1.4 Other Definitional Provisions. Whenever the context so requires, the neuter gender includes the masculine and feminine, the singular number includes the
plural, and vice versa.

2. CREDIT.

     2.1 Loan, Purpose, etc.
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     (A) Loan. Provided there does not then exist a Default or an Event of Default, subject to the provisions of Section 4 below, and subject to the other provisions and
conditions of this Agreement, the Lender agrees, following the Borrower’s execution of this Agreement and all agreements and documents contemplated hereby, to
advance to the Borrower on a revolving credit basis (collectively, the “Revolving Loan”) at such times as the Borrower may from time to time request, until, but not
including, the Maturity Date, and in such amounts as the Borrower may from time to time request, provided, however that the aggregate principal balance of all
Revolving Loans outstanding at any time shall not exceed the Revolving Loan Availability. Each advance to the Borrower under this subsection 2.1 shall be in
multiples of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000.00) and shall, on the day of such advance, be deposited, in immediately available funds, in Lawson’s
demand deposit account with the Lender, or in such other account with the Lender as Lawson may, from time to time, designate. The Revolving Loans made by the
Lender to the Borrower under this subsection 2.1 shall be evidenced, in part, by the promissory note of even date herewith in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C
(the “Note”) with the blanks appropriately filled. The Liabilities evidenced by the Note shall become immediately due and payable, (i) as provided in subsection 9.1
hereof; (ii) without notice or demand upon the Maturity Date pursuant to subsection 2.8(A) hereof; or (iii) without notice or demand upon termination of this
Agreement pursuant to subsection 2.8 hereof.

     (B) Letters of Credit. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and upon (i) the execution by the Borrower and the Lender of a Master Letter of Credit
Agreement in form and substance acceptable to the Lender (together with all amendments, modifications and restatements thereof, the “Master Letter of Credit
Agreement”), and (ii) the execution and delivery by the Borrower, and the acceptance by the Lender, in its sole and absolute discretion, of a Letter of Credit
Application, the Lender agrees to issue for the account of the Borrower out of the Maximum Facility, such standby and/or trade Letters of Credit in the standard form
of the Lender and otherwise in form and substance acceptable to the Lender, from time to time during the term of this Agreement, provided that the Letter of Credit
Obligations may not at any time exceed the Maximum Letter of Credit Obligation and provided further, that no Letter of Credit shall have an expiration date later than
the Letter of Credit Maturity Date. The Letter of Credit Obligations shall also be evidenced by the Note. The amount of any payments made by the Lender with
respect to draws made by a beneficiary under a Letter of Credit for which the Borrower has failed to reimburse the Lender upon the earlier of (i) the Lender’s demand
for repayment, or (ii) five (5) days from the date of such payment to such beneficiary by the Lender, shall be deemed to have been converted to a Loan as of the date
such payment was made by the Lender to such beneficiary. Upon the occurrence of an Event of a Default and at the option of the Lender, all Letter of Credit
Obligations shall be converted to Loans, all without demand, presentment, protest or notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower. To the extent
the provisions of the Master Letter of Credit Agreement differ from, or are inconsistent with, the terms of this Agreement, the provisions of this Agreement shall
govern.

     (C) Corporate Commercial Card Facility. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and upon the execution by the Borrower of a Commercial Card
Agreement in form and substance acceptable to the Lender (together with all amendments, modifications and restatements thereof, the “Master Commercial Card
Agreement”), the Lender agrees to issue for the account of the Borrower out of the Maximum Facility, such purchase cards in the standard form of the Lender and
otherwise in form and substance acceptable to the Lender, from time to
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time during the term of this Agreement, provided that the Lender Product Obligations represented by purchase cards may not at any time exceed the Maximum
Commercial Card Obligation. To the extent the provisions of the Master Commercial Card Agreement differ from, or are inconsistent with, the terms of this
Agreement, the provisions of this Agreement shall govern.

     (D) Interest Rate Protection. The Borrower may, but is not obligated to enter into one or more Hedging Agreements on an ISDA standard form with a qualified
counter party to hedge the interest rate, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Lender. Such Hedging Agreement obligation shall be issued for the
account of the Borrower out of the Maximum Facility. The Hedging Agreement Obligations may not at any time exceed the Maximum Hedging Agreement
Obligation.

     (E) Purpose. The proceeds of the Revolving Loan shall be used by Borrower for working capital requirements and general corporate purposes and for future
acquisitions.

     (F) Limits. The aggregate outstanding principal balance of the Revolving Loan, Letter of Credit Obligations, Commercial Card Obligations and Hedging
Agreement Obligations shall not at any time exceed the Maximum Facility. In the event the aggregate outstanding principal balance of all Revolving Loans, Letter of
Credit Obligations, Commercial Card Obligations and Hedging Agreement Obligations hereunder exceed the Maximum Facility, the Borrower shall, without notice or
demand of any kind, immediately make such repayments of the Revolving Loan or take such other actions as shall be necessary to eliminate such excess.

     2.2 Prepayments. Borrower shall at any time and from time to time have the right to prepay, in whole or in part, the principal amount of the Revolving Loan
outstanding or interest due without any penalty or premium. Such prepayment shall be applied in the following order of priority: (1) amounts (other than principal and
interest) due and payable to Lender under this Agreement, the Note, or the other Loan Documents; (2) accrued but unpaid interest on the outstanding principal balance
of the Revolving Loan; and (3) the outstanding principal balance of the Revolving Loan.

     2.3 Facility Reduction. Borrower may, at any time during the Term, elect to permanently reduce the Maximum Facility upon the following terms and conditions:
(i) Lawson shall provide Lender an irrevocable written notice no less than thirty (30) days prior to the intended effective date of the permanent reduction to the
Maximum Facility (the “Facility Reduction Notice”); (ii) the Facility Reduction Notice shall state the total amount of the intended reduction to the Maximum Facility
(“Maximum Facility Reduction”) and the effective date of the Maximum Facility Reduction; (iii) the aggregate outstanding principal balance of the Revolving Loan
as of the date of the Facility Reduction Notice shall not exceed the Maximum Facility as reduced by the Maximum Facility Reduction (the “Reduced Maximum
Facility”); and (iv) the aggregate outstanding principal balance of the Revolving Loan subsequent to the Facility Reduction Notice shall not at any time thereafter
exceed the Reduced Maximum Facility. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 3.2 to the contrary, the Maximum Facility Reduction shall
in no event be less than five million dollars ($5,000,000.00).
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     2.4 The Borrower’s Loan Account. The Lender shall maintain a loan account (the “Loan Account”) on its internal data control system in which shall be recorded
(i) all loans and advances made by the Lender to the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement, (ii) all payments made by the Borrower on all such loans and advances,
and (iii) all other appropriate debits and credits as provided in this Agreement, including, without limitation, all fees, charges, expenses and interest. All entries in the
Borrower’s Loan Account shall be made in accordance with the Lender’s customary accounting practices as in effect from time to time. Subject to adjustments and
objections (if any) pursuant to subsection 2.5 below, the Borrower promises to pay the amount reflected as owing by it under its Loan Account and all of its other
obligations hereunder and under any other Loan Documents as such amounts become due (whether by scheduled maturity, required prepayment, acceleration, demand
or otherwise) pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

     2.5 Statements. All advances and other financial accommodations to the Borrower, and all other debits and credits provided for in this Agreement, shall be
evidenced by entries made by the Lender in its internal data control systems showing the date, amount and reason for each such debit or credit. Until such time as the
Lender shall have rendered to the Borrower written statements of account as provided herein, the balance in the Borrower’s Loan Account, as set forth on the Lender’s
most recent printout, shall be rebuttably presumptive evidence of the amounts due and owing the Lender by the Borrower. Not more than twenty (20) days after the
last day of each Fiscal Quarter, the Lender shall render to the Borrower a statement setting forth the balance of the Borrower’s Loan Account, including principal,
interest, expenses and fees. Each such statement shall be subject to subsequent adjustment by the Lender but shall, absent manifest errors or omissions, be rebuttably
presumed correct and shall constitute an account stated unless, within thirty (30) days after receipt of such statement from the Lender, the Borrower shall deliver to the
Lender written objection thereto specifying the error or errors, if any, contained in such statement. Lender shall, upon request, provide supporting detail as to third
party charges, such as attorneys’ fees.

     2.6 Interest and Fees.

     (A) Interest. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 2.6, the principal amount of the Revolving Loans outstanding from time to time shall bear interest at the
Borrower’s option of either the BBA LIBOR Daily Floating Rate or the BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically). Accrued and unpaid interest on the unpaid
principal balance of all Revolving Loans outstanding from time to time which are BBA LIBOR Daily Floating Rate LIBOR Loans, shall be due and payable monthly,
in arrears, on the first day of each calendar month commencing with the first such date to occur after the date hereof and continuing on the first day of each calendar
month thereafter, and on the Maturity Date. Accrued and unpaid interest on the unpaid principal balance of all Revolving Loans outstanding from time to time which
are BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loans shall be payable on the last Business Day of each Interest Period, commencing on the first such date to
occur after the date hereof, on the date of any principal repayment of a BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan and on the Maturity Date.

     (B) LIBOR Loan Prepayments. If, for any reason, a BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan is paid prior to the last Business Day of any Interest
Period, whether
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voluntary, involuntary, by reason of acceleration or otherwise, each such prepayment of a BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan will be
accompanied by the amount of accrued interest on the amount prepaid and any and all costs, expenses, penalties and charges incurred by Lender as a result of the
early termination or breakage of a BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan, plus the amount, if any, by which (i) the additional interest which would
have been payable during the Interest Period on the BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan prepaid had it not been prepaid, exceeds (ii) the interest
which would have been recoverable by Lender by placing the amount prepaid on deposit in the domestic certificate of deposit market, the eurodollar deposit market,
or other appropriate money market selected by Lender, for a period starting on the date on which it was prepaid and ending on the last day of the Interest Period for
such BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan. The amount of any such loss or expense payable by Borrower to Lender under this section shall be
determined in Lender’s sole discretion based upon the assumption that Lender funded its loan commitment for BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR
Loans in the London Interbank Eurodollar market and using any reasonable attribution or averaging methods which Lender deems appropriate and practical, provided,
however, that Lender is not obligated to accept a deposit in the London Interbank Eurodollar market in order to charge interest on a BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted
Periodically) LIBOR Loan at the BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically).

     (C) BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) Unavailability. If Lender determines in good faith (which determination shall be conclusive, absent manifest error)
prior to the commencement of any Interest Period that (i) the making or maintenance of any BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan would violate
any applicable law, rule, regulation or directive, whether or not having the force of law, (ii) United States dollar deposits in the principal amount, and for periods equal
to the Interest Period for funding any BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan are not available in the London Interbank Eurodollar market in the
ordinary course of business, (iii) by reason of circumstances affecting the London Interbank Eurodollar market, adequate and fair means do not exist for ascertaining
the BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) to be applicable to the relevant BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan, or (iv) the BBA LIBOR Rate
(Adjusted Periodically) does not accurately reflect the cost to Lender of a BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan, Lender shall promptly notify
Borrower thereof and, so long as the foregoing conditions continue, none of the Loans may be advanced as a BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan
thereafter. In addition, at Borrower’s option, each existing BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan shall be immediately (i) converted to a BBA
LIBOR Daily Floating Rate LIBOR Loan on the last Business Day of the then existing Interest Period, or (ii) due and payable on the last Business Day of the then
existing Interest Period, without further demand, presentment, protest or notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by Borrower.

     (D) Regulatory Change. In addition, if, after the date hereof, a regulatory change shall, in the reasonable determination of Lender, make it unlawful for Lender to
make or maintain the BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loans, then Lender shall promptly notify Borrower and none of the Loans may be advanced
as a BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan thereafter. In addition, at Borrower’s option, each existing BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically)
LIBOR Loan shall be immediately (i) converted to a BBA LIBOR Daily Floating Rate LIBOR Loan on the last Business Day of the then existing
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Interest Period or on such earlier date as required by law, or (ii) due and payable on the last Business Day of the then existing Interest Period or on such earlier date as
required by law, all without further demand, presentment, protest or notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by Borrower.

     (E) LIBOR Indemnity. If any regulatory change, or compliance by Lender or any Person controlling Lender with any request or directive of any governmental
authority, central bank or comparable agency (whether or not having the force of law) shall (a) impose, modify or deem applicable any assessment, reserve, special
deposit or similar requirement against assets held by, or deposits in or for the account of or loans by, or any other acquisition of funds or disbursements by, Lender;
(b) subject Lender or any BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan to any tax, duty, charge, stamp tax or fee or change the basis of taxation of
payments to Lender of principal or interest due from Borrower to Lender hereunder (other than a change in the taxation of the overall net income of Lender); or
(c) impose on Lender any other condition regarding such Loan or Lender’s funding thereof, and Lender shall determine (which determination shall be conclusive,
absent manifest error) that the result of the foregoing is to increase the cost to, or to impose a cost on, Lender or such controlling Person of making or maintaining
such Loan or to reduce the amount of principal or interest received by Lender hereunder, then Borrower shall pay to Lender or such controlling Person, on demand,
such additional amounts as Lender shall, from time to time, determine are sufficient to compensate and indemnify Lender for such increased cost or reduced amount.

     (F) Default Rate of Interest. Upon and after the occurrence of a Default and during the continuation thereof, the principal amount of the Revolving Loan then
outstanding shall bear interest, calculated daily (computed on the actual days elapsed over a year of 360 days), at a rate per annum equal to three percent (3%) above
the rate otherwise applicable to such outstanding Revolving Loan (the rate of interest calculated pursuant to this subsection 2.6(E) shall be referred to herein as the
“Post Default Rate”).

     (G) Maximum Interest. In no contingency or event whatsoever shall the aggregate of all amounts deemed interest hereunder or under the Note and charged or
collected pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or pursuant to the Note exceed the highest rate permissible under any law which a court of competent jurisdiction
shall, in a final determination, deem applicable hereto. In the event that such a court determines that Lender has charged or received interest hereunder in excess of the
highest applicable rate, the rate in effect hereunder shall automatically be reduced to the maximum rate permitted by applicable law and Lender shall promptly refund
to Lawson any interest received by Lender in excess of the maximum lawful rate or, if so requested by Lawson, shall apply such excess to the principal balance of the
Liabilities. It is the intent hereof that Borrower not pay or contract to pay, and that Lender not receive or contract to receive, directly or indirectly in any manner
whatsoever, interest in excess of that which may be paid by Borrower under applicable law.

     (H) Borrowing Procedures.

 (i)  Each Revolving Loan may be advanced either as a BBA LIBOR Daily Floating Rate LIBOR Loan or a BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically)
LIBOR Loan. Each Loan shall be made available to Borrower upon any
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   written, verbal, electronic, telephonic or telecopy loan request which Lender in good faith believes to emanate from a properly authorized representative
of Lawson, whether or not that is in fact the case. Each such request shall be effective upon receipt by Lender, shall be irrevocable, and shall specify the
date, amount and type of borrowing and, in the case of a BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan, the initial Interest Period therefor.
Borrower shall use commercially reasonable efforts to select Interest Periods so as not to require a payment or prepayment of any BBA LIBOR Rate
(Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan during an Interest Period for such BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan. The final Interest
Period for any BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan must be such that its expiration occurs on or before the Maturity Date. A request
for a BBA LIBOR Daily Floating Rate LIBOR Loan must be received by Lender no later than 11:00 a.m. Chicago, Illinois time, on the day it is to be
funded. A request for a BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan must be (i) received by Lender no later than 11:00 a.m. Chicago, Illinois
time, three (3) Business Days before the day it is to be funded, and (ii) in an amount equal to One Million and 00/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00) or a higher
integral multiple of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($250,000.00). The proceeds of each Loan shall be made available at the office of
Lender by credit to the account of Borrower or by other means requested by Borrower and acceptable to Lender. Borrower does hereby irrevocably
confirm, ratify and approve all such advances by Lender and does hereby indemnify Lender against losses and expenses (including court costs, attorneys’
and paralegals’ fees) and shall hold Lender harmless with respect thereto.

 (ii)  LIBOR Conversion and Continuation Procedures. Upon notice to Lender as set forth above, Borrower may, by written, verbal, electronic, telephonic or
telecopy notice from Lawson and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, (a) elect, as of any Business Day, to convert any BBA LIBOR
Daily Floating Rate LIBOR Loan into a BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan; or (b) elect, as of the last day of the applicable Interest
Period, to continue any BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan having an Interest Period expiring on such day for a new Interest Period,
or to convert any such BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan into a BBA LIBOR Daily Floating Rate LIBOR Loan. Such notice shall,
in the case of a conversion into a BBA LIBOR Daily Floating Rate LIBOR Loan, be given before 11:00 a.m., Chicago time, on the proposed date of such
conversion, and in the case of conversion into, or continuation of, BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loans, be given before 11:00 a.m.,
Chicago time, at least three (3) Business Days prior to the proposed date of such conversion or continuation, specifying in each case: (i) the proposed
date of conversion or continuation; (ii) the aggregate amount of Loans to be converted or continued; (iii) the type of Loans resulting from
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   the proposed conversion or continuation; and (iv) in the case of conversion into, or continuation of, BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR
Loans, the duration of the requested Interest Period therefor. Each Interest Period occurring after the initial Interest Period of any BBA LIBOR Rate
(Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan shall commence on the day on which the preceding Interest Period for such BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted
Periodically) LIBOR Loan expires. Whenever the last day of any Interest Period would otherwise occur on a day other than a Business Day, the last day
of such Interest Period shall be extended to occur on the next succeeding Business Day, provided, however, that if such extension would cause the last
day of such Interest Period to occur in the next following calendar month, then the last day of such Interest Period shall occur on the immediately
preceding Business Day. Whenever an Interest Period would otherwise end on a day of a month for which there is no numerically corresponding day in
the calendar month, such Interest Period shall end on the last Business Day of such calendar month. If upon the expiration of any Interest Period
applicable to a BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan, Borrower has failed to select timely a new Interest Period to be applicable to
such LIBOR Loan, Borrower shall be deemed to have elected to convert such BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan to a BBA LIBOR
Daily Floating Rate LIBOR Loan effective on the last day of such Interest Period, without demand, presentment, protest or notice of any kind, all of
which are hereby waived by Borrower. Any conversion of a BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan on a day other than the last day of
an Interest Period therefor shall be subject to Section 2.6(D).

     (I) Number of Portions: At no time shall there exist more than six (6) separate BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loans during the Term.

     (J) Intentionally Omitted.

     (K) Unused Commitment Fee. The Borrower shall pay to Lender a fee (the “Unused Commitment Fee”) on the first day of each Fiscal Quarter commencing with
the Fiscal Quarter commencing January 1, 2009, equal to (1) for all periods prior to the First Amendment Effective Date, the Unused Commitment Fee set forth on
Grid A (as in effect prior to the First Amendment Effective Date) based on the face amount of the average daily unused amount of the Maximum Facility in excess of
$7,500,000 during the immediately prior Fiscal Quarter, and (2) for all periods from and including to the First Amendment Effective Date, the Unused Commitment
Fee set forth on Grid A (as in effect on and after the First Amendment Effective Date) based on the face amount of the average daily unused amount of the Maximum
Facility during the immediately prior Fiscal Quarter. The Unused Commitment Fee shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year for the actual number of days
elapsed.

     2.7 Method for Making Payments. All payments of principal and interest hereunder shall be paid by automatic debit, wire transfer, check or in coin or currency
which, at the time or times of payment, is the legal tender for public and private debts in the United States of America
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and shall be made at such place as Lender or the legal holder or holders of the Note may from time to time appoint in the payment invoice or otherwise in writing, and
in the absence of such appointment, then at the offices of Lender at 135 South LaSalle Street, 7th Floor, Chicago, Illinois 60603. Payment made by check shall be
deemed paid on the date Lender receives such check; provided, however, that if such check is subsequently returned to Lender unpaid due to insufficient funds or
otherwise, the payment shall not be deemed to have been made and shall continue to bear interest until collected. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the final payment
due hereunder must be made by wire transfer or other final funds. If requested by Lawson, interest, principal payments and any fees and expenses owed Lender from
time to time will be deducted by Lender automatically on the due date from the designated Borrower’s account with Lender, as designated in writing by Lawson.
Borrower will maintain sufficient funds in the account on the dates Lender enters debits authorized under the Note. If there are insufficient funds in the account on the
date Lender enters any debit authorized by the Note, the debit will be reversed. Lawson may terminate this direct debt arrangement at any time by sending written
notice to Lender at the address specified above.

     2.8 Maturity, Term.

     (A) Loan Maturity. The Revolving Loan, including the full outstanding principal balance thereon and all accrued and then unpaid interest thereon, if not sooner
paid, shall be immediately due and payable without notice or demand on the Maturity Date.

     (B) Termination. This Agreement shall terminate at the end of the Term; provided, however, that the Lender shall retain the right to terminate this Agreement
sooner at any time upon the occurrence and only during the continuance of a Default; and further provided, however, that notwithstanding any such termination all of
the Lender’s rights and remedies under this Agreement shall survive such termination until all of the Liabilities have been fully paid and satisfied. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Lawson may by written notice to Lender terminate this Agreement at any time as provided above conditioned upon and subject to the prior payment by
Borrower to Lender of all then outstanding principal and accrued interest and payment and performance of all other Liabilities. Upon the effective date of termination
of this Agreement, all of the Liabilities (other than contingent and indemnity obligations) shall become immediately due and payable without notice or demand.
Notwithstanding any termination, until all of the Liabilities shall have been fully paid and satisfied and all Loan Documents between the Borrower and the Lender
shall have been terminated, all of the Lender’s rights and remedies under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall survive.

3.  INTENTIONALLY OMITTED.

4.  CONDITIONS OF ADVANCES.

     Notwithstanding any other provisions contained in this Agreement the making of any Loan shall be conditioned upon the following:

     4.1 Borrower’s Written Request. As to any BBA LIBOR Rate (Adjusted Periodically) LIBOR Loan, Lawson shall comply with Section 2.6(H). In addition, prior to
making any advance or loan, Lender shall have received copies of all documents required to have

27



 

been delivered to the Lender pursuant to this Agreement (including, without limitation, subsection 7.1).

     4.2 Financial Condition. No material adverse change, as determined by the Lender in its sole discretion, in the financial condition or operations of the Borrower
shall have occurred (a) at any time or times subsequent to the most recent annual financial statements provided pursuant to subsection 7.1(B) of this Agreement and
(b) prior to the receipt of the first of such statements, at any time subsequent to receipt of the Financials.

     4.3 No Default. There shall not have occurred any Default or an Event of Default which is then continuing, nor shall any such Default or Event of Default occur
after giving effect to the advance or loan.

     4.4 Representations and Warranties True and Correct. The representations and warranties of Borrower contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all
material respects on and as of the date of any advance or loan, as though made on and as of such date, except for any waivers thereof expressly granted by an officer
of Lender in writing delivered to Lawson.

     4.5 Other Requirements. The Lender shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to the Lender, all certificates, orders, authorities, consents, affidavits,
schedules, opinions, instruments, security agreements, financing statements, mortgages and other documents which are required hereunder, or which the Lender may
at any time reasonably request.

     4.6 Conditions as to Initial Advance. Prior to the first Revolving Loan made hereunder, each of the conditions set forth on Schedule 4.6 hereto shall be fully
performed in form and substance satisfactory to Lender and its legal counsel.

     4.7 Issuance of Letters of Credit. Each Letter of Credit shall be issued by the Lender upon the execution of the Lender’s standard Master Letter of Credit
Agreement by any of the Borrowers and the Lender, and the execution and delivery by such Borrower and the acceptance by the Lender, in its sole discretion, of the
Lender’s standard application for Letter of Credit and the payment by the Borrower of the Lender’s fees charged in connection therewith. In addition to all other
applicable fees, charges and/or interest payable by the Borrower pursuant to the Master Letter of Credit Agreement or otherwise payable in accordance with the
Lender’s standard letter of credit fee schedule, all standby Letters of Credit issued under and pursuant to this Agreement shall bear an annual fee equal to the
percentage set forth on the Pricing Grid of the face amount of such standby Letter of Credit, payable by the Borrower on or before the issuance of such Letter of
Credit by the Lender and quarterly in advance thereafter unless and unit (i) such Letter of Credit has expired or has been returned to the Lender; or (ii) the Lender has
paid the beneficiary thereunder the full face amount of such Letter of Credit. All Letters of Credit other than standby Letters of Credit shall bear such fees, costs and
interest as charged by the Lender and shall contain such other terms as set forth in the Master Letter of Credit Agreement and the Lender’s standard letter of credit fee
schedule.
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5. INTENTIONALLY OMITTED.

6. WARRANTIES ETC.

     Each Borrower jointly and severally represents, warrants and agrees, except to the extent not applicable to such Borrower that, as of the date hereof and each day
thereafter, continuing so long as the Liabilities remain outstanding, and (even if there shall be no Liabilities outstanding) so long as this Agreement remains in effect:

     6.1 Existence. (i) Lawson is a corporation, duly organized and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware and in good standing in Illinois and all
other states where the nature and extent of the business transacted by it or the ownership of its assets makes such qualification necessary, except for those jurisdictions
in which the failure so to qualify would not, in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on Lawson’s financial condition, results of operations or business or the
ability of Lawson to perform its obligations hereunder; (ii) each Subsidiary listed on Schedule 6.12 is the business entity type as indicated on Schedule 6.12, duly
organized and in good standing under the laws of the state or country of its organization and all other states or countries where the nature and extent of the business
transacted by it, or the ownership of its assets makes such qualification necessary, except for those jurisdictions in which the failure so to qualify would not, in the
aggregate, have a material adverse effect on such Subsidiary’s financial condition, results of operations or business or the ability of such Subsidiary to perform its
obligations hereunder.

     6.2 Entity Authority. The execution and delivery by each Borrower hereunder of this Agreement and all of the other Loan Documents executed by it and the
performance of the Borrower’s obligations hereunder and thereunder: (i) are within the Borrower’s corporate, company or other entity powers; (ii) are duly authorized
by the Borrower’s Directors, Managers or the equivalent, and, to the extent required, Shareholders, Members, Partners or the equivalent; (iii) are not in contravention
of the terms of the Borrower’s Articles of Incorporation and by-laws, Articles of Organization and Operating Agreement, or other such similar entity formation and
operating agreement, or of any indenture, or other material agreement or undertaking to which the Borrower is a party or by which the Borrower or any of its property
is bound or any judgment, decree or order applicable to Borrower; (iv) do not, as of the execution hereof, require the Borrower to obtain any governmental consent,
registration or approval; (v) do not contravene any contractual or governmental restriction binding upon the Borrower; and (vi) will not, except as contemplated
herein, result in the imposition of any Lien upon any property of the Borrower under any existing indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan or credit agreement or other
material agreement or instrument to which the Borrower is a party or by which it or any of its property may be bound or affected.

     6.3 Binding Effect. This Agreement and all of the other Loan Documents to which each Borrower is a party are the legal, valid and binding obligations of such
Borrower and are enforceable against such Borrower, as applicable, in accordance with their respective terms.

     6.4 Financial Data. Lawson has furnished to the Lender consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2007 and consolidated financial statements as of
various dates subsequent to December 31, 2007, including, without limitation, financial statements as of June
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30, 2008 (collectively, the “Financials”). The Financials are in accordance with the books and records of the Borrower and fairly present the financial condition of the
Borrower at the dates thereof and the results of operations for the periods indicated (subject, in the case of unaudited financial statements, to normal year-end
adjustments), and such Financials and financial statements have been prepared in conformity with GAAP throughout the periods involved. Since the date of the
Financials, there have been no changes in the condition, financial or otherwise, of the Borrower as shown on such Financials, except (a) as expressly contemplated
herein, and (b) for changes in the ordinary course of business (none of which individually or in the aggregate has been materially adverse). All information, reports
and other materials furnished in writing by or on behalf of the Borrower to the Lender for purposes of, or in connection with this Agreement, is true and correct in all
material respects as of the date as of which such information, report or other material was dated or certified, and none of such information, reports or other materials is
incomplete by omitting to state any material fact necessary to make such information, reports or other materials not misleading in light of the circumstances under
which made (it being recognized by the Lender that any projections and forecasts provided by the Borrower are based on good faith estimates and assumptions
believed by the Borrower to be reasonable as of the date of the applicable projections or assumptions and that actual results during the period or periods covered by
any such projections or forecasts may differ from projected or forecasted results).

     6.5 Intentionally Omitted.

     6.6 Solvency. As of the date hereof after giving effect to the transaction contemplated herein, Lawson (i) is not “insolvent” as that term is defined in
Section 101(32) of the Federal Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) (11 U.S.C. ‘ 101(32)), Section 2 of the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act (“UFTA”) or
Section 2 of the Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act (“UFCA”); (ii) does not have “unreasonably small capital,” as that term is used in Section 548 (a) (2) (B) (ii) of
the Bankruptcy Code or Section 5 of the UFCA; (iii) is not engaged or about to engage in a business or a transaction for which its remaining property is “unreasonably
small” in relation to the business or transaction as that term is used in Section 4 of the UFTA; (iv) is able to pay its debts as they mature or become due in the ordinary
course within the meaning of Section 548(a) (2)(B) (iii) of the Bankruptcy Code, Section 4 of the UFTA and Section 6 of the UFCA; and (v) now owns assets having
a value both at “fair valuation” and at “present fair salable value” greater than the amount required to pay Lawson’s “debts” in the ordinary course as such terms are
used in Section 2 of the UFTA and Section 2 of the UFCA. Lawson shall not be rendered insolvent (as defined above) by the execution and delivery of this Agreement
on the Closing Date, or any of the other Loan Documents or by the transactions contemplated hereunder or thereunder.

     6.7 Intentionally Omitted.

     6.8 Intentionally Omitted.

     6.9 Tax Liabilities. The Borrower has filed all federal, state and local tax reports and returns required by any law or regulation to be filed by it except those for
which extensions have been duly obtained. The Borrower has either duly paid all taxes, duties and charges indicated due on the basis of such returns and reports, other
than those being contested in good faith and
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except as set forth in Schedule 6.9 or has made adequate provision for the payment thereof, and the assessment of any material amount of additional taxes in excess of
those paid and reported is not reasonably expected. No federal income tax returns of Borrower have been audited by the Internal Revenue Service other than audits
which did not have a material adverse effect on Borrower. The reserves for taxes, if any, reflected on the Financials constitute, and the consolidated balance sheets of
the Borrower submitted to the Lender in accordance with the terms of subsection 7.1 below will constitute, reasonable estimations of the amount necessary for the
payment of all liabilities for all federal, state and local taxes (whether or not disputed) of the Borrower accrued through the date of such balance sheets. There are no
material unresolved questions or claims concerning any tax liability of the Borrower.

     6.10 Margin Security. The Borrower does not own any margin securities and none of the loans advanced hereunder will be used for the purpose of purchasing or
carrying any margin securities or for the purpose of reducing or retiring any indebtedness which was originally incurred to purchase any margin securities or for any
other purpose not permitted by Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.

     6.11 Survival of Warranties. All representations and warranties contained in this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents shall survive the execution and
delivery of this Agreement.

     6.12 Subsidiaries. All of Borrower’s Subsidiaries, including the principal place of business and chief executive office thereof, are listed on Schedule 6.12.

     6.13 Litigation and Proceedings. Except as disclosed on Schedule 6.13 attached hereto, no judgments are outstanding against the Borrower nor is there now
pending or, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge after reasonably diligent inquiry, threatened any litigation, contested claim, or governmental proceeding by or
against the Borrower except judgments and pending or threatened litigation, contested claims and governmental proceedings set forth in and upon Schedule 6.13
hereto that exceed $500,000 in the aggregate. To the best of Borrower’s knowledge, the amount of liability set forth on Schedule 6.13 as to each suit listed thereon is
the maximum amount of Borrower’s liability under such suit.

     6.14 Other Agreements. The Borrower is not in default under any material contract, lease, or commitment to which it is a party or by which it is bound except such
defaults which are not likely to result in a materially adverse effect on Borrower’s financial condition or business operation. The Borrower knows of no dispute
regarding any contract, lease, or commitment which is material to the continued financial success and well-being of the Borrower.

     6.15 Employee Controversies. There are no controversies pending or, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge after diligent inquiry, threatened or anticipated,
between the Borrower and any of its employees, other than employee grievances arising in the ordinary course of business which are not, in the aggregate, material to
the continued financial success and wellbeing of the Borrower. The Borrower has no accrued and unpaid liability to any of its employees arising under the Fair Labor
Standards Act, as amended.

     6.16 Compliance with Laws and Regulations.
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     (A) General Compliance. The execution and delivery by the Borrower of this Agreement and all of the other Loan Documents to which it is a party and the
performance of the Borrower’s obligations hereunder and thereunder are not in contravention of any law or laws applicable to Borrower. The Borrower is in
compliance in all material respects with all laws, orders, regulations and ordinances of all federal, foreign, state and local governmental authorities relating to the
business operations and the assets of the Borrower, except for laws, orders, regulations and ordinances the violation of which would not, in the aggregate, have a
material adverse effect on the Borrower’s financial condition, results of operations or business.

     (B) Environmental Compliance. The operations of the Borrower comply in all material respects with all applicable federal, state or local environmental, health and
safety statutes and regulations. The Borrower has not received notice of any judicial or administrative proceeding alleging the violation of any federal, state or local
environmental, health or safety statute or regulation by or pertaining to the Real Property, the Borrower or its property or operations or stating that the Borrower is the
subject of any federal or state investigation evaluating whether any remedial action is needed to respond to a release of any hazardous or toxic waste, substance,
material or constituent, or other substance into the environment which has not been settled or resolved with such governmental agency. Except as expressly set forth
on Schedule 6.13 hereto, the Borrower has not filed any notice under any federal or state law indicating past or present treatment, storage or disposal of a hazardous
waste or reporting a spill or release of a hazardous or toxic waste, substance, material or constituent, or other substance into the environment. Except as expressly set
forth on Schedule 6.13 hereto, the Borrower does not have any contingent liability of which the Borrower has knowledge or reasonably should have knowledge in
connection with any release of any hazardous or toxic waste, substance, material or constituent, or other substance into the environment.

     (C) Borrower is not an “investment company,” or an “affiliated person” of, or “promoter” or “principal underwriter” for, an “investment company,” as such terms
are defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. Neither the making of the Revolving Loan, nor the issuance of any Letters of Credit, nor the
application of the proceeds or repayment thereof by the Borrower, will violate any provision of such Act or any rule, regulation or order of the Securities and
Exchange Commission thereunder or any takeover, disclosure or other federal, state or foreign securities law or Regulations U or X of the Federal Reserve Board. The
Borrower is not subject to regulation under any federal, state or foreign statute or regulation which limits its ability to incur Debt.

     6.17 Patents, Trademarks, Licenses, Etc. The Borrower possesses adequate assets, licenses, patents, patent applications, copyrights, service marks, trademarks,
trademark applications, trade styles and trade names, governmental approvals or other authorizations and other rights that are necessary for the Borrower to continue
to conduct its business as heretofore conducted by it.

     6.18 ERISA. Neither Lawson nor any ERISA Affiliate of Lawson maintains or contributes to any Pension Plan other than a Pension Plan identified on
Schedule 6.18 attached hereto. Each Pension Plan which is intended to be a qualified plan under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code has been determined by
the Internal Revenue Service to be so qualified and each trust related to any such Pension Plan has been determined to be exempt from federal
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income tax under subsection 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code or will be submitted to the Internal Revenue Service prior to the end of the remedial amendment
period. Except as otherwise disclosed on Schedule 6.18 attached hereto, neither Lawson nor any ERISA Affiliate of Lawson maintains or contributes to any employee
welfare benefit plan within the meaning of subsection 3(1) of ERISA which provides lifetime medical benefits to retirees. Each Pension Plan has been administered in
all material respects in accordance with its terms and the terms of ERISA, the Internal Revenue Code and all other statutes and regulations applicable thereto. Neither
Borrower nor any ERISA Affiliate of Borrower has breached in any material respect any of the responsibilities, obligations or duties imposed on it by ERISA or
regulations promulgated thereunder with respect to any Pension Plan. No accumulated funding deficiency (as defined in subsection 302(a) (2) of ERISA and Section 4
12(a) of the Internal Revenue Code) exists in respect to any Pension Plan. Neither Lawson nor any ERISA Affiliate of Lawson nor any fiduciary of any Pension Plan
which is not a Multiemployer Plan (i) has engaged in a nonexempt “prohibited transaction” described in Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Internal
Revenue Code which could result in any liability to Borrower, or (ii) has taken any action which would constitute or result in a Termination Event with respect to any
Pension Plan which could result in any liability to Borrower. Schedule B, if any, to the most recent annual report filed with the Internal Revenue Service with respect
to each Pension Plan has been furnished to Lender and is complete and accurate; since the date of each such Schedule B, there has been no material adverse change in
the funding status or financial condition of the Pension Plan relating to such Schedule B. Neither Lawson nor any ERISA Affiliate of Lawson has incurred any
liability to the PBGC which remains outstanding. Neither Lawson nor any ERISA Affiliate of Lawson has (i) failed to make a required contribution or payment to a
Multiemployer Plan, or (ii) made or expects to make a complete or partial withdrawal under subsections 4203 or 4205 of ERISA from a Multiemployer Plan for which
Lawson or any ERISA Affiliate of Lawson has any liability which has not been satisfied. Neither Lawson nor any ERISA Affiliate of Lawson has failed to make a
required installment under subsection (m) of Section 412 of the Internal Revenue Code or any other payment required under Section 412 of the Internal Revenue Code
on or before the due date for such installment or other payment. Neither Lawson nor any ERISA Affiliate of Lawson is required to provide security to a Pension Plan
under Section 401(a) (29) of the Internal Revenue Code due to a Pension Plan amendment that results in an increase in current liability for the plan year. The present
value of the benefits of each Pension Plan of Borrower and each ERISA Affiliate of the Borrower as of the last day of the year for such Plan, as determined by such
Pension Plan’s independent actuaries, does not exceed the aggregate value, as determined by such actuaries, of all assets under such Pension Plan. Borrower is not
required to contribute to any Multiemployer Plan. No matter is pending relating to any Pension Plan before any court or governmental agency. Borrower has given to
Lender all of the following: copies, if any, of each Pension Plan and related trust agreement (including all amendments to such Plan and trust) in existence or
committed to as of the date hereof and the most recent summary plan description, actuarial report, determination letter issued by the Internal Revenue Service and
Form 5500 filed in respect of each such Pension Plan; a listing of all of the Multiemployer Plans with the aggregate amount of the most recent annual contributions
required to be made by Lawson and all ERISA Affiliates of Lawson to each such Multiemployer Plan; copies of any information which has been provided to Lawson
or any ERISA Affiliate of Lawson regarding withdrawal liability under any Multiemployer Plan and all collective bargaining agreements pursuant to which such
contributions are required to be made; and copies
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of each employee welfare benefit plan within the meaning of subsection 3(l) of ERISA which provides lifetime medical benefits to employees, the most recent
summary plan description for such plan and the aggregate amount of the most recent annual payments made to terminated employees under each such plan.

     6.19 Financial Condition. Except for matters disclosed to the Lender in the January 19, 2009 meeting between Borrower and Lender where Borrower’s 2009
forecast was presented and reflected in the revised projections delivered to the Lender thereafter, since the date of the consolidated financial statements of Lawson,
dated December 31, 2007 and the consolidated interim statement dated June 30, 2008, there has been no material adverse change in Borrower’s financial condition,
results of operations or business or in the value of the Collateral.

     6.20 Subordinated Debt. Borrower has no subordinated debt.

     6.21 Officers and Directors. The officers and directors of Lawson and each Subsidiary are set forth on Schedule 6.21.

     6.22 Certain Proceedings. There are no pending or, to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge upon due investigation, threatened eminent domain, condemnation,
special assessment or other governmental proceedings pertaining to the Real Property which would have a material adverse effect on Borrower’s financial condition or
business operations.

     6.23 No Violations. Except as set forth in Schedule 6.13, The Borrower has not received any written notice of, and has no actual knowledge of, violations of any
zoning, building, fire or health code statutes or ordinances of any applicable governmental body existing upon the Real Property which have not been corrected and
which would have a material adverse effect on Borrower’s financial condition or business operations. Borrower’s use of the Real Property is consistent with and
allowed by applicable zoning law.

     6.24 Taxes. All real estate taxes for the Real Property which have become due have been paid in full except any such taxes or charges which are being diligently
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and do not cause a material adverse effect to Borrower’s financial condition or business operations.

     6.25 Utilities. All water, sewer, gas, electric, telephone, drainage and other utility equipment, facilities and services required or necessary for the operation of Real
Property for the business to be conducted by the Borrower are installed and connected. To the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, no fact, condition or proceeding
exists which would result in the termination or impairment of the furnishing of such utility services to the Borrower and would have a material adverse effect on
Borrower’s financial condition or business operations.

7. AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS.

     Each Borrower jointly and severally covenants and agrees, except to the extent not applicable to such Borrower that, so long as any of the Liabilities remain
outstanding, and (even if there shall be no Liabilities outstanding) so long as this Agreement remains in effect:
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     7.1 Financial Statements. Borrower shall keep proper books of record and account in which full and true entries will be made of all dealings or transactions of or in
relation to the business and affairs of Borrower, in accordance with GAAP. The Financials will be in accordance with the books and records of the Borrower and will
fairly present in all material respects, the financial condition of the Borrower at the dates thereof and the results of operations for the periods indicated (subject, in the
case of unaudited financial statements, to normal yearend adjustments), and such Financials and financial statements will be prepared in conformity with GAAP
throughout the periods involved. All information, reports and other materials furnished in writing by or on behalf of the Borrower to the Lender for purposes of, or in
connection with this Agreement, will be true and correct in all material respects as of the date as of which such information, report or other material was dated or
certified, and none of such information, reports or other materials will be incomplete by omitting to state any material fact necessary to make such information, reports
or other materials not misleading in light of the circumstances under which made (it being recognized by the Lender that any projections and forecasts provided by the
Borrower are based on good faith estimates and assumptions believed by the Borrower to be reasonable as of the date of the applicable projections or assumptions and
that actual results during the period or periods covered by any such projections or forecasts may differ from projected or forecasted results).

     Lawson shall cause to be furnished to Lender in accordance with past practice consistently applied:

     (A) Periodic Reporting. As soon as practicable, and in any event within forty-five days after the end of each Fiscal Quarter:

 (i)  consolidated statements of income, retained earnings and cash flow of Borrower for such calendar month and for the period from the beginning of
the then current Fiscal Year to the end of such Fiscal Quarter, and a consolidated balance sheet of Borrower as of the end of such Fiscal Quarter,
setting forth in each case, in comparative form, figures (1) in the case of statements, for the corresponding periods in the preceding Fiscal Year and
(2) in the case of balance sheets, as of the last day of the preceding Fiscal Year (unless a different period is reasonably requested by the Lender), all
in reasonable detail and certified as accurate by an Authorized Officer pursuant to a certificate in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto, subject to
changes resulting from normal year-end adjustments;

 

 (ii)  statements prepared in the ordinary course, if any, in which income for such Fiscal Quarter and for the period from the start of the then current
Fiscal Year to the end of such Fiscal Quarter, the cash flows for the period from the start of the then current Fiscal Year to the end of such Fiscal
Quarter, and the actual balance sheets at the end of such Fiscal Quarter (in each case as required to be delivered pursuant to subsection 7.1(A)
(i) hereof) are compared with the corresponding projected statements of income and cash
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   flow and balance sheets for such periods and time furnished to Lender pursuant to subsection 7.l (F) below, in each case in the same format as the
audited statements of income and cash flow and the audited balance sheet; all in reasonable detail along with a Covenant Compliance Certificate
certified by an Authorized Officer pursuant to a certificate in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto;

 (iii)  (a) as reasonably requested by Lender, copies of consolidated operating statements for such Fiscal Quarter prepared by Borrower for internal use,
including, without limitation, statements of cash flow, purchases and sales of inventory and other similar data, and (b) a comparison of actual cash
flow and Capital Expenditures with amounts budgeted for such Fiscal Quarter;

 

 (iv)  calculations setting forth the compliance with the financial covenants set forth in subsection 8.14 hereof for the most recently completed Fiscal
Quarter; and

 

 (v)  in the event that any of the foregoing statements indicate that Borrower has varied in any material respect from any financial projections provided
by Borrower to Lender, upon Lender’s reasonable request a statement of explanation of such deviation from an Authorized Officer;

     (B) Annual. As soon as practicable and in any event within one hundred and twenty (120) days after the end of each Fiscal Year of Borrower, consolidated
statements of income, retained earnings and cash flow of Borrower for such Fiscal Year, and a consolidated balance sheet of Borrower as of the end of such Fiscal
Year, setting forth in each case, in comparative form, corresponding figures for the period covered by the preceding annual statement (in the case of statements) and as
of the end of the preceding Fiscal Year (in the case of balance sheets) prepared in accordance with GAAP and audited by independent certified public accountants
selected by Lawson, whose opinion shall be either unqualified or in scope and substance reasonably satisfactory to Lender and, if reasonably requested by Lender, be
the subject of a reliance letter from such accountants permitting Lender to rely on the contents thereof as if prepared specifically for use by Lender, along with a
Covenant Compliance Certificate certified by an Authorized Officer pursuant to a certificate in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto;

     (C) Default Notices. As soon as practicable (but in any event not more than five (5) Business Days after any Responsible Officer of Borrower obtains knowledge
of the occurrence of an event or the existence of a circumstance giving rise to an Event of Default or a Default), notice of any and all Events of Default or Defaults
hereunder;

     (D) Other Defaults and Material Information. As soon as practicable (but in any event not more than five (5) Business Days after any officer of Borrower obtains
knowledge of the occurrence of an event or the existence of a circumstance giving rise to a Default or Event of
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Default under or a material violation of any term hereunder, notice of any such Default, Event of Default or violation, and immediately upon the receipt thereof,
copies of any notices with respect thereto and any other material correspondence or information relating thereto shall be provided to Lender by Borrower;

     (E) Budget. To the extent prepared by Borrower in the ordinary course of business, or if reasonably requested in writing by Lender, Borrower shall (i) prepare an
annual budget for the next Fiscal Year, in reasonable detail (on a fiscal month basis for the immediately succeeding Fiscal Year), and a detailed statement of the
methods and assumptions used in the preparation of such budget or (ii) prepare a pro forma budget in the preparation for or investigation regarding an acquisition;

     (F) Letters from Accountants and Consultants. As soon as practicable and in any event within ten (10) days of delivery to Lawson, a copy of (i) to the extent that
such letters may from time to time be issued by Borrower’s independent certified public accountants, each “Management Letter” prepared by Borrower’s independent
certified public accountants in connection with the financial statements referred to in subsection 7.1(B) hereof and (ii) to the extent that such letters may from time to
time be issued by Borrower’s independent certified public accountants or other management consultants (collectively, “Accounting Systems Letters”), any letter
issued by Borrower’s independent certified public accountants or other management consultants with respect to recommendations relating to Borrower’s financial or
accounting systems or controls, and Borrower shall use its best efforts to cause each Management Letter and Accounting Systems Letter to be either addressed to
Lender or accompanied by a reliance letter from such accountants permitting Lender to rely on the contents of each of the above as if prepared specifically for use by
Lender (Borrower further agrees that upon Borrower’s receipt of any Accounting Systems Letters wherein such accountants or consultants have made
recommendations for improvements to Borrower’s financial or accounting systems or controls, Borrower promptly shall commence actions to correct any material
defects in such financial or accounting systems or controls unless Lender otherwise consents or Borrower reasonably disagrees with the need for such actions.);

     (G) Other Information. With reasonable promptness, such other business or financial data as Lender may reasonably request.

     (H) Covenant Compliance Certificate. The Borrower shall, contemporaneously with the furnishing of the financial statements pursuant to this Section 7.1, but in no
event later than forty-five (45) days after the end of any Fiscal Quarter, deliver to the Lender a duly completed compliance certificate in form set forth as Exhibit A
attached hereto and made a part hereof, in form and substance acceptable to Lender, dated as of the date of such financial statements and certified as true and correct
by an Authorized Officer, containing a computation of each of the financial covenants set forth in Section 7.1 and stating that the Borrower has not become aware of
any Event of Default or Default that has occurred and is continuing or, if there is any such Event of Default or Default describing it and the steps, if any, being taken
to cure it.

     All financial statements delivered to Lender pursuant to the requirements of this subsection 7.1 (except where otherwise expressly indicated) shall be prepared in
accordance with GAAP (subject in the case of interim financial statements to the lack of footnotes and normal year-end adjustments) consistently applied, except for
changes therein with which the
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independent certified public accountants issuing the opinion on the financial statements delivered pursuant to subsection 7.1(B) hereof have previously concurred in
writing. Together with each delivery of financial statements required by subsections 7.1(A) and 7.1(B) hereof, Lawson shall deliver to Lender a certificate of an
Authorized Officer of Lawson in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A setting forth in such detail as is reasonably acceptable to Lender calculations with respect to
Borrower’s compliance with each of the financial covenants contained in this Agreement and stating that to the best knowledge of the Authorized Officer upon due
investigation there exists no Default or Event of Default, or, if any Default or Event of Default exists, specifying the nature and the period of existence thereof and
what action Borrower proposes to take with respect thereto.

     Lender shall exercise reasonable efforts to keep such information, and all information acquired as a result of any inspection conducted in accordance with
subsection 7.2 hereof, confidential, provided that Lender may communicate such information (a) to any other Person in accordance with the customary practices of
commercial banks relating to routine trade inquiries, (b) to any regulatory authority having jurisdiction over Lender, (c) to any other Person in connection with
Lender’s sale of any participations in the Liabilities or assignment of any rights and obligations of Lender under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, (d) to
any other Person in connection with the exercise of Lender’s rights, prerogatives or performance hereunder or under any of the other Loan Documents, (e) to any
Person in any litigation in which Lender is a party, or (f) to any Person if Lender believes in Good Faith that disclosure is necessary or appropriate to comply with any
applicable law, rule or regulation or in response to a subpoena, order or other legal process or informal investigative demand, whether issued by a court, judicial or
administrative or legislative body or committee or other governmental authority or (g) to any agents, employees, attorneys, accountants or appraisers of the Lender.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, information shall not be deemed to be confidential to the extent such information (i) was already lawfully in the possession of Lender
prior to such information being provided to Lender by Borrower, (ii) is available in the public domain, (iii) becomes available in the public domain other than as a
result of unauthorized disclosure by Lender, or (iv) is acquired from a Person not known by Lender to be in breach of an obligation of secrecy to Borrower. Borrower
authorizes Lender to discuss the financial condition of Borrower with Borrower’s independent certified public accountants and agrees that such discussion or
communication shall be without liability to either Lender or Borrower’s independent certified public accountants and other professional representatives.

     7.2 Intentionally Omitted.

     7.3 Conduct of Business. Lawson shall maintain its legal existence as a Delaware Corporation, each Subsidiary shall maintain its legal existence as the State or
County entity type stated on Schedule 6.12, Borrower shall maintain in full force and effect all material licenses, permits, authorizations, bonds, franchises, leases,
patents, contracts and other rights necessary for the profitable conduct of its business, shall continue in, and limit its operations to, the same general line of business as
that presently conducted by it and shall comply with all applicable laws and regulations of any federal, foreign, state or local governmental authority, except for such
laws and regulations the violation of which would not, in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on the Borrower’s financial condition, results of operations or
business or the Borrower’s ability to perform its obligations.
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     7.4 Claims and Taxes. The Borrower agrees to indemnify and hold Lender and each of its officers, directors, employees, attorneys and agents harmless from and
against any and all claims, demands, liabilities, losses, damages, penalties, costs, and expenses (including without limitation reasonable attorneys’ and consultants’
fees) relating to or in any way arising out of the possession, use, operation or control of any of the Borrower’s assets. The Borrower agrees that it shall pay or cause to
be paid all license fees, bonding premiums and related taxes and charges, and shall pay or cause to be paid all of Borrower’s real and personal property taxes,
assessments and charges and all of Borrower’s franchise, income, unemployment, use, excise, old age benefit, withholding, sales and other taxes and other
governmental charges assessed against Borrower or payable by Borrower, at such times and in such manner as to prevent any penalty from accruing or any lien or
charge from attaching to its property or the Real Property, provided that Borrower shall have the right to contest in good faith, by an appropriate proceeding promptly
initiated and diligently conducted, the validity, amount or imposition of any such tax, assessment or charge, and during the pendency of such good faith contest to
delay or refuse payment thereof, if (i) Borrower establishes adequate reserves to cover such contested taxes, assessments or charges, and (ii) such contest does not
have a material adverse effect on Borrower’s financial condition, results of operations or business, the ability of Borrower to pay any of the Liabilities, or the value to
Lender of the Collateral.

     7.5 The Lender’s Costs and Expenses as Additional Liabilities. The Borrower, agrees to reimburse the Lender promptly for all reasonable expenses and fees paid or
incurred in connection with the analysis, documentation, negotiation and closing of the loans and other extensions of credit described herein, including, without
limitation, lien search, filing and recording fees and the reasonable fees and expenses of the Lender’s attorneys and paralegals and consultants (whether such attorneys
and paralegals are employees of Lender or are separately engaged by Lender), whether such expenses and fees are incurred prior to or after the date hereof. All costs
and expenses incurred by the Lender with respect to the negotiation, documentation, enforcement, collection and protection of the Lender’s interests in the collateral
shall be additional Liabilities of the Borrower to the Lender, payable on demand, repaid as provided in subsection 2.6 hereof.

     7.6 The Borrower’s Liability Insurance. The Borrower shall maintain, at its expense, such public liability and third party property damage insurance in such
amounts and with such deductibles as is acceptable to the Lender in its reasonable discretion exercised in Good Faith.

     7.7 The Borrower’s Property Insurance and Business Interruption Insurance. The Borrower shall, at its expense, maintain business interruption insurance and keep
and maintain its assets insured against loss or damage by fire, theft, burglary, pilferage, loss in transit, explosion, spoilage and all other hazards and risks and in such
amounts as is ordinarily insured against by other owners or users of such properties in similar businesses. All such policies of insurance shall be in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to the Lender, and the Borrower shall not amend or otherwise change any such policies in any way which may materially adversely affect the
Lender without the prior written consent of the Lender. The Borrower shall deliver to the Lender a certificate or other satisfactory evidence of each policy of insurance
and evidence of payment of all premiums therefor. If the Borrower, at any time or times hereafter, shall fail to obtain or maintain any of the policies of insurance
required above or to pay any premium in whole or in part relating thereto, then the Lender, without waiving or releasing any
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obligation or default by the Borrower hereunder, may at any time or times thereafter (but shall be under no obligation to do so) obtain and maintain such policies of
insurance and pay such premiums and take any other action with respect thereto which the Lender deems advisable.

     7.8 ERISA. Lawson shall deliver to Lender, at Lawson’s expense, the following information as and when provided below:

 (i)  as soon as possible, and in any event within twenty (20) days after Lawson or an ERISA Affiliate of Lawson knows or has reason to know that a
Termination Event has occurred, a written statement of an Authorized Officer of Lawson describing such Termination Event and the action, if any,
which Lawson or such ERISA Affiliate of Lawson has taken, is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto, and when known, any action taken
or threatened by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”), the Department of Labor (“DOL”) or PBGC with respect thereto;

 

 (ii)  as soon as possible, and in any event within thirty (30) days, after Lawson or an ERISA Affiliate of Lawson knows or has reason to know that a
prohibited transaction (defined in Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue code) has occurred, a statement of an
Authorized Officer of Lawson describing such transaction;

 

 (iii)  promptly after the filing thereof with the DOL, IRS or PBGC, copies of each annual report, including Schedule B thereto, filed with respect to
each Pension Plan;

 

 (iv)  promptly after the filing thereof with the IRS, a copy of each funding waiver request filed with respect to any Pension Plan and all
communications received by Lawson or any ERISA Affiliate of Lawson with respect to such request;

 

 (v)  promptly upon the occurrence thereof, notification of any increases in the benefits of any existing Pension Plan or the establishment of any new
Pension Plan or the commencement of contributions to any Pension Plan to which Lawson or any ERISA Affiliate of Lawson was not previously
contributing;

 

 (vi)  promptly upon, and in any event within ten (10) Business Days after, receipt by Lawson or an ERISA Affiliate of Lawson of the PBGC’s intention
to terminate a Pension Plan or to have a trustee appointed to administer a Pension Plan, copies of each such notice;

 

 (vii)  promptly upon, and in any event within ten (10) Business Days after, receipt by Lawson or an ERISA Affiliate of Lawson of an unfavorable
determination letter from the IRS regarding the
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   qualification of a Pension Plan under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, copies of such letter;
 

 (viii) promptly upon, and in any event within ten (10) Business Days after receipt by Lawson or an ERISA Affiliate of Lawson of a notice from a
Multiemployer Plan regarding the imposition of withdrawal liability, copies of such notice; and

 

 (ix)  promptly upon, and in any event within twenty (20) Business Days after either Lawson or an ERISA Affiliate of Lawson fails to make a required
installment under subsection (m) of Section 412 of the Code or any other payment required under Section 412 on or before the due date for such
installment or payment, a notification of such failure.

     Lawson shall, and shall cause each of its ERISA Affiliates to, (a) keep in full force and effect any Pension Plans that are presently in existence or may, from time to
time, come into existence, (b) make contributions to all Pension Plans in a timely manner and in a sufficient amount to comply with the requirements of the Pension
Plans, the Code and ERISA, (c) comply with all requirements of ERISA and the Code which relate to all Pension Plans, and (d) notify Lender immediately upon
receipt by Lawson or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any notice of the institution of any proceeding or other action which may result in the termination of any Pension
Plan or where there may constitute a Termination Event. Lawson shall, and shall cause each of its ERISA Affiliates to, make any and all payments to any
Multiemployer Plan that Lawson or any ERISA Affiliate thereof may be required to make under any agreement relating to any Multiemployer Plan or any law
pertaining thereto, except for any such payments being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings.

     7.9 Notice of Suit or Adverse Change in Business. The Borrower shall, as soon as possible, and in any event within five (5) Business Days after any Responsible
Officer of the Borrower learns of the following, give written notice to the Lender of: (i) any material proceeding(s) (including, without limitation, litigation, arbitration
or governmental proceedings) being instituted or threatened to be instituted by or against the Borrower in any federal, state, local or foreign court or before any
commission or other regulatory body (federal, state, local or foreign) which seeks an award against Borrower in an amount in excess of $500,000 or would result in a
materially adverse effect on the financial condition or operation of business of Borrower; (ii) notice that the Borrower’s operations are in material noncompliance with
requirements of applicable federal, state or local environmental, health and safety statutes and regulations; (iii) notice that the Borrower is subject to federal or state
investigation evaluating whether any material remedial action is needed to respond to the release of any hazardous or toxic waste, substance or constituent, or other
substance into the environment; (iv) notice that any material portion of the properties or assets of the Borrower or the Real Property is subject to an Environmental
Lien; and (v) any material adverse change in the business, assets or condition, financial or otherwise, of the Borrower.

     7.10 Supervening Illegality. If, at any time or times hereafter, there shall become effective any amendment to, deletion from or revision, modification or other
change in any
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provision of any statute, or any rule, regulation or interpretation thereunder or any similar law or regulation, affecting, in the Lender’s reasonable determination, the
Lender’s extension of credit described in this Agreement or the selling of participations therein, the Borrower shall either (i) pay to the Lender the then outstanding
balance of the Liabilities which are in violation thereof, and hold the Lender harmless from and against any and all obligations, fees, liabilities, losses, penalties, costs,
expenses and damages of every kind and nature imposed upon or incurred by the Borrower by reason of the Lender’s failure or inability to comply with the terms of
this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents as a result of, but only to the extent of such change, or (ii) indemnify and hold the Lender harmless from and
against any and all obligations, fees, liabilities, losses, penalties, costs, expenses and damages of every kind and nature imposed upon or incurred by the Lender by
reason of such amendment, deletion, revision, modification, or other change as a result of, but only to the extent of such change. The obligations of the Borrower
under this subsection 7.10 shall survive payment of the Liabilities and termination of this Agreement.

     7.11 Environmental Laws. If the Borrower shall (a) receive notice that any violation of any federal, state or local environmental law or regulation may have been
committed or is about to be committed by the Borrower which will have a material adverse effect on Borrower’s financial condition or business operations, (b) receive
notice that any administrative or judicial complaint or order has been filed or is about to be filed against the Borrower alleging a material violation of any federal, state
or local environmental law or regulation or requiring the Borrower to take any action in connection with the material release of toxic or hazardous substances into the
environment, or (c) receive any notice from a federal, state, or local governmental agency or private party alleging that the Borrower may be liable or responsible for
any material amount of costs associated with a response to or cleanup of a release of a toxic or hazardous substance into the environment or any damages caused
thereby, the Borrower shall provide the Lender with a copy of such notice within fifteen (15) days after the Borrower’s receipt thereof. Within fifteen (15) days after
the Borrower has learned of the enactment or promulgation of any federal, state or local environmental law/or regulation which may result in any material adverse
change in the condition, financial or otherwise, of the Borrower, the Borrower shall provide the Lender with notice thereof.

     7.12 Lender as Depository. Lawson shall continue to utilize Lender as its depository and remittance point for funds received by Lawson in the ordinary course of
business to the extent so used as of the date hereof. Lawson shall maintain sufficient balances to cover the costs of account activity.

     7.13 Compliance with Certain Statutes. The Borrower shall (a) ensure, and cause each Subsidiary to ensure, that no person who owns a controlling interest in or
otherwise controls the Borrower or any Subsidiary is or shall be listed on the Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Person List or other similar lists maintained
by the Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”), the Department of the Treasury or included in any Executive Orders, (b) not use or permit the use of the proceeds
of the Revolving Loans to violate any of the foreign asset control regulations of OFAC or any enabling statute or Executive Order relating thereto, and (c) comply, and
cause each Subsidiary to comply, with all applicable Bank Secrecy Act (“BSA”) laws and regulations, as amended.
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8. NEGATIVE COVENANTS.

     Each Borrower jointly and severally covenants and agrees, except to the extent not applicable to it that, so long as any of the Liabilities remain outstanding, and
(even if there shall be no Liabilities outstanding) so long as this Agreement remains in effect (unless the Lender shall give its prior written consent thereto):

     8.1 Encumbrances. The Borrower will not create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien of any nature whatsoever on any of its assets or property, other than:
(i) deposits under workmen’s compensation, unemployment insurance, social security and other similar laws, or to secure the performance of bids, tenders or contracts
(other than for the repayment of borrowed money) or to secure indemnity, performance or other similar bonds for the performance of bids, tenders or contracts (other
than for the repayment of borrowed money) or to secure statutory obligations or surety or appeal bonds, or to secure indemnity, performance or other similar bonds in
the ordinary course of business; (ii) the security interests in favor of Lender; (iii) Liens which arise by operation of law, other than Environmental Liens; (iv) Liens for
taxes not yet due which are being diligently contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings; (v) easements, rights-of-way, restrictions, covenants or other
agreements of record, and other similar charges or encumbrances on real estate, that do not secure any monetary obligation and do not interfere with the Borrower’s
ordinary course of business; (vi) normal and customary rights of setoff upon deposits in favor of depository institutions, and Liens of a collecting bank on payment
items in the course of collection; (vii) Liens in connection with purchase money Indebtedness and Capitalized Leases permitted pursuant to Section 8.2; provided, that
such Liens secure only the amounts borrowed to finance the purchase or lease, and attaches only to, the assets relating to the purchase or lease; and (viii) Liens
existing on the Closing Date and set forth on Schedule 8.1 hereto (clauses (i) through (viii), collectively, “Permitted Liens”).

     8.2 Indebtedness. Except for (a) Indebtedness existing on the First Amendment Effective Date and set forth on Schedule 8.2 to the First Amendment, (b) Hedging
Obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business for the purpose of directly mitigating risks associated with liabilities, commitments, investments, assets, or
property held or reasonably anticipated, and not for purposes of speculation or taking a “market view;” (c) Bank Product Obligations other than Hedging Obligations;
(d) any refinancings, refundings, renewals or extensions of any of the foregoing provided that (i) the amount of such Indebtedness is not increased at the time of such
refinancing, refunding, renewal or extension and (ii) the terms relating to principal amount, amortization, maturity, collateral (if any) and subordination (if any), and
other material terms taken as a whole, of any such refinancing, refunding, renewing or extending Indebtedness, and of any agreement entered into and of any
instrument issued in connection therewith, are no less favorable in any material respect to the Borrower or the Lender than the terms of any agreement or instrument
governing the Indebtedness being refinanced, refunded, renewed or extended and the interest rate applicable to any such refinancing, refunding, renewing or
extending Indebtedness does not exceed the then applicable market interest rate; (e) Indebtedness to the Lender; (f) excluding purchase money Indebtedness and
Capitalized Leases set forth on Schedule 8.2 hereto, purchase money Indebtedness and Capitalized Leases in an aggregate amount not to exceed $2,500,000 at any
time outstanding; and (g) Indebtedness permitted under Sections 8.4(vi) or (vii), Borrower shall not create, assume, or become liable in any manner with
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respect to or permit to exist any obligations or Indebtedness to anyone without the prior written consent of the Lender.

     8.3 Consolidations, Mergers or Acquisitions. Borrower shall not recapitalize, consolidate with, merge with, or otherwise acquire all or substantially all of the assets
or properties of any other Person without the prior written consent of Lender.

     8.4 Investments or Loans. Borrower shall not make or permit to exist investments or loans in or to any other Person, except (i) investments in short-term direct
obligations of the United States Government, (ii) investments in negotiable certificates of deposit or other investment accounts (i.e. money market accounts) issued by
Lender, an affiliate of Lender or by any other bank or financial institution satisfactory to Lender, in its reasonable discretion, and payable to the order of Borrower or
to bearer, (iii) investments in commercial paper rated Al or Pl, (iv) advances to employees of Borrower in the ordinary course of business to the extent that such
advances do not materially adversely affect Borrower’s financial condition or operation of business, (v) advances against commissions to independent sales agents of
Borrower in the ordinary course of business to the extent that such advances do not materially adversely affect Borrower’s financial condition or operation of
business, (vi) intercompany transfers between one or more Borrowers in the ordinary course of business to the extent that such intercompany transfers do not
materially adversely affect Borrower’s financial condition, operation of business or the financial covenants contained in Section 8.13 herein, (vii) intercompany
transfers between Lawson and Lawson Canada in an amount not to exceed $25,000,000 in the aggregate at any time, and (viii) loans to current employees or officers
of Borrower as permitted pursuant to Section 8.6.

     8.5 Guarantees. Except for obligations of other Persons not to exceed $25,000 in the aggregate or as related to a relocation of an employee or independent sales
agent of Borrower, Borrower shall not guarantee, endorse or otherwise in any way become or be responsible for obligations of any other Person, whether by
agreement to purchase the indebtedness of any other Person or through the purchase of goods, supplies or services, or maintenance of working capital or other balance
sheet covenants or conditions, or by way of stock purchase, capital contribution, advance or loan for the purpose of paying or discharging any indebtedness or
obligation of such other Person or otherwise, except endorsements of negotiable instruments for collection in the ordinary course of business.

     8.6 Compensation to Officers and Others. Except for (a) advances and reimbursements for travel and expenses to Borrower’s officers, directors or employees in the
ordinary course of business, (b) reasonable salaries and bonuses for all salaried personnel, officers, and directors, (c) payments pursuant to existing agreements
entered into by Borrower in the ordinary course, (d) existing loans to officers and employees of Borrower, and (e) advances permitted pursuant to clauses (iv), (v), and
(viii) of Section 8.4, the Borrower shall not make any loans to or pay any bonuses, fees or other amounts to any officers, directors, employees or stockholders of the
Borrower.

     8.7 Issuance of Stock. The Borrowers other than Lawson shall not issue or distribute any capital stock or other securities for consideration or otherwise without the
prior written consent of Lender.
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     8.8 Amendment of Articles of Incorporation, By-Laws; Company Name; Places of Business. Borrower shall not amend its Articles of Incorporation, Articles of
Organization, or similar organizational documents or By-Laws, operating agreements, or similar governing documents, without prior written notice to Lender, and
except that Borrower may amend its Articles of Incorporation, Articles of Organization or similar organizational document to effect a change in its company name or
adopt assumed names, provided that Borrower furnishes to Lender such financing statements executed by Borrower which Lender may reasonably request prior to the
filing of such amendment and furnishes to Lender a copy of such amendment, certified by all appropriate Secretaries of State or other state officials within ten
(10) Business Days of the date such amendment is filed with such Secretary of State. Borrower shall not make any change to the location of its principal place of
business or chief executive office unless prior to the effective date of such change in location, Borrower delivers to Lender such financing statements executed by
Borrower which Lender may request to reflect such change in location. Borrower shall deliver such other documents and instruments as Lender may request in
connection with such change in name or location within ten (10) Business Days of the effectiveness of such change or Lender’s request therefor.

     8.9 Transactions with Subsidiaries and Affiliates. Borrower will not enter into any transaction with any Affiliate (including, without limitation: (a) the making of
any loans to, or the payment of any bonuses, fees or other money to, any Affiliate, and/or (b) the purchase, sale or exchange of property or the rendering of any service
to any Subsidiary or Affiliate) except for (i) transactions solely among one or more Borrowers, (ii) transactions permitted under clauses (vi) or (vii) of Section 8.4, and
(iii) transactions in the ordinary course of and pursuant to the reasonable requirements of Borrower’s business and upon fair and reasonable terms no less favorable to
Borrower than Borrower would obtain in a comparable arm’s-length transaction with an unaffiliated person or corporation.

     8.10 ERISA Violations. Borrower shall not:

     (A) engage, or permit an ERISA Affiliate of Borrower to engage, in any prohibited transaction described in Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Internal
Revenue Code for which a class exemption is not available or a private exemption has not been previously obtained from the DOL;

     (B) permit to exist any accumulated funding deficiency for any Pension Plan (as defined in subsection 302 of ERISA and Section 412 of the Internal Revenue
Code), whether or not waived;

     (C) fail, or permit an ERISA Affiliate of Borrower to fail, to pay timely required contributions or annual installments due with respect to any Plan including
without limitation any installments due with respect to any waived funding deficiency to any Pension Plan;

     (D) terminate, or permit an ERISA Affiliate of Borrower to terminate, any Pension Plan which would result in any liability of Borrower or an ERISA Affiliate of
Borrower under Title IV of ERISA;
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     (E) fail, or permit an ERISA Affiliate of Borrower to fail, to pay to any Pension Plan any required installment under section (m) of Section 412 of the Internal
Revenue Code or any other payment required under Section 412 of the Internal Revenue Code on or before the due date for such installment or other payment;

     (F) amend, or permit an ERISA Affiliate of Borrower to amend, a Pension Plan resulting in an increase in current liability for the plan year such that either
Borrower or an ERISA Affiliate of Borrower is required to provide security to such Plan under Section 401(a) (29) of the Internal Revenue Code;

     (G) permit any reportable event (as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA) to occur;

     (H) withdraw, or permit any ERISA Affiliate to withdraw, from any Pension Plan during a plan year for which Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate is a substantial
employer with respect to such plan if Borrower or such ERISA Affiliate would incur liability to the PBGC with respect to such plan under Sections 4063 or 4064 of
ERISA; or

     (I) withdraw, or permit any ERISA Affiliate to withdraw, from any Multiemployer Plan if a withdrawal liability would result to Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate
pursuant to Section 4201 of ERISA.

     8.11 Fiscal Year. Borrower’s Fiscal Year commences January 1 and ends December 31 of each year. Borrower may change its Fiscal Year only with the prior
written consent of Lender.

     8.12 Subsidiaries. Borrower shall not form or acquire any additional Subsidiaries other than those listed on Schedule 6.12 without the prior consent of Lender.

     8.13 Financial Covenants.

     (A) Intentionally Omitted.

     (B) Minimum Shareholder Equity. Lawson shall not permit its total shareholder equity as of the end of any Fiscal Quarter to be less than the sum of (i) eighty
percent (80%) of the Borrower’s Net Worth as at June 30, 2008 plus (ii) fifty percent (50%) of the Borrower’s Net Income for each Fiscal Quarter thereafter; provided,
that the amount of Borrower’s Net Income for each Fiscal Quarter in clause (ii) shall be greater than zero.

     (C) Fixed Charge Coverage. As of the end of each of its Fiscal Quarters commencing with the Fiscal Quarter ending on December 31, 2009, calculated on a rolling
four (4) Fiscal Quarter basis (i.e. the one (1) year period encompassing such Fiscal Quarter and the previous three (3) Fiscal Quarters then elapsed), the Borrower shall
maintain a ratio of (a) the total for such four (4) Fiscal Quarter period of EBITDA minus all Capital Expenditures which are not financed with Funded Debt, to (b) the
sum for such four (4) Fiscal Quarter period of (i) Interest Charges, (ii) required payments of principal of the Liabilities (iii) dividends, and (iv) the sum of all income
taxes paid in cash by the Borrowers, of not less than 1.25 to 1.00.
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     (D) Minimum EBITDA. The Borrower shall maintain a total EBITDA for each of the Fiscal Quarters set forth below of not less than the amount set forth below
for such Fiscal Quarter:
     
Fiscal Quarter  Minimum EBITDA
Fiscal Quarter ending March 31, 2009  $-2,500,000 
Fiscal Quarter ending June 30, 2009  $ 2,744,000 
Fiscal Quarter ending September 30, 2009  $ 4,446,000 

     (E) Intentionally Omitted.

     (F) Total Debt to EBITDA. As of the end of each of its Fiscal Quarters commencing with the Fiscal Quarter ending on December 31, 2009, the Borrower shall
maintain a ratio of consolidated Total Debt to consolidated EBITDA for the period of four Fiscal Quarters ending on such date, of not greater than (a) as of the end of
the Fiscal Quarter ending December 31, 2009, 3.50 to 1.00; (b) as of the end of the Fiscal Quarter ending March 31, 2010, 3.25 to 1.00; and (c) as of the end of each
subsequent Fiscal Quarter, 3.00 to 1.00.

     Without limiting the foregoing, in addition to a reserve taken by Borrower in its Fiscal Quarter ending June 30, 2008 for the Federal Settlement Amount, the
Borrower will also incur approximately $5,000,000 of costs and expenses relating to the Federal Settlement (the “Federal Settlement Costs and Expenses”). For
purposes of calculating the Total Debt to consolidated EBITDA covenant set forth in this Section 8.13(F), costs and expenses relating to the Federal Settlement of up
to $250,000 incurred during the Fiscal Quarter ending on March 31, 2009 shall not be classified as a reduction to EBITDA for the applicable measurement periods.

     8.14 Intentionally Omitted.

     8.15 Environmental. Borrower shall not fail to comply in any material respect with all federal, state or local environmental laws and regulations, including, without
limitation, environmental, land use, occupational safety or health laws, rules, regulations, requirements or permits in all jurisdictions in which it, is or may at any time
be doing business, including without limitation the federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act, the Federal Clear Air Act, the Federal Clean Water Act, and the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act, as the same may be
amended from time to time; provided, however that nothing contained in this subsection 8.15 shall prevent the Borrower from contesting, in good faith by appropriate
legal proceedings, any such law, regulation, interpretation thereof or application thereof, provided, further, that Borrower shall not fail to comply with the order of any
court or other governmental body of applicable jurisdiction relating to such laws unless Borrower shall currently be prosecuting an appeal or proceedings for review
and shall have secured a stay of enforcement or execution or other arrangement postponing enforcement or execution pending such appeal or proceedings for review.
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     8.16 Disposal of Property. Borrower shall not sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of its assets or property to any Person, except for (a) sales of
Inventory to customers in the ordinary course of business, (b) the sale of uncollectible Accounts to collection companies in the ordinary course of business and for fair
value, (c) sales of obsolete and/or unusable equipment in the ordinary course of business, (d) sales of the owned Real Property located at 4335 Beltwood Parkway,
Dallas, TX and 6510 Northpark Boulevard, Charlotte, NC, and sales of excess equipment resulting from the closure of such locations, in each case so long as such
sale is for not less than the fair market value of the subject equipment or Real Property, and (e) sales of other assets or property so long as (i) each such sale is for not
less than the fair market value of the subject assets or property, and (ii) the aggregate fair market value of all such sales does not exceed $5,000,000 in any Fiscal Year.

     8.17 Distributions; Restrictions on Upstream Payments. Borrower shall not (a) declare or make any Distributions, except (i) Upstream Payments and
(ii) Distributions on the equity interests of Lawson in an aggregate amount not to exceed $260,000 during any Fiscal Quarter; or (b) create or suffer to exist any
encumbrance or restriction on the ability of a Subsidiary to make any Upstream Payment, except for restrictions under the Loan Documents or under Applicable Law.

9. DEFAULT, RIGHTS AND REMEDIES OF THE LENDER.

     9.1 Defaults. Each of the following Events of Default which occur while any Liabilities remain outstanding and continues uncured for the applicable cure period
contained herein shall constitute a Default under this Agreement:

     (A) Failure to pay interest, costs, or fees in accordance with the terms of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents upon the date that such payment is due and
such default shall continue for five (5) days after written notice to Lawson;

     (B) Failure to pay principal in accordance with the terms of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents upon the date that such payment is due;

     (C) Default by Borrower in the due observance or performance of any covenant contained in Section 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.6, 7.7, 7.9, 7.12, 7.13, or Article 8.

     (D) Default by Borrower in the due observance or performance of any covenant contained in any Loan Documents and not addressed elsewhere in this Section 9.1,
which default continues for thirty (30) days after service of written notice thereof, provided that if in Lender’s reasonable judgment such breach cannot reasonably be
cured within such 30-day period but can be cured within sixty (60) days, the Borrower shall commence such cure and proceed to so cure in a diligent manner and to
complete such cure within sixty (60) days after service of written notice thereof, provided further that such grace period shall not apply, and a Default shall be deemed
to have occurred promptly upon such breach, if such breach may not, in Lender’s reasonable determination, be cured by Borrower during such sixty (60) day grace
period;

     (E) an Event of Default under any of the other Loan Documents;
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     (F) any warranty or representation now or hereafter made by Borrower is untrue or incorrect in any material respect when made, or any schedule, certificate,
statement, report, financial data, notice, or writing furnished at any time by Borrower to Lender is untrue or incorrect in any material respect on the date as of which
the facts set forth therein are stated or certified or any of the foregoing omits to state a fact necessary to make the statements therein contained not misleading in any
material respect;

     (G) one or more judgments or orders requiring payment in excess of $1,000,000.00 in the aggregate (except for judgments constituting Liens and which are not a
Lien on Collateral, which are being contested by Borrower in good faith) shall be rendered against Borrower and any such judgment or order shall remain unsatisfied
or undischarged and in effect for ten (10) consecutive days without a stay of enforcement or execution, provided that this subsection 9.1(F) shall not apply to any
judgment for which Borrower is fully insured (except for normal deductibles in connection therewith) and with respect to which the insurer has assumed the defense
or is not defending under reservation of right and with respect to which Lender reasonably believes the insurer will pay the full amount thereof (except for normal
deductibles in connection therewith);

     (H) a notice of Lien, levy or assessment is filed or recorded with respect to any Collateral or all or a substantial part of the assets of Borrower by the United States,
or any department, agency or instrumentality thereof, or by any state, county, municipality or other governmental agency, or any taxes or debts owing at any time or
times hereafter to any one or more of them become a Lien upon any part of the Collateral; and (i) such Lien, levy or assessment is not discharged or released or the
enforcement thereof is not stayed within thirty (30) days of the notice or attachment thereof, or (ii) if the enforcement thereof is stayed, such stay shall cease to be in
effect, provided that this subsection 9.1(G) shall not apply to any Liens, levies or assessments which relate to current taxes not yet due and payable;

     (I) there shall occur any loss, theft, substantial damage or destruction of any item or items of Collateral for which Borrower is not fully insured as required by this
Agreement or the other Loan Documents (a “Loss”), if the amount of such Loss not fully covered by insurance (excluding any reasonable deductible amount in
connection therewith), together with the amount of all other Losses not fully covered by insurance (excluding any deductibles in connection therewith) occurring in
the same Fiscal Year, exceeds $2,500,000.00;

     (J) all or any part of the Collateral is attached, seized, subjected to a writ or distress warrant, or is levied upon, or comes within the possession of any receiver,
trustee, custodian or assignee for the benefit of creditors and on or before the thirtieth (30th) day thereafter such assets are not returned to Borrower, and/or such writ,
distress warrant or levy is not dismissed, stayed or lifted;

     (K) (1) a proceeding under any bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement of debt, insolvency, readjustment of debt or receivership law or statute is filed (a) against
Borrower and an adjudication or appointment is made or order for relief is entered, or such proceeding remains undismissed for a period in excess of sixty (60) days;
or (b) by Borrower; or (2) Borrower (x) makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors; or (y) takes any corporate action to authorize any of the foregoing;
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     (L) Lawson voluntarily or involuntarily dissolves or is dissolved, terminates or is terminated or any other Borrower voluntarily or involuntarily dissolves or is
dissolved, terminates or is terminated without prior written notice to Lender;

     (M) Borrower, on a consolidated basis, becomes insolvent or fails generally to pay its debts as they become due;

     (N) Borrower is enjoined, restrained, or in any way prevented by the order of any court or any administrative or regulatory agency from conducting all or any
material part of its business affairs on a consolidated basis, for a period in excess of twenty-one (21) Business Days;

     (O) a breach by Borrower shall occur under any material agreement, document or instrument (other than an agreement, document or instrument evidencing the
lending of money), whether heretofore, now or hereafter existing between Borrower and any other Person, and such breach, continues unwaived for more than thirty
(30) days after such breach first occurs, provided that if in Lender’s reasonable judgment such breach cannot reasonably be cured within such 30-day period but can
be cured within sixty (60) days, the Borrower shall commence such cure and proceed to so cure in a diligent manner and to complete such cure within sixty (60) days
after service of written notice thereof, provided further that such grace period shall not apply, and a Default shall be deemed to have occurred promptly upon such
breach, if such breach may not, in Lender’s reasonable determination, be cured by Borrower during such sixty (60) day grace period;

     (P) as to more than $1,000,000.00 in indebtedness in the aggregate at any time (i) Borrower shall fail to make any payment due (whether by scheduled maturity,
required prepayment, acceleration, demand or otherwise) on any other obligation for borrowed money and such failure shall continue after the applicable grace period,
if any, specified in the agreement or instrument relating to such indebtedness; (ii) any other default under any agreement or instrument relating to any such
indebtedness, or any other event, shall occur and shall continue after the applicable grace period, if any, specified in such agreement or instrument if the effect of such
default or event is to accelerate, or to permit the acceleration of, the maturity of such indebtedness; or (iii) any such indebtedness shall be declared to be due and
payable or required to be prepaid (other than by a regularly scheduled required prepayment) prior to the stated maturity thereof;

     (Q) a material and adverse change shall occur (i) in the present or reasonably foreseeable prospective operations or financial condition of Borrower or in the value
of any material portion of the Collateral, or (ii) which materially impairs the ability of Borrower to perform Borrower’s obligations under this Agreement and the
other Loan Documents, in each case as determined by Lender in its sole Good Faith discretion;

     (R) the plan administrator of any Pension Plan applies under Section 4 12(d) of the Internal Revenue Code for a waiver of the minimum funding standards of
Section 4 12(a) of the Internal Revenue Code and Lender in good faith believes that the approval of such waiver could subject Borrower or an ERISA Affiliate of
Borrower to liability in excess of One Million and no/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00).
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     (S) an accumulated funding deficiency (as defined in Section 203 of ERISA and Section 412 of the Code) exists with respect to any Pension Plan as of the last day
of any plan year;

     (T) as of the last day of any plan year, the present value of the benefits under any Pension Plan, as determined by such Plan’s independent actuaries, exceeds the
value as of such date, as determined by such actuaries, of all assets of such Plan by One Million and no/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00);

     (U) the aggregate present value of the benefits under all Pension Plans that do not satisfy clause (S) above, as of the end of each Plan’s plan year, as determined by
such Plans’ independent actuaries, exceeds the aggregate value as of such date, as determined by such actuaries of all assets of all such Pension Plans by One Million
and no/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00);

     (V) a Termination Event occurs which Lender in good faith believes could individually, or together with any other Termination Event subject either Borrower or an
ERISA Affiliate of Borrower to liability in excess of One Million and no/100 Dollars ($1,000,000.00); or

     (W) except as otherwise specifically permitted herein, any sale, conveyance, assignment or other transfer of, or grant of a security interest, pledge or negative
pledge in, all or any part of the Collateral;

     (X) a Change in Control without the written consent of Lender provided, however, that a Change in Control shall be permitted if written notice of the intended sale,
conveyance, assignment or other transfer of or grant of security interest in one or more shares of the capital stock of Lawson that causes the Change in Control is
given to Lender and if such sale, conveyance, assignment or transfer is to (i) a member of the Immediate Family of the assigning Shareholder, or (ii) a trust,
partnership or other entity for the benefit of the assigning Shareholder or his Immediate Family, including but not limited to Port Investment LLP, a Delaware Limited
Liability Partnership. (In the event of a permitted transfer of capital stock in Lawson hereunder Lender shall be provided written notice thereof at least five
(5) Business Days prior to such transfer.)

     Upon the occurrence of any of the foregoing Defaults, Lender may, without notice to Borrower (i) terminate Lender’s obligation to make advances to Borrower
and/or (ii) deem all of the Liabilities immediately due and payable, except that if a Default described in subsection 9.1(J) hereof shall exist or occur, all of the
Liabilities shall automatically, without notice of any kind, be immediately due and payable.

     9.2 Rights and Remedies Generally. In the event of a Default, the Lender shall have, in addition to any other rights and remedies contained in this Agreement or in
any of the other Loan Documents, all of the rights and remedies of an unsecured party under the Code or other applicable laws, all of which rights and remedies shall
be cumulative, and non-exclusive, to the extent permitted by law.

51



 

     9.3 Waiver of Demand. Demand, presentment, protest and notice of nonpayment are hereby waived by the Borrower. The Borrower also waives the benefit of all
valuation, appraisal and exemption laws.

10. MISCELLANEOUS

     10.1 Waiver. Lender’s failure, at any time or times hereafter, to require strict performance by Borrower of any provision of this Agreement shall not waive, affect
or diminish any right of Lender thereafter to demand strict compliance and performance therewith. Any suspension or waiver by Lender of a Default by Borrower
under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents shall not suspend, waive or affect any other Default by Borrower under this Agreement or any of the other
Loan Documents, whether the same is prior or subsequent thereto and whether of the same or of a different kind or character. None of the undertakings, agreements,
warranties, covenants and representations of Borrower contained in this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents and no Default by Borrower under this
Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents shall be deemed to have been suspended or waived by Lender unless such suspension or waiver is in writing signed
by an officer of Lender, and directed to Borrower specifying such suspension or waiver. All Defaults shall continue until the same are waived by Lender in accordance
with the preceding sentence.

     10.2 Costs and Attorneys’ Fees. If at any time or times hereafter Lender employs counsel in connection with protecting Lender’s security interest in the Collateral
or in connection with any of Lender’s other rights contemplated by or arising out of this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents, whether (a) to prepare,
negotiate or execute (i) any amendment to or modification or extension of this Agreement, any other Loan Documents or any instrument, document or agreement
executed by any Person in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (ii) any new or supplemental Loan Documents, or any instrument,
document or agreement to be executed by any Person in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, or (iii) any instrument, document or
agreement in connection with any sale or attempted sale of any interest herein to any participant provided, however that prior to Lender employing counsel for such
purpose, Lender shall give Borrower sixty (60) days advance written notice of such intent and Borrower may issue a Facility Reduction Notice pursuant to
Section 2.3, (b) to commence, defend, or intervene in any litigation with respect to the Collateral or Lender’s security interest therein or the solvency of Borrower, or
to file a petition, complaint, answer, motion or other pleadings with respect to the Collateral or Lender’s security interest therein or the solvency of Borrower, (c) to
take any other action in or with respect to any suit or proceeding (bankruptcy or otherwise), (d) to consult with officers of Lender to advise Lender, (e) to the extent
Lender has such rights to protect, collect, lease, sell, take possession of, release or liquidate any of the Collateral, or (f) to attempt to enforce or to enforce any interest
of Lender in any of the Collateral, or to enforce any rights of Lender, including, without limitation, Lender’s rights to collect any of the Liabilities, then in any of such
events, all of the reasonable attorneys’ fees arising from such services, and any expenses, costs and charges relating thereto, including, without limitation, all
reasonable fees of all paralegals and other staff employed by such attorneys, together with interest following demand for payment thereof at the rate from time to time
prescribed in subsection 2.6(C) hereof, shall be part of the Liabilities, payable on demand and secured by the Collateral.
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     10.3 Expenditures by the Lender. In the event Borrower shall fail to pay taxes, insurance, assessments, costs or expenses which Borrower is, under any of the terms
hereof, required to pay, or fails to keep the Collateral free from other Liens, except as permitted herein, Lender may, in its sole discretion, make expenditures for any
or all of such purposes, and the amount so expended, together with interest thereon at the rate prescribed in subsection 2.6(C) hereof, shall be part of the Liabilities,
payable on demand.

     10.4 Custody and Preservation of Assets. Lender shall be deemed to have exercised reasonable care in the custody and preservation of any assets of Borrower in its
possession if it takes such action for that purpose as Borrower shall request in writing, but failure by Lender to comply with any such request shall not of itself be
deemed a failure to exercise reasonable care, and no failure by Lender to preserve or protect any right with respect to such Collateral against prior parties, or to do any
act with respect to the preservation of such Collateral not so requested by Borrower shall of itself be deemed a failure to exercise reasonable care in the custody or
preservation of such Collateral.

     10.5 Reliance by the Lender. All covenants, agreements, representations, obligations and warranties made herein by Borrower shall be joint and several,
notwithstanding whether the proceeds of the Revolving Loan is paid to Borrower and shall, notwithstanding any investigation by Lender, be deemed to be material to
and to have been relied upon by Lender.

     10.6 Parties. Whenever in this Agreement there is reference made to any of the parties hereto, such reference shall be deemed to include, wherever applicable, a
reference to the successors and assigns of Borrower and the successors and assigns of Lender, and the provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and shall
inure to the benefit of said successors and assigns. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Borrower may not assign or otherwise transfer its rights or
obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of Lender. Without in any way limiting Lender’s rights, Lender may sell participations in the
Liabilities or sell or assign its rights hereunder and under the other Loan Documents, in whole or in part, on such terms as Lender may determine. In connection with
any such proposed participations or assignments, Lender may disclose information otherwise required to be kept confidential hereunder provided such disclosure shall
not be made unless the party to whom it is disclosed shall have agreed to keep such information confidential as set forth herein.

     10.7 CHOICE OF LAW. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE EXECUTED AND HAS BEEN DELIVERED AND ACCEPTED IN CHICAGO,
ILLINOIS BY SIGNING AND DELIVERING IT THERE. ANY DISPUTE BETWEEN THE PARTIES HERETO ARISING OUT OF, CONNECTED WITH,
RELATED TO, OR INCIDENTAL TO THE RELATIONSHIP ESTABLISHED BETWEEN THEM IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, AND
WHETHER ARISING IN CONTRACT, TORT, EQUITY, OR OTHERWISE, SHALL BE RESOLVED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNAL LAWS AND
NOT THE CONFLICTS OF LAW PROVISIONS OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS.

     10.8 CONSENT TO JURISDICTION.

     (A) EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION. EXCEPT AS PROVIDED IN SUBSECTION 10.8(B) HEREOF, LENDER AND BORROWER AGREE THAT ALL
DISPUTES BETWEEN
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THEM ARISING OUT OF, CONNECTED WITH, RELATED TO OR INCIDENTAL TO THE RELATIONSHIP ESTABLISHED BETWEEN THEM IN
CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, AND WHETHER ARISING IN CONTRACT, TORT, EQUITY OR OTHERWISE, SHALL BE RESOLVED ONLY
BY STATE OR FEDERAL COURTS LOCATED IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AND THE BORROWER AND THE LENDER WAIVE ANY OBJECTION
BASED ON VENUE OR FORUM NON CONVENIENCE WITH RESPECT TO ANY ACTION INSTITUTED THEREIN, BUT THE LENDER AND THE
BORROWERS ACKNOWLEDGE THAT CERTAIN APPEALS FROM THOSE COURTS MAY HAVE TO BE HEARD BY A COURT LOCATED OUTSIDE OF
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. THE BORROWER WAIVES IN ALL DISPUTES ANY OBJECTION THAT IT MAY HAVE TO THE LOCATION OF THE COURT
CONSIDERING THE DISPUTE.

     (B) OTHER JURISDICTIONS. THE BORROWER AGREES THAT LENDER SHALL HAVE THE RIGHT TO PROCEED AGAINST BORROWER OR THE
BORROWER’S PROPERTY (“PROPERTY”) IN A COURT IN ANY LOCATION TO ENABLE LENDER TO ENFORCE A JUDGMENT OR OTHER COURT
ORDER ENTERED IN FAVOR OF LENDER. BORROWER AGREES THAT IT WILL NOT ASSERT ANY PERMISSIVE COUNTERCLAIM IN ANY
PROCEEDING BROUGHT BY LENDER TO REALIZE ON PROPERTY, COLLATERAL OR ANY OTHER SECURITY FOR THE LIABILITIES, OR TO
ENFORCE A JUDGMENT OR OTHER COURT ORDER IN FAVOR OF LENDER. BORROWER THEREBY WAIVES ANY OBJECTION THAT IT MAY HAVE
TO THE LOCATION OF THE COURT IN WHICH LENDER HAS COMMENCED A PROCEEDING DESCRIBED IN THIS SUBSECTION 10.8(B).

     10.9 SERVICE OF PROCESS. THE BORROWER HEREBY WAIVES PERSONAL SERVICE OF ANY AND ALL PROCESS UPON IT AND
IRREVOCABLY APPOINTS ELIZABETH A. DAVIDSON, JENNER & BLOCK LLP, 330 N. WABASH AVENUE, CHICAGO, ILLINOIS, 60611, AS
BORROWER’S AGENT FOR THE PURPOSE OF ACCEPTING SERVICE OF PROCESS WITHIN THE STATE OF ILLINOIS. LENDER AGREES TO
PROMPTLY FORWARD BY REGISTERED MAIL (NO RETURN RECEIPT REQUIRED) A COPY OF ANY PROCESS SO SERVED UPON SAID AGENT TO
BORROWER AT ITS ADDRESS SET FORTH IN SUBSECTION 10.17 HEREOF. BORROWER HEREBY CONSENTS TO SERVICE OF PROCESS AS
AFORESAID. BORROWER FURTHER IRREVOCABLY CONSENTS TO THE SERVICE OF PROCESS OUT OF THE COURTS REFERRED TO IN
SUBSECTION 10.8 HEREOF IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING BY MAILING COPIES OF SUCH SERVICE BY REGISTERED MAIL, POSTAGE
PREPAID TO BORROWER AT SAID ADDRESS. NOTHING IN THIS AGREEMENT SHALL AFFECT THE RIGHT OF LENDER TO SERVE PROCESS IN
ANY OTHER MANNER PERMITTED BY LAW BUT ANY FAILURE TO RECEIVE SUCH COPY SHALL NOT AFFECT IN ANY WAY THE SERVICE OF
SUCH PROCESS.

     10.10 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL AND BOND.

     (A) WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. THE BORROWER AND THE LENDER EACH WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO HAVE A JURY PARTICIPATE IN RESOLVING
ANY DISPUTE, WHETHER SOUNDING IN CONTRACT, TORT, OR OTHERWISE, BETWEEN THE LENDER AND THE BORROWER ARISING OUT OF,
CONNECTED WITH, RELATED TO
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OR INCIDENTAL TO THE RELATIONSHIP ESTABLISHED BETWEEN THEM IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER
INSTRUMENT, DOCUMENT OR AGREEMENT EXECUTED OR DELIVERED IN CONNECTION THEREWITH OR THE TRANSACTIONS OR IN ANY
PROCEEDING REFERRED TO IN THE SECTIONS 10.8, 10.9 AND 10.10.

     (B) WAIVER OF BOND. THE BORROWER WAIVES THE POSTING OF ANY BOND OTHERWISE REQUIRED OF LENDER IN CONNECTION WITH
ANY JUDICIAL PROCESS OR PROCEEDING TO OBTAIN POSSESSION OF, REPLEVY, ATTACH OR LEVY UPON COLLATERAL OR ANY OTHER
SECURITY FOR THE LIABILITIES, TO ENFORCE ANY JUDGMENT OR OTHER COURT ORDER ENTERED IN FAVOR OF LENDER, OR TO ENFORCE
BY SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE, TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER, PRELIMINARY OR PERMANENT INJUNCTION, THIS AGREEMENT, OR ANY
OTHER AGREEMENT OR DOCUMENT BETWEEN LENDER AND THE BORROWER.

     10.11 ADVICE OF COUNSEL. THE BORROWER ACKNOWLEDGES AND REPRESENTS TO THE LENDER THAT IT DISCUSSED THIS AGREEMENT
WITH ITS LAWYERS.

     10.12 SEVERABILITY. WHEREVER POSSIBLE, EACH PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE INTERPRETED IN SUCH MANNER AS TO BE
EFFECTIVE AND VALID UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, BUT IF ANY PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE PROHIBITED BY OR INVALID
UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, SUCH PROVISION SHALL BE INEFFECTIVE ONLY TO THE EXTENT OF SUCH LAW, SUCH PROVISION SHALL BE
INEFFECTIVE ONLY TO THE EXTENT OF SUCH PROHIBITION OR INVALIDITY, WITHOUT INVALIDATING THE REMAINDER OF SUCH PROVISION
OR THE REMAINING PROVISIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT.

     10.13 Application of Payments. Notwithstanding any contrary provision contained in this Agreement or in any of the other Loan Documents, Borrower irrevocably
waives the right to direct the application of any and all payments at any time or times hereafter received by Lender from Borrower or with respect to any of the
Collateral, and Borrower does hereby irrevocably agree that Lender shall have the continuing exclusive right to apply and reapply any and all payments received at
any time or times hereafter, whether with respect to the Collateral or otherwise, against the Liabilities in such manner as Lender may deem advisable, notwithstanding
any entry by Lender upon any of its books and records.

     10.14 Marshalling; Payments Set Aside. The Lender shall be under no obligation to marshall any assets in favor of the Borrower or any other party or against or in
payment of any or all of the Liabilities. To the extent that the Borrower makes a payment or payments to Lender or Lender enforces its security interests or exercises
its rights of set off, and such payment or payments or the proceeds of such enforcement or set off or any part thereof are subsequently invalidated, declared to be
fraudulent or preferential set aside and/or required to be repaid to a trustee, receiver or any other party under any bankruptcy law, state or federal law, common law or
equitable cause, then, to the extent of such recovery, the obligation or part thereof originally
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intended to be satisfied shall be revived and continued in full force and effect as if such payment had not been made or such enforcement or set off had not occurred.

     10.15 Section Titles. The section titles contained in this Agreement shall be without substantive meaning or content of any kind whatsoever and are not a part of
the agreement between the parties.

     10.16 Continuing Effect. This Agreement, Lender’s security interests in the Collateral, and all of the other Loan Documents shall continue in full force and effect
so long as any Liabilities shall be owed to Lender, and (even if there shall be no Liabilities outstanding) so long as this Agreement has not been terminated as provided
in subsection 2.8 hereof.

     10.17 Notices. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, any notice required or desired to be served, given or delivered hereunder shall be in writing, and
shall be deemed to have been validly served, given or delivered (i) three (3) days after deposit in the United States mails, with proper postage prepaid, (ii) if sent
before 5:00 p.m. CST or CSDT on a Business Day, then on the date when sent after receipt of confirmation or answer back if sent by telecopy, or other similar
facsimile transmission and if sent after 5:00 p.m. CST or CSDT on a Business Day or on a non-Business Day, then on the next Business Day, (iii) one (1) Business
Day after deposited with a reputable overnight courier with all charges prepaid, or (iv) when delivered, if hand-delivered by messenger, all of which shall be properly
addressed to the party to be notified and sent to the address or number indicated as follows:
     
  If to the Lender at:  Bank of America, N.A., successor by merger to
    LaSalle Bank National Association
    135 S. LaSalle St., Suite 713
    Chicago, IL 60603
    Attn: David Bacon, Vice President
    Phone 312.904.4082
    Fax 312.904.0409
     
  With a copy to:  McGuireWoods LLP
    77 West Wacker Drive, Suite 4100
    Chicago, IL 60601
    Attn: Donald J. Gibson, Jr.
    Telephone: 312/750-8918
    Fax: 312/920-6592
     
  If to Borrower at:  LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC.
    1666 East Touhy Avenue
    Des Plaines, Illinois 60018
    Attn: Thomas Neri, CEO
    Telephone: 847/827-9666
    Facsimile: 847/795-9030
     
  with a copy to:  JENNER & BLOCK LLP
    330 N. Wabash Avenue
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    Chicago, Illinois 60611
    Attn: Elizabeth A. Davidson
    Telephone: 312/840-8693
    Facsimile: 312/840-8793

or to such other address or number as each party designates to the other in the manner herein prescribed.

     10.18 Equitable Relief. The Borrower recognizes that, in the event Borrower fails to perform, observe or discharge any obligations or liabilities under this
Agreement, any remedy at law may prove to be inadequate relief to Lender; therefore, the Borrower agrees that Lender, if Lender so requests, shall be entitled to
temporary and permanent injunctive relief in any such case without the necessity of proving actual damages and the granting of any such relief shall not preclude the
Lender from pursuing any other relief or remedies for such breach.

     10.19 Indemnification. Borrower agrees to defend, protect, indemnify and hold harmless Lender and each of its officers, directors, employees, attorneys,
consultants and agents (collectively, the “Indemnitees”) from and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits,
claims, costs, expenses and disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever (including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel for and
consultants of such Indemnitees in connection with any investigative, administrative or judicial proceeding, whether or not such Indemnitees shall be designated as
parties thereto), which may be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against such Indemnitees (whether direct, indirect, or consequential and whether based on any
federal or state laws or other statutory regulations, including, without limitation, securities, environmental and commercial laws and regulations, under common law
or at equitable cause or on contract or otherwise) in any manner other Loan Documents, or any act, event or transaction related or attendant thereto, the agreements of
Lender contained herein, the making of the Revolving Loans, the management of such Loans or the Collateral (including any liability under federal, state or local
environmental laws or regulations) or the use or intended use of the proceeds of such (collectively, the “Indemnified Matters”); provided that the Borrower shall not
have an obligation to any Indemnitee hereunder with respect to Indemnified Matters caused by or resulting from the fraud, bad faith, willful misconduct or gross
negligence of any Indemnitee. To the extent that the undertaking to indemnify, pay and hold harmless set forth in this subsection 10.19 may be unenforceable because
it is violative of any law or public policy, the Borrower shall contribute the maximum portion which it is permitted to pay and satisfy under applicable law, to the
payment and satisfaction of all Indemnified Matters incurred by the Indemnitees.

     10.20 Non-Discharge. The Borrower waives any defenses based on suretyship or impairment of Collateral, waives any right of discharge under ‘3-605 of the Code
and consents in advance to (i) any extension which the Lender may in its sole discretion hereafter grant in the due date for the payment or performance of any
obligation of Borrower hereunder, (ii) any modification for the benefit of Borrower, including a material modification of any obligation of the Borrower hereunder
which the Lender may in its sole discretion hereafter grant, any action taken hereunder which may result in any impairment of the value of any Collateral whether
provided by Borrower, including, without limitation, any impairment of collateral as described in subsection 3-605(g) of the Code; (iv) any diligence in collection, the
discharge or release of any
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party hereto or party to any subordination agreement, (v) the discharge or release of any collateral or, all presentment for payment, demand, protest or notice of
protest, dishonor or non-payment, or (vi) the granting of any additional credit hereunder without notice.

     10.21 Effective Date. This Agreement shall be effective from and after the Closing Date.

     10.22 Lender’s Right to Assign. Lender shall have the right to assign, transfer, sell, negotiate, pledge or otherwise hypothecate this Agreement and any of its rights
and security hereunder, including the Note and any other Loan Documents. Borrower hereby agrees that all of the rights and remedies of Lender in connection with
the interest so assigned shall be enforceable against Borrower by such assignee with the same force and effect and to the same extent as the same would have been
enforceable by Lender but for such assignment. Lender shall have the right to sell participations in the Revolving Loan at any time without the consent of Borrower
and at no cost to Borrower.

     10.23 Setoff. Borrower agrees that Lender has all rights of setoff and banker’s Lien provided by applicable law and, in addition thereto, Borrower agrees that at any
time any Default exists, Lender may apply to the payment of the Liabilities any and all balances, credits, deposits, accounts or moneys of Borrower then or thereafter
with Lender. Without limitation of the foregoing, Borrower agrees that, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of a Default, Lender and each of its branches
and offices is hereby authorized, at any time and from time to time, without notice, (i) to setoff against, and to appropriate and apply to the payment of, the Liabilities
(whether matured or unmatured, fixed or contingent or liquidated or unliquidated) any and all amounts owing by Borrower to Lender or any such office or branch of
Lender (whether matured or unmatured, and, in the case of deposits, whether general or special, time or demand and however evidenced) and (ii) pending any such
action, to the extent necessary, to hold such amounts as collateral to secure such Liabilities and to return as unpaid for insufficient funds any and all checks and other
items drawn against any deposits so held as Lender may elect in its sole discretion exercised in Good Faith.

     10.24 Construction: In interpreting or constructing the terms of this Agreement, the Loan Documents and the other Loan Documents, there shall be no presumption
of construction or interpretation against the drafter thereof.

     10.25 Customer Identification — USA Patriot Act Notice. The Lender hereby notifies the Borrower that pursuant to the requirements of the USA Patriot Act (Title
III of Pub. L. 107-56, signed into law October 26, 2001) (the “Act”), and the Lender’s policies and practices, the Lender is required to obtain, verify and record certain
information and documentation that identifies the Borrower, which information includes the name and address of the Borrower and such other information that will
allow the Lender to identify the Borrower in accordance with the Act.

     10.26 Continuing Indebtedness. This Agreement amends and restates the Original Agreement and the Note constitutes a renewal and restatement of, and a
replacement and substitution for, the Existing Note. The indebtedness evidenced by the Existing Note is continuing indebtedness evidenced by the Note, and nothing
herein shall be deemed to constitute
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a payment, settlement or novation of the Existing Note, or to release or otherwise adversely affect any guarantor, surety or other party primarily or secondarily liable
for such indebtedness.

(Signature Page Attached)
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     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this First Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of the day and year first above written

LENDER:

Bank of America, N.A., successor by merger to
LASALLE BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a
national banking association (as Lender)
     
By:  /s/ David Bacon

 

  
Name:  David Bacon   
Its:  Vice President   

BORROWERS:

 

LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a Delaware
Corporation (as Borrower)
     
By:  /s/ Thomas Neri

 

  
  Thomas Neri   
Its:  President   

LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a Georgia
Corporation (as Borrower)
     
By:  /s/ Thomas Neri

 

  
  Thomas Neri   
Its:  President   

LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a New
Jersey Corporation (as Borrower)
     
By:  /s/ Thomas Neri

 

  
  Thomas Neri   
Its:  President   

LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a Nevada
Corporation (as Borrower)
     
By:  /s/ Thomas Neri

 

  
  Thomas Neri   
Its:  President   

Signature Page to First Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement

LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a Texas
corporation (as Borrower)
     
By:  /s/ Thomas Neri

 

  
  Thomas Neri   
Its:  President   

LP SERVICE CO., an Illinois Corporation
(as Borrower)
     
By:  /s/ Thomas Neri

 

  
  Thomas Neri   
Its:  President   

LPI HOLDINGS, INC., an Illinois
Corporation (as Borrower)
     
By:  /s/ Thomas Neri

 

  
  Thomas Neri   
Its:  President   

CRONATRON WELDING SYSTEMS
LLC, a North Carolina limited liability
company (as Borrower)
     
By:  /s/ Thomas Neri

 

  
  Thomas Neri   
Its:  President   



 

DRUMMOND AMERICAN LLC, an
Illinois limited liability company (as
Borrower)
     
By:

 
/s/ Thomas Neri
 

Thomas Neri  
 

Its:  President   

ASSEMBLY COMPONENT SYSTEMS,
INC., an Illinois Corporation (as Borrower)
     
By:  /s/ Thomas Neri

 

  
  Thomas Neri   
Its:  Chief Executive Officer   

AUTOMATIC SCREW MACHINE
PRODUCTS COMPANY, INC., an
Alabama Corporation (as Borrower)
     
By:  /s/ Thomas Neri

 

  
  Thomas Neri   
Its:  Chief Executive Officer   

C. B. LYNN COMPANY, an Illinois
Corporation (as Borrower)
     
By:  /s/ Thomas Neri

 

  
  Thomas Neri   
Its:  President   

RUTLAND TOOL & SUPPLY CO., A
Nevada Corporation
     
By:  /s/ Thomas Neri

 

  
Thomas Neri   
Its:  Chief Executive Officer   

Signature Page to First Amended and Restated
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Grid A

PRICING GRID
         
        UNUSED
  TOTAL DEBT/  APPLICABLE  LETTER OF  COMMITMENT
  EBITDA  MARGIN  CREDIT FEE  FEE

Level I  < 2.00 to 1.00  200 bps  200 bps  30 bps
Status         

         
Level II  ³ 2.00 to 1.00 but  250 bps  250 bps  40 bps
Status  < 2.50 to 1.0       

         
Level III  ³ 2.50 to 1.00 but  300 bps  300 bps  50 bps

Status  < 3.00 to 1.0       
         

Level IV  ³ 3.00 to 1. 00  350 bps  350 bps  50 bps
Status         

     From the First Amendment Effective Date until delivery by the Borrower to the Lender of Financials for the Fiscal Quarter ending March 31, 2009, Level IV
Status shall be deemed to exist.

     For the purposes of this Pricing Grid, the following terms have the following meanings, subject to the final paragraph of this Schedule:

     “Financials” means the annual or quarterly financial statements of the Borrowers delivered pursuant to the Credit Agreement.

     “Level IV Status” exists at any date if, as of the last day of the fiscal quarter of the Borrowers referred to in the most recent Financials the Borrowers have not
qualified for Level I Status, Level II Status, or Level III Status.

     “Level III Status” exists at any date if, as of the last day of the fiscal quarter of the Borrowers referred to in the most recent Financials, (i) the Borrowers have not
qualified for Level II or Level I Status and (ii) the ratio of Total Debt to EBITDA is greater than or equal to 2.50 to 1.00 but less than 3.00 to 1.0.

     “Level II Status” exists at any date if, as of the last day of the fiscal quarter of the Borrowers referred to in the most recent Financials, (i) the Borrowers have not
qualified for Level I Status and (ii) the ratio of Total Debt to EBITDA is greater than or equal to 2.00 to 1.00 but less than 2.50 to 1.0.

     “Level I Status” exists at any date if, as of the last day of the fiscal quarter of the Borrowers referred to in the most recent Financials, the ratio of Total Debt to
EBITDA is less than 2.00 to 1.00.

 



 

     The ratio of Total Debt to EBITDA shall be calculated as set forth in the Credit Agreement.

     “Status” means Level I Status, Level II Status, Level III Status or Level IV Status.

     The Applicable Margin shall be determined in accordance with the foregoing table based on the Borrowers’ Status as reflected in the then most recent Financials.
Adjustments, if any, to the Applicable Margin shall be effective five Business Days after the Lender has received the applicable Financials. If the Borrowers fail to
deliver Financials to the Lender at the times required pursuant to the Agreement, and, upon delivery and review of such Financials the Status would increase to a
different Level, such increase shall be retroactive to the date on which the Financials were required to have been delivered.

64



 

SECURITY AGREEMENT

     THIS SECURITY AGREEMENT dated as of March 9, 2009 (this “Security Agreement”) is being entered into among LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a
Delaware corporation (“Lawson”), EACH OF THE UNDERSIGNED SUBSIDIARIES OF LAWSON AND EACH OTHER PERSON WHO SHALL
BECOME A PARTY HERETO BY EXECUTION OF A SECURITY JOINDER AGREEMENT (each of the foregoing individually, a “Grantor” and
collectively, the “Grantors”), and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as secured party (together with its successors and assigns, the “Secured Party”).

RECITALS:

     A. The Grantors and the Secured Party are party to a First Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of November 7, 2008 (as amended, restated,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”), pursuant to which the Secured Party agreed to provide to the Grantors a revolving
credit facility in the original maximum principal amount of $75,000,000.

     B. The Grantors have requested that the Secured Party agree to amend various provisions of the Credit Agreement pursuant to a First Amendment to First
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement to be dated as of the date hereof (the “First Amendment”), which First Amendment shall, among other things, reduce the
maximum principal amount of the revolving credit facility to $55,000,000.

     C. It is a condition precedent to the Secured Party entering into the First Amendment that the Grantors shall have executed and delivered this Security Agreement
to the Secured Party.

     NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, and the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein, the parties hereto agree as follows:

     1. Certain Definitions. All capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings assigned thereto in the Credit Agreement. Terms used
in this Security Agreement that are not otherwise expressly defined herein or in the Credit Agreement, and for which meanings are provided in the Uniform
Commercial Code as in effect in the State of Illinois (or, when the laws of any other jurisdiction govern the perfection or enforcement of any Lien, the Uniform
Commercial Code as in effect in such jurisdiction) (the “UCC”), shall have such meanings unless the context requires otherwise. In addition, for purposes of this
Security Agreement, the following terms have the following definitions:

     “Facility Termination Date” means the date as of which all of the following shall have occurred: (a) the commitment of Secured Party to provide Loans under the
Credit Agreement has terminated, (b) all Secured Obligations have been paid in full (other than (x) contingent indemnification obligations and (y) Bank Product
Obligations as to which arrangements satisfactory to the provider of the Bank Products have been made), and (c) all Letters of Credit
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have terminated or expired (other than Letters of Credit as to which other arrangements with respect thereto satisfactory to the Secured Party shall have been made).

     “Qualifying Control Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth on Schedule 1.1 attached hereto.

     “Real Estate Collateral” shall have the meaning set forth on Schedule 1.1 attached hereto.

     “Secured Obligations” means all of the Liabilities, including the payment and performance by each Grantor of its obligations and liabilities (whether now existing
or hereafter arising) under the Credit Agreement and each of the other Loan Documents (including this Security Agreement) to which such Grantor is now or hereafter
becomes a party.

     2. Grant of Security Interest. Each Grantor grants as collateral security for the payment, performance and satisfaction of the Secured Obligations, to the Secured
Party a continuing first priority security interest in and to, and collaterally assigns to the Secured Party, the following property of such Grantor or in which such
Grantor has or may have or acquire an interest or the power to transfer rights therein, whether now owned or existing or hereafter created, acquired or arising and
wheresoever located:

     (a) All accounts, and including accounts receivable, contracts, bills, acceptances, choses in action, and other forms of monetary obligations at any time owing to
such Grantor arising out of property sold, leased, licensed, assigned or otherwise disposed of or for services rendered or to be rendered by such Grantor, and all of
such Grantor’s rights with respect to any property represented thereby, whether or not delivered, property returned by customers and all rights as an unpaid vendor
or lienor, including rights of stoppage in transit and of recovering possession by proceedings including replevin and reclamation (collectively referred to
hereinafter as “Accounts”);

     (b) All inventory, including all goods manufactured or acquired for sale or lease, and any piece goods, raw materials, work in process and finished merchandise,
component materials, and all supplies, goods, incidentals, office supplies, packaging materials and any and all items used or consumed in the operation of the
business of such Grantor or which may contribute to the finished product or to the sale, promotion and shipment thereof, in which such Grantor now or at any time
hereafter may have an interest, whether or not the same is in transit or in the constructive, actual or exclusive occupancy or possession of such Grantor or is held
by such Grantor or by others for such Grantor’s account (collectively referred to hereinafter as “Inventory”);

     (c) All goods, including all machinery, equipment, motor vehicles, parts, supplies, apparatus, appliances, tools, patterns, molds, dies, blueprints, fittings,
furniture, furnishings, fixtures and articles of tangible personal property of every description, and all computer programs embedded in any of the foregoing and all
supporting information relating to such computer programs (collectively referred to hereinafter as “Equipment”);
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     (d) All general intangibles, including all rights now or hereafter accruing to such Grantor under contracts, leases, agreements or other instruments, including all
contracts or contract rights to perform or receive services, to purchase or sell goods, or to hold or use land or facilities, and to enforce all rights thereunder, all
causes of action, corporate or business records, inventions, patents and patent rights, rights in mask works, designs, trade names and trademarks and all goodwill
associated therewith, trade secrets, trade processes, copyrights, licenses, permits, franchises, customer lists, computer programs and software, all internet domain
names and registration rights thereto, all internet websites and the content thereof, all payment intangibles, all claims under guaranties, tax refund claims, all rights
and claims against carriers and shippers, leases, all claims under insurance policies, all interests in general and limited partnerships, limited liability companies,
and other Persons not constituting Investment Property (as defined below), all rights to indemnification and all other intangible personal property and intellectual
property of every kind and nature (collectively referred to hereinafter as “General Intangibles”);

     (e) All deposit accounts, including demand, time, savings, passbook, or other similar accounts maintained with any bank by or for the benefit of such Grantor
(collectively referred to hereinafter as “Deposit Accounts”);

     (f) All chattel paper, including tangible chattel paper, electronic chattel paper, or any hybrid thereof (collectively referred to hereinafter as “Chattel Paper”);

     (g) All investment property, including all securities, security entitlements, securities accounts, commodity contracts and commodity accounts of or maintained
for the benefit of such Grantor (collectively referred to hereinafter as “Investment Property”);

     (h) All instruments, including all promissory notes (collectively referred to hereinafter as “Instruments”);

     (i) All documents, including warehouse receipts, bills of lading and other documents of title (collectively referred to hereinafter as “Documents”);

     (j) All rights to payment or performance under letters of credit including rights to proceeds of letters of credit (“Letter-of-Credit Rights”), and all guaranties,
endorsements, Liens, other Guarantee obligations or supporting obligations of any Person securing or supporting the payment, performance, value or liquidation of
any of the foregoing (collectively, with Letter-of-Credit Rights, referred to hereinafter as “Supporting Obligations”);

     (k) The commercial tort claims identified on Schedule 9(i) hereto, as such Schedule may be supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms
hereof (collectively referred to hereinafter as “Commercial Tort Claims”);
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     (l) All books and records relating to any of the foregoing (including customer data, credit files, ledgers, computer programs, printouts, and other computer
materials and records (and all media on which such data, files, programs, materials and records are or may be stored)); and

     (m) All proceeds, products and replacements of, accessions to, and substitutions for, any of the foregoing, including without limitation proceeds of insurance
policies insuring any of the foregoing.

     All of the property and interests in property described in subsections (a) through (m) are herein collectively referred to as the “Collateral.”

     Notwithstanding the foregoing, the security interest granted herein and the term “Collateral” when used with respect to any Grantor shall not include (a) any lease,
license, contract, property rights or agreement to which any Grantor is a party or any of its rights or interests thereunder if and for so long as the grant of such security
interest shall constitute or results in (i) the abandonment, invalidation or unenforceability of any right, title or interest of any Grantor therein, or (ii) a breach or
termination pursuant to the terms of, or a default under, any such lease, license, contract property rights or agreement (other than to the extent that any such term
would be rendered ineffective pursuant to Sections 9-406, 9-407, 9-408 or 9-409 of the Uniform Commercial Code (or any successor provision or provisions) of any
relevant jurisdiction or any other applicable law or principles of equity); provided, however, that the term Collateral shall include and such security interest shall
attach immediately at such time as the condition causing such abandonment, invalidation or unenforceability shall be remedied and to the extent severable, shall attach
immediately to any portion of such lease, license, contract, property rights or agreement that does not result in any of the consequences specified in clauses (a)(i) and
(ii) above, (b) any equity interest in any Subsidiary, other than the pledge provided pursuant to the Pledge Agreement, and (c) any Real Estate Collateral of any
Grantor; provided, however, that in any event the security interest granted herein and the term “Collateral” shall include all proceeds, products and replacements of,
accessions to, and substitutions for, any of the foregoing, including without limitation proceeds of insurance policies insuring any of the foregoing.

     3. Perfection. As of the date of execution of this Security Agreement or Security Joinder Agreement by each Grantor, as applicable (with respect to each Grantor,
its “Applicable Date”), such Grantor shall have:

     (a) furnished the Secured Party with duly authorized financing statements in form, number and substance suitable for filing, sufficient under applicable law, and
satisfactory to the Secured Party in order that upon the filing of the same the Secured Party, shall have a duly perfected security interest in all Collateral in which a
security interest can be perfected by the filing of financing statements;

     (b) to the extent expressly required by the terms of this Security Agreement or the other Loan Documents, furnished the Secured Party with properly executed
Qualifying Control Agreements, issuer acknowledgments of the Secured Party’s interest
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in Letter-of-Credit Rights, and evidence of the placement of a restrictive legend on tangible chattel paper (and the tangible components of electronic Chattel
Paper), and taken appropriate action acceptable to the Secured Party sufficient to establish the Secured Party’s control of electronic Chattel Paper (and the
electronic components of hybrid Chattel Paper), as appropriate, with respect to Collateral in which either (i) a security interest can be perfected only by control or
such restrictive legending, or (ii) a security interest perfected by control or accompanied by such restrictive legending shall have priority as against a lien creditor,
a purchaser of such Collateral from the applicable Grantor, or a security interest perfected by Persons not having control or not accompanied by such restrictive
legending, in each case in form and substance acceptable to the Secured Party and sufficient under applicable law so that the Secured Party shall have a security
interest in all such Collateral perfected by control; and

          (c) to the extent expressly required by the terms of this Security Agreement or the other Loan Documents, delivered to the Secured Party or, if the Secured
Party shall specifically consent in each instance, an agent or bailee of the Secured Party that has acknowledged such status in a properly executed Qualifying
Control Agreement possession of all Collateral with respect to which either a security interest can be perfected only by possession or a security interest perfected
by possession shall have priority as against Persons not having possession, and including in the case of Instruments, Documents, and Investment Property in the
form of certificated securities, duly executed endorsements or stock powers in blank, as the case may be, affixed thereto in form and substance acceptable to the
Secured Party and sufficient under applicable law so that the Secured Party shall have a security interest in all such Collateral perfected by possession;

with the effect that the Liens conferred in favor of the Secured Party shall be and remain duly perfected and of first priority subject only, to the extent applicable, to
Permitted Liens. All financing statements (including all amendments thereto and continuations thereof), control agreements, certificates, acknowledgments, stock
powers and other documents, electronic identification, restrictive legends, and instruments furnished in connection with the creation, enforcement, protection,
perfection or priority of the Secured Party’s security interest in Collateral, including such items as are described above in this Section 3, are sometimes referred to
herein as “Perfection Documents”. The delivery of possession of items of or evidencing Collateral, causing other Persons to execute and deliver Perfection Documents
as appropriate, the filing or recordation of Perfection Documents, the establishment of control over items of Collateral, and the taking of such other actions as may be
necessary or advisable in the determination of the Secured Party to create, enforce, protect, perfect, or establish or maintain the priority of, the security interest of the
Secured Party in the Collateral is sometimes referred to herein as “Perfection Action”.

     4. Maintenance of Security Interest; Further Assurances.

     (a) Each Grantor will from time to time at its own expense, deliver specific assignments of Collateral or such other Perfection Documents, and take such other
or additional Perfection Action, as may be required by the terms of the Loan Documents or
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as the Secured Party may reasonably request in connection with the administration or enforcement of this Security Agreement or related to the Collateral or any
part thereof in order to carry out the terms of this Security Agreement, to perfect, protect, maintain the priority of or enforce the Secured Party’s security interest in
the Collateral, subject only to Permitted Liens, or otherwise to better assure and confirm unto the Secured Party its rights, powers and remedies hereunder. Without
limiting the foregoing, each Grantor hereby irrevocably authorizes the Secured Party to file (with, or to the extent permitted by applicable law, without the
signature of the Grantor appearing thereon) financing statements (including amendments thereto and initial financing statements in lieu of continuation statements)
or other Perfection Documents (including copies thereof) showing such Grantor as “debtor” at such time or times and in all filing offices as the Secured Party may
from time to time determine to be necessary or advisable to perfect or protect the rights of the Secured Party and the Secured Parties hereunder, or otherwise to
give effect to the transactions herein contemplated, any of which Perfection Documents, at the Secured Party’s election, may describe the Collateral as or including
all assets or property of the Grantor. Each Grantor hereby irrevocably ratifies and acknowledges the Secured Party’s authority to have effected filings of Perfection
Documents made by the Secured Party prior to its Applicable Date.

     (b) With respect to any and all Collateral, each Grantor agrees to do and cause to be done all things necessary to perfect, maintain the priority of and keep in full
force the security interest granted in favor of the Secured Party, including, but not limited to, the prompt payment upon demand therefor by the Secured Party of all
reasonable fees and expenses (including documentary stamp, excise or intangibles taxes) incurred in connection with the preparation, delivery, or filing of any
Perfection Document or the taking of any Perfection Action to perfect, protect or enforce a security interest in Collateral in favor of the Secured Party, subject only
to Permitted Liens. All amounts not so paid when due shall constitute additional Secured Obligations and (in addition to other rights and remedies resulting from
such nonpayment) shall bear interest from the date of demand until paid in full at the Post Default Rate.

     (c) Each Grantor agrees to maintain among its books and records appropriate notations or evidence of, and to make or cause to be made appropriate disclosure
upon its financial statements of, the security interest granted hereunder to the Secured Party.

     5. Receipt of Payment. In the event a Default shall occur and be continuing and a Grantor (or any of its Affiliates, subsidiaries, stockholders, directors, officers,
employees or agents) shall receive any proceeds of Collateral, including without limitation monies, checks, notes, drafts or any other items of payment, each Grantor
shall hold all such items of payment in trust for the Secured Party, and as the property of the Secured Party, separate from the funds and other property of such
Grantor, and no later than the first Business Day following the receipt thereof, at the election of the Secured Party, such Grantor shall cause such Collateral to be
forwarded to the Secured Party for its custody, possession and disposition on behalf of the Secured Parties in accordance with the terms hereof and of the other Loan
Documents.

     6. Preservation and Protection of Collateral.
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     (a) The Secured Party shall be under no duty or liability with respect to the collection, protection or preservation of the Collateral, or otherwise. Except for
Collateral in the physical possession of the Secured Party or its agents and representatives, each Grantor shall be responsible for the safekeeping of its Collateral,
and in no event shall the Secured Party have any responsibility for (i) any loss or damage thereto or destruction thereof occurring or arising in any manner or
fashion from any cause, (ii) any diminution in the value thereof, or (iii) any act or default of any carrier, warehouseman, bailee or forwarding agency thereof or
other Person in any way dealing with or handling such Collateral.

     (b) Each Grantor shall keep and maintain its tangible personal property Collateral in good operating condition and repair, ordinary wear and tear and casualty
excepted; provided, however, that such Grantor may discontinue routine maintenance and repair with respect to Collateral which, in its commercially reasonable
judgment is no longer used or useful in its business. No Grantor shall permit any such items to become a fixture to real property (unless such Grantor has granted
the Secured Party a Lien on such real property having a priority acceptable to the Secured Party) or accessions to other personal property.

     (c) Each Grantor agrees (i) to pay when due all taxes, charges and assessments against the Collateral, unless being contested in good faith by appropriate
proceedings diligently conducted and against which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP applied on a basis consistent with the
application of GAAP in the audited financial statements delivered pursuant to the Credit Agreement and provided that all enforcement proceedings in the nature of
levy or foreclosure are effectively stayed, and (ii) to cause to be terminated and released all Liens (other than Permitted Liens) on the Collateral. Upon the
occurrence and during the continuance of a Default based upon the failure of any Grantor to so pay or contest such taxes, charges, or assessments, or cause such
Liens to be terminated, the Secured Party at its option may pay or contest any of them or amounts relating thereto (the Secured Party having the sole right to
determine the legality or validity and the amount necessary to discharge such taxes, charges, Liens or assessments) but shall not have any obligation to make any
such payment or contest. All sums so disbursed by the Secured Party, including all reasonable fees and expenses of counsel (collectively, “Attorneys’ Costs”),
court costs, expenses and other charges related thereto, shall be payable on demand by the applicable Grantor to the Secured Party and shall be additional Secured
Obligations secured by the Collateral, and any amounts not so paid on demand (in addition to other rights and remedies resulting from such nonpayment) shall bear
interest from the date of demand until paid in full at the Post Default Rate.

     7. Status of Grantors and Collateral Generally. Each Grantor represents and warrants to, and covenants with, the Secured Party, with respect to itself and the
Collateral as to which it has or acquires any interest, that:
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     (a) It is at its Applicable Date (or as to Collateral acquired after its Applicable Date will be upon the acquisition of the same) and, except as permitted by the
Credit Agreement and subsection (b) of this Section 7, will continue to be, the owner of the Collateral, free and clear of all Liens, other than Permitted Liens, and
that it will at its own cost and expense defend such Collateral and any products and proceeds thereof against all claims and demands of all Persons (other than
claims and demands in respect of Permitted Liens) at any time claiming the same or any interest therein adverse to the Secured Party. Upon the failure of any
Grantor to so defend, the Secured Party may do so at its option but shall not have any obligation to do so. All sums so disbursed by the Secured Party, including
reasonable Attorneys’ Costs, court costs, expenses and other charges related thereto, shall be payable on demand by the applicable Grantor to the Secured Party
and shall be additional Secured Obligations secured by the Collateral, and any amounts not so paid on demand (in addition to other rights and remedies resulting
from such nonpayment) shall bear interest from the date of demand until paid in full at the Post Default Rate.

     (b) It shall not (i) sell, assign, transfer, lease, license or otherwise dispose of, or grant any option with respect to, any of the Collateral, except for dispositions
permitted under the Credit Agreement, (ii) create or suffer to exist any Lien upon or with respect to any of the Collateral except for the security interests created by
this Security Agreement and Permitted Liens, or (iii) take any other action in connection with any of the Collateral that would materially impair the value of the
interest or rights of such Grantor in the Collateral taken as a whole or that would materially impair the interest or rights of the Secured Party.

     (c) It has full power, legal right and lawful authority to enter into this Security Agreement (and any Security Joinder Agreement applicable to it) and to perform
its terms, including the grant of the security interests in the Collateral herein provided for.

     (d) No authorization, consent, approval or other action by, and no notice to or filing with, any Governmental Authority or any other Person which has not been
given or obtained, as the case may be, is required either (i) for the grant by such Grantor of the security interests granted hereby or for the execution, delivery or
performance of this Security Agreement (or any Security Joinder Agreement) by such Grantor, or (ii) for the perfection of or the exercise by the Secured Party of
its rights and remedies hereunder, except for action required by the Uniform Commercial Code to perfect and exercise remedies with respect to the security interest
conferred hereunder.

     (e) No effective financing statement or other Perfection Document similar in effect, nor any other Perfection Action, covering all or any part of the Collateral
purported to be granted or taken by or on behalf of such Grantor (or by or on behalf of any other Person and which remains effective as against all or any part of
the Collateral) has been filed in any recording office, delivered to another Person for filing (whether upon the occurrence of a contingency or otherwise), or
otherwise taken, as the case may be, except such as pertain to Permitted Liens and such as may have been filed for the
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benefit of, delivered to, or taken in favor of, the Secured Party in connection with the security interests conferred hereunder.

     (f) Schedule 7(f) attached hereto contains true and complete information as to each of the following: (i) the exact legal name of each Grantor as it appears in its
organization documents as of its Applicable Date and at any time during the five (5) year period ending as of its Applicable Date (the “Covered Period”), (ii) the
jurisdiction of formation and form of organization of each Grantor, and the identification number of such Grantor in its jurisdiction of formation (if any), in each
case as of its Applicable Date and at any time during the Covered Period, (iii) each address of the chief executive office of each Grantor as of its Applicable Date,
(iv) all trade names or trade styles used by such Grantor as of its Applicable Date and at any time during the Covered Period, (v) the address of each location of
such Grantor at which any tangible personal property Collateral (including Account Records and Account Documents) is located at its Applicable Date, (vi) with
respect to each location described in clause (v) that is not owned beneficially and of record by such Grantor, the name and address of the owner thereof; and
(vii) the name of each Person other than such Grantor and the address of such Person at which any tangible personal property Collateral of such Grantor is held
under any warehouse, consignment, bailment or other arrangement as of its Applicable Date. No Grantor shall change its name, jurisdiction of formation (whether
by reincorporation, merger or otherwise), or the location of its chief executive office, except in each case upon giving not less than thirty (30) days’ prior written
notice to the Secured Party and taking or causing to be taken at such Grantor’s expense all such Perfection Action, including the delivery of such Perfection
Documents, as may be required, or as the Secured Party may reasonably request, to perfect or protect, or maintain the perfection and priority of, the Lien of the
Secured Party in Collateral contemplated hereunder. No Grantor shall maintain any tangible personal property Collateral at any location not listed on Schedule 7(f)
unless such Grantor shall have delivered prior written notice to the Secured Party, which notice shall include all of the information required by Schedule 7(f).

     (g) No Grantor shall engage in any consignment transaction in respect of any of the Collateral or cause, suffer or permit any of the tangible personal property
Collateral to be in the possession, custody or control of any warehouseman or other bailee unless (i) such location is listed on Schedule 7(f) or such Grantor shall
have delivered prior written notice to the Secured Party, which notice shall include all of the information required by Schedule 7(f), and (ii) with respect to any
such location at which tangible personal property Collateral with a value in excess of $1,250,000 is maintained, caused at its expense to be prepared and executed
such additional Perfection Documents and to be taken such other Perfection Action as may be required, or as the Secured Party may reasonably request, to perfect
or protect, or maintain the perfection and priority of, the Lien of the Secured Party in Collateral contemplated hereunder.

     (h) No Grantor shall cause, suffer or permit any of the tangible personal property Collateral to be evidenced by any document of title (except for shipping

73



 

documents as necessary or customary to effect the receipt of raw materials or components or the delivery of inventory to customers, in each case in the ordinary
course of business).

     (i) No tangible personal property Collateral is or shall be located at any location that is leased by such Grantor from any other Person (other than another
Grantor) other than Inventory the value of which, at any such location, is less than $2,500,000, and when aggregated with all other Inventory kept at any location
which is leased by all Grantors from Persons other than other Grantors, is less than $10,000,000, unless (i) such location is listed on Schedule 7(f) or such Grantor
shall have delivered prior written notice to the Secured Party, which notice shall include all of the information required by Schedule 7(f), and (y) such lessor
acknowledges the Lien in favor of the Secured Party conferred hereunder and waives its statutory and consensual Liens and rights with respect to such Collateral
pursuant to an agreement in form and substance acceptable to the Secured Party and delivered to the Secured party prior to any Collateral being located at any such
location.

     8. Inspection. The Secured Party (by any of its officers, employees and agents), shall have the right upon prior notice to an executive officer of any Grantor, and at
any reasonable times during such Grantor’s usual business hours, to inspect the Collateral, all records related thereto (and to make extracts or copies from such
records), and the premises upon which any of the Collateral is located, and to discuss such Grantor’s affairs and finances with senior officers and accountants of the
Grantors; provided that with respect to any discussions with accountants such discussions shall be upon reasonable prior notice and shall be conducted with a senior
officer of Lawson present (the presence of such senior officer not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed). Upon or after the occurrence and during the continuation
of a Default, the Secured Party may at any time and from time to time employ and maintain on such Grantor’s premises a custodian selected by the Secured Party who
shall have full authority to do all acts necessary to protect the Secured Party’s interest. All expenses incurred by the Secured Party by reason of the employment of
such custodian shall be paid by such Grantor on demand from time to time and shall be added to the Secured Obligations secured by the Collateral, and any amounts
not so paid on demand (in addition to other rights and remedies resulting from such nonpayment) shall bear interest from the date of demand until paid in full at the
Post Default Rate.

     9. Specific Collateral.

     (a) Accounts. With respect to its Accounts whether now existing or hereafter created or acquired and wheresoever located, each Grantor represents, warrants
and covenants to the Secured Party that:

     (i) Each Grantor shall keep accurate and complete records of its Accounts, including all payments and collections thereon (“Account Records”), and shall
submit to Secured Party a schedule of sales, collection, reconciliation and other reports (“Schedule of Accounts”), in form reasonably satisfactory to Secured
Party, on such periodic basis as Secured Party may request; provided, however, that such Grantor’s failure to execute and deliver any such Schedule of
Accounts shall not affect or limit the Secured Party’s security interest or other
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rights in and to any Accounts. If requested by the Secured Party, each Grantor shall furnish the Secured Party with proof of delivery, copies of invoices and
invoice registers, copies of related documents, repayment histories, status reports and other information and such other matter and information relating to the
status of then existing Accounts (collectively, “Account Documents”) as the Secured Party shall reasonably request. Each Grantor shall also provide to Secured
Party, on such periodic basis as Secured Party may request, an aged trial balance of all Accounts as of the end of the preceding month, specifying each
Account’s Account Debtor name and address, amount, invoice date and due date, showing any discount, allowance, credit, authorized return or dispute, and
including such Account Documents as Secured Party may reasonably request.

     (ii) The Accounts are genuine, are in all respects what they purport to be, are not evidenced by an instrument or document or, if evidenced by an instrument
or document, are only evidenced by one original instrument or document.

     (iii) The Accounts cover bona fide sales and deliveries of Inventory usually dealt in by such Grantor, or the rendition by such Grantor of services, to an
Account Debtor in the ordinary course of business.

     (iv) The amounts of the face value of any Account shown or reflected on any Schedule of Accounts, invoice statement, or certificate delivered to the
Secured Party, are actually owing to such Grantor and are not contingent for any reason; and there are no setoffs, discounts, allowances, claims, counterclaims
or disputes of any kind or description existing or asserted with respect thereto and such Grantor has not made any agreement with any Account Debtor
thereunder for any deduction therefrom, except returns, discounts, allowances for prompt payment allowed by such Grantor in the ordinary course of its
business which are not likely to result in any material adverse change in such Grantor’s financial condition or business operations and stated in the Schedule of
Accounts and reflected in the calculation of the face value of each respective invoice related thereto.

     (v) Except for conditions generally applicable to such Grantor’s industry and markets, there are no facts, events, or occurrences known to such Grantor
pertaining particularly to any Accounts which are reasonably expected to materially impair in any way the validity, collectibility or enforcement of Accounts
that would reasonably be likely, in the aggregate, to be of material economic value, or in the aggregate materially reduce the amount payable thereunder from
the amount of the invoice face value shown on any Schedule of Accounts, or on any certificate, contract, invoice or statement delivered to the Secured Party
with respect thereto.

     (vii) Except to the extent of the allowance for doubtful Accounts shown on the Financials, such Grantor has no knowledge of any fact or circumstance
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which would tend to impair the validity or collectibility thereof; and except to the extent of the allowance for doubtful Accounts shown on the Financials, to
such Grantor’s knowledge, there are no proceedings or actions which are threatened or pending against any Account Debtor which are likely to result in any
material adverse change in such Account Debtor’s financial condition.

     (viii) To such Grantor’s knowledge, and except to the extent of the allowance for doubtful Accounts shown on the Financials, all Account Debtors have the
capacity to contract and are solvent.

     (ix) The property or services giving rise thereto are not, and were not at the time of the sale or performance thereof, subject to any Lien other than Permitted
Liens.

     (x) Such Grantor shall notify the Secured Party with respect to any Accounts with respect to which the warranties in this Section 9(a) are not true.

     (xi) In the event any amounts due and owing in excess of $1,000,000 individually, or $5,000,000 in the aggregate amount, are in dispute between any
Account Debtor and such Grantor (which shall include without limitation any dispute in which an offset claim or counterclaim may result), such Grantor shall
provide the Secured Party with written notice thereof as soon as practicable, explaining in detail the reason for the dispute, all claims related thereto and the
amount in controversy.

     (xii) The Secured Party shall have the right, at any time or times hereafter, in the Secured Party’s name or in the name of a nominee of the Secured Party, to
verify the validity, amount or any other matter relating to any Accounts, by mail, telephone, telegraph or otherwise.

     (xiii) Such Grantor shall promptly upon its learning thereof: (i) inform the Secured Party in writing of any material delay in the Grantor’s performance of
any of its material obligations to any Account Debtor or of any assertion of any material claims, setoff or counterclaims by any Account Debtor; (ii) furnish to
and inform the Secured Party of all material adverse information of which such Grantor obtains knowledge relating to the financial condition of any Person
who is then an Account Debtor as to open Accounts with a face amount, in the aggregate, in excess of $1,000,000.

     (b) Inventory. With respect to its Inventory whether now existing or hereafter created or acquired and wheresoever located, each Grantor represents, warrants
and covenants to the Secured Party that:

     (i) Each Grantor shall keep accurate and complete records of its Inventory and shall submit to Secured Party inventory and reconciliation reports, in form
satisfactory to Secured Party, on such periodic basis as Secured Party may
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request. Grantor shall conduct periodic cycle counts consistent with historical practices, and shall provide to Secured Party a summary report based on such
counts on such periodic basis as Secured Party may request, together with such supporting information as Secured Party may request.

     (ii) The Secured Party shall not be responsible for: (i) the safekeeping of the Inventory; (ii) any loss of or damage to the Inventory; (iii) any diminution in
the value of the Inventory; or (iv) any act or default of any carrier, warehouseman, bailee, forwarding agency or any other Person. All risk of loss, damage,
destruction or diminution in value of the Inventory shall be borne by Grantor. Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement or pursuant to the Deposit
Inventory System, no Inventory shall, without Secured Party’s prior written consent, be at any time or times hereafter stored with a bailee, warehouseman,
consignee or similar third party. Except for the Deposit Inventory System, Grantor shall not sell any of its Inventory on a bill-and-hold, guaranteed sale, sale-or-
return, sale on approval or consignment basis or any other basis subject to a repurchase obligation or return right.

     (iii) Such Grantor shall not sell any of its Inventory on a bill-and-hold basis if it would cause the aggregate outstanding amount of all Accounts arising
therefrom to exceed at any time $250,000 with respect to all such Account Debtors.

     (iv) If any Account Debtor returns any Inventory to a Grantor after shipment thereof, and such return generates a credit in excess of $1,000,000 on any
individual Account or $5,000,000 in the aggregate on any Accounts of such Account Debtor, such Grantor shall notify the Secured Party in writing of the same
as soon as practicable.

     (c) Equipment. With respect to its Equipment whether now existing or hereafter created or acquired and wheresoever located, each Grantor represents,
warrants and covenants to the Secured Party that such Grantor, as soon as practicable following a request therefor by the Secured Party, shall deliver to the Secured
Party any and all evidence of ownership of any of the Equipment (including without limitation certificates of title and applications for title).

     (d) Supporting Obligations. With respect to its Supporting Obligations whether now existing or hereafter created or acquired and wheresoever located, each
Grantor represents, warrants and covenants to the Secured Party that:

     (i) Each Grantor shall (i) maintain at all times, and furnish to the Secured Party from time to time at the Secured Party’s request, a current list identifying in
reasonable detail each Supporting Obligation relating to any Collateral from a single obligor in excess of $1,000,000, and (ii) upon the request of the Secured
Party from time to time following the occurrence and during the continuance of any Default, deliver to the Secured Party the originals of all
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documents evidencing or constituting Supporting Obligations, together with such other documentation (executed as appropriate by the applicable Grantor) and
information as may be necessary to enable the Secured Party to realize upon the Supporting Obligations in accordance with their respective terms or transfer the
Supporting Obligations as may be permitted under the Loan Documents or by applicable law.

     (ii) With respect to each letter of credit giving rise to Letter-of-Credit Rights that has an aggregate stated amount available to be drawn in excess of
$2,500,000, each Grantor shall, at the request of the Secured Party, cause the issuer thereof to execute and deliver to the Secured Party a Qualifying Control
Agreement.

     (e) Investment Property. With respect to its Investment Property constituting Collateral, whether now existing or hereafter created or acquired and
wheresoever located, each Grantor represents, warrants and covenants to the Secured Party that:

     (i) Schedule 9(e) attached hereto contains a true and complete description of (x) the name and address of each securities intermediary with which such
Grantor maintains a securities account as of its Applicable Date, and (y) all other Investment Property of such Grantor other than interests in Subsidiaries in
which such Grantor has granted a Lien to the Secured Party pursuant to a Pledge Agreement.

     (ii) Except with the express prior written consent of the Secured Party in each instance, all Investment Property other than interests in Subsidiaries in which
such Grantor has granted a Lien to the Secured Party pursuant to a Pledge Agreement shall be maintained at all times in the form of (a) certificated securities,
which certificates shall have been delivered to the Secured Party together with duly executed undated stock powers endorsed in blank pertaining thereto, or
(b) security entitlements credited to one or more securities accounts as to each of which the Secured Party has received (1) copies of the account agreement
between the applicable securities intermediary and such Grantor and the most recent statement of account pertaining to such securities account (each certified to
be true and correct by an officer of such Grantor) and (2) a Qualifying Control Agreement from the applicable securities intermediary which remains in full
force and effect and as to which the Secured Party has not received any notice of termination. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, no Grantor shall
cause, suffer or permit any Investment Property to be credited to or maintained in any securities account not listed on Schedule 9(e) attached hereto except in
each case upon giving prior written notice to the Secured Party.

     (iii) All dividends and other distributions with respect to any of the Investment Property shall be subject to the security interest conferred hereunder.
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     (iv) So long as no Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the registration of Investment Property in the name of a Grantor as record and beneficial
owner shall not be changed and such Grantor shall be entitled to exercise all voting and other rights and powers pertaining to Investment Property for all
purposes not inconsistent with the terms hereof or of any Qualifying Control Agreement relating thereto.

     (v) Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Default, at the option of the Secured Party, all rights of the Grantors to exercise the voting or
consensual rights and powers which it is authorized to exercise pursuant to clause (iv) immediately above shall cease and the Secured Party may thereupon (but
shall not be obligated to), at its request, cause such Collateral to be registered in the name of the Secured Party or its nominee or agent and/or exercise such
voting or consensual rights and powers as appertain to ownership of such Collateral, and to that end each Grantor hereby appoints the Secured Party as its
proxy, with full power of substitution, to vote and exercise all other rights as a shareholder with respect to such Investment Property upon the occurrence and
during the continuance of any Default, which proxy is coupled with an interest and is irrevocable until the Facility Termination Date, and each Grantor hereby
agrees to provide such further proxies as the Secured Party may request; provided, however, that the Secured Party in its discretion may from time to time
refrain from exercising, and shall not be obligated to exercise, any such voting or consensual rights or such proxy.

     (vi) Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Default, all rights of the Grantors to receive and retain cash dividends and other distributions
upon or in respect to Investment Property pursuant to clause (iii) above shall cease and shall thereupon be vested in the Secured Party, and each Grantor shall,
or shall cause, all such cash dividends and other distributions with respect to the Investment Property to be promptly delivered to the Secured Party (together, if
the Secured Party shall request, with any documents related thereto) to be held, released or disposed of by it hereunder or, at the option of the Secured Party, to
be applied to the Secured Obligations.

     (f) Deposit Accounts. With respect to its Deposit Accounts whether now existing or hereafter created or acquired and wheresoever located, each Grantor
represents, warrants and covenants to the Secured Party that:

     (i) Schedule 9(f) attached hereto contains a true and complete description of the name and address of each depositary institution with which such Grantor
maintains a Deposit Account as of its Applicable Date.

     (ii) Grantors shall comply with Section 7.12 of the Credit Agreement with respect to Deposit Accounts. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, no
Grantor shall cause, suffer or permit any Deposit Account to be opened or maintained (other than Deposit Accounts listed on Schedule 9(f))
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unless the applicable Grantor shall have given prior written notice thereof to the Secured Party. In addition, all Deposit Accounts in which collected balances or
deposits in excess of $250,000 are or may at any time be credited or maintained (other than Deposit Accounts maintained with the Secured Party as depositary
institution) shall be subject to a Qualifying Control Agreement from the applicable depositary institution which remains in full force and effect and as to which
the Secured Party has not received any notice of termination.

     (g) Chattel Paper. With respect to its Chattel Paper whether now existing or hereafter created or acquired and wheresoever located, each Grantor represents,
warrants and covenants to the Secured Party that:

     (i) Each Grantor shall at all times retain sole physical possession of the originals of all Chattel Paper (other than electronic Chattel Paper and the electronic
components of hybrid Chattel Paper); provided, however, that (x) upon the request of the Secured Party from time to time, such Grantor shall immediately
deliver physical possession of such Chattel Paper to the Secured Party or its designee, and (y) in the event that there shall be created more than one original
counterpart of any physical document that alone or in conjunction with any other physical or electronic document constitutes Chattel Paper, then such
counterparts shall be numbered consecutively starting with “1” and such Grantor shall retain the counterpart numbered “1”.

     (ii) All counterparts of all tangible Chattel Paper (and the tangible components of hybrid Chattel Paper) shall immediately upon the creation or acquisition
thereof by any Grantor be conspicuously legended as follows: “A FIRST PRIORITY SECURITY INTEREST IN THIS CHATTEL PAPER HAS BEEN
GRANTED TO BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., PURSUANT TO A SECURITY AGREEMENT DATED AS OF MARCH [___], 2009, AS AMENDED FROM
TIME TO TIME. NO SECURITY INTEREST OR OTHER INTEREST IN FAVOR OF ANY OTHER PERSON MAY BE CREATED BY THE TRANSFER
OF PHYSICAL POSSESSION OF THIS CHATTEL PAPER OR OF ANY COUNTERPART HEREOF EXCEPT BY OR WITH THE CONSENT OF THE
AFORESAID SECURED PARTY AS PROVIDED IN SUCH SECURITY AGREEMENT.” In the case of electronic Chattel Paper (including the electronic
components of hybrid Chattel Paper), no Grantor shall create or acquire any such Chattel Paper unless, prior to such acquisition or creation, it shall have taken
such Perfection Action as the Secured Party may require to perfect by control the security interest of the Secured Party in such Collateral.

     (iii) Other than in the ordinary course of business and in keeping with reasonable and customary practice, no Grantor shall amend, modify, waive or
terminate any provision of, or fail to exercise promptly and diligently each material right or remedy conferred under or in connection with, any Chattel Paper,
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in any case in such a manner as could reasonably be expected to materially adversely affect the value of affected Chattel Paper as collateral.

     (h) Instruments. With respect to its Instruments whether now existing or hereafter created or acquired and wheresoever located, each Grantor represents,
warrants and covenants to the Secured Party that:

     (i) Each Grantor shall (i) maintain at all times, and furnish to the Secured Party from time to time at the Secured Party’s request, a current list identifying in
reasonable detail Instruments of which such Grantor is the payee or holder (other than Instruments with respect to which another Grantor is the obligor) and
having a face amount payable in excess of $1,000,000, and (ii) upon the request of the Secured Party from time to time, deliver to the Secured Party the
originals of all such Instruments, together with duly executed undated endorsements in blank affixed thereto and such other documentation and information as
may be necessary to enable the Secured Party to realize upon the Instruments in accordance with their respective terms or transfer the Instruments as may be
permitted under the Loan Documents or by applicable law.

     (ii) Other than in the ordinary course of business and in keeping with reasonable and customary practice, no Grantor shall amend, modify, waive or
terminate any provision of, or fail to exercise promptly and diligently each material right or remedy conferred under or in connection with, any Instrument, in
any case in such a manner as could reasonably be expected to materially adversely affect the value of affected Instrument as collateral.

     (i) Commercial Tort Claims. With respect to its Commercial Tort Claims whether now existing or hereafter created or acquired and wheresoever located, each
Grantor represents, warrants and covenants to the Secured Party that:

     (i) Schedule 9(i) attached hereto contains a true and complete list of all Commercial Tort Claims in which any Grantor has an interest and which have been
identified by a Grantor as of its Applicable Date (“Grantor Claims”). Each Grantor shall furnish to the Secured Party from time to time upon its request a
certificate of an officer of such Grantor referring to this Section 9(i) and (x) identifying all Grantor Claims that are not then described on Schedule 9(i) attached
hereto and stating that each of such additional Grantor Claims shall be deemed added to such Schedule 9(i) and shall constitute a Commercial Tort Claim, a
Grantor Claim, and additional Collateral hereunder, and (y) summarizing the status or disposition of any Grantor Claims that have been settled, or have been
made the subject of any binding mediation, judicial or arbitral proceeding, or any judicial or arbitral order on the merits, or that have been abandoned. With
respect to each such additional Grantor Claim, such Grantor Claim shall be and become part of the Collateral hereunder from the date such claim is identified to
the Secured Party as provided above without further action, and (ii) the Secured Party is hereby authorized at the expense of the applicable Grantor to execute
and
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file such additional financing statements or amendments to previously filed financing statements, and take such other action as it may deem necessary or
advisable, to perfect the Lien on such additional Grantor Claims conferred hereunder, and the Grantor shall, if required by applicable law or otherwise at the
request of the Secured Party, execute and deliver such Perfection Documents and take such other Perfection Action as the Secured Party may determine to be
necessary or advisable to perfect or protect the Lien of the Secured Party in such additional Grantor Claims conferred hereunder.

     (j) Internet Property Rights. With respect to its rights, titles and interests in and to any internet domain names or registration rights relating thereto, and any
internet websites or the content thereof (collectively, “Internet Property Rights”) whether now existing or hereafter created or acquired and wheresoever located,
each Grantor represents, warrants and covenants to the Secured Party that Schedule 9(j) attached hereto contains a true and complete description of each internet
domain name registered to such Grantor or in which such Grantor has ownership, operating or registration rights.

     (k) Third Party Goods. Grantor shall not hold or accept any Third Party Goods, whether on a consignment basis or otherwise, other than Third Party Goods
(i) with an aggregate value of $2,500,000 or less; or (ii) from a Person approved by Secured Party, provided that, with respect to any other such Person, Secured
Party has (a) been furnished with an accurate description of the arrangements and agreements (if not reduced to writing) with respect to such Third Party Goods,
together with true, correct and complete copies of any written instruments, documents or agreements with respect thereto, and (b) received an executed
intercreditor agreement from such Person in form and substance satisfactory to Secured Party. If any of the arrangements or instruments, documents or agreements
referred to in this Section 9(k) are amended, modified or supplemented, Grantor promptly shall provide Secured Party with notice thereof and copies of such
amendment, modification or supplement. Schedule 9(k) sets forth a complete listing of all Persons now having an interest in any Third Party Goods, which
Schedule shall be amended and supplemented by Grantor in conjunction with the delivery of the Covenant Compliance Certificates required by Section 7.1(H) of
the Credit Agreement. Grantor shall take such action as Secured Party may from time to time require to assure Secured Party that no Person storing any Third
Party Goods with Grantor has any interest in the Collateral.

     10. Casualty and Liability Insurance Required.

     (a) Each Grantor will keep the Collateral continuously insured as required pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement.

     (b) Each insurance policy obtained in satisfaction of the requirements of the Credit Agreement:

     (i) may be provided by blanket policies now or hereafter maintained by each or any Grantor;
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     (ii) shall be issued by such insurer (or insurers) as shall be financially responsible, of recognized standing and reasonably acceptable to the Secured Party;

     (iii) shall be in such form and have such provisions (including without limitation the loss payable clause, the waiver of subrogation clause, the deductible
amount, if any, and the standard mortgagee endorsement clause) as are generally considered standard provisions for the type of insurance involved and are
reasonably acceptable in all respects to the Secured Party;

     (iv) shall prohibit cancellation or substantial modification, termination or lapse in coverage by the insurer without at least thirty (30) days’ prior written
notice to the Secured Party, except for non-payment of premium, as to which such policies shall provide for at least ten (10) days’ prior written notice to the
Secured Party; and

     (v) shall name the Secured Party as loss payee and as a party insured thereunder in respect of any claim for payment.

     (c) Prior to expiration of any such policy, such Grantor shall furnish the Secured Party with evidence satisfactory to the Secured Party that the policy or
certificate has been renewed or replaced or is no longer required by this Security Agreement.

     (d) Each Grantor hereby makes, constitutes and appoints the Secured Party (and all officers, employees or agents designated by the Secured Party), as such
Grantor’s true and lawful attorney (and agent-in-fact) for the purpose of making, settling and adjusting claims under such policies of insurance, endorsing the name
of such Grantor on any check, draft, instrument or other item or payment for the proceeds of such policies of insurance and for making all determinations and
decisions with respect to such policies of insurance, which appointment is coupled with an interest and is irrevocable; provided, however, that the powers pursuant
to such appointment shall be exercisable only upon the occurrence and during the continuation of a Default.

     (e) In the event such Grantor shall fail to maintain, or fail to cause to be maintained, the full insurance coverage required hereunder, the Secured Party may (but
shall be under no obligation to), without waiving or releasing any Secured Obligation or Default or Event of Default by such Grantor hereunder, contract for the
required policies of insurance and pay the premiums on the same; and all sums so disbursed by Secured Party, including reasonable Attorneys’ Costs, court costs,
expenses and other charges related thereto, shall be payable on demand by such Grantor to the Secured Party, shall be additional Secured Obligations secured by
the Collateral, and (in addition to other rights and remedies resulting from such nonpayment) shall bear interest from the date of demand until paid in full at the
Post Default Rate.
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     (f) So long as no Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the Grantors shall be entitled to receive payment of the proceeds of such insurance; provided,
that, at all times during which a Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the Secured Party shall be entitled to receive direct and immediate payment of the
proceeds of such insurance and such Grantor shall take all action as the Secured Party may reasonably request to accomplish such payment. In the event any
Grantor shall receive any such proceeds at any times during which a Default shall have occurred and be continuing, such Grantor shall immediately deliver such
proceeds to the Secured Party and, pending such delivery, shall hold such proceeds in trust and keep the same segregated from its other funds.

     (h) In case of any material damage to, destruction or loss of, or claim or proceeding against, all or any material part of the Collateral pledged hereunder by a
Grantor, such Grantor shall give prompt notice thereof to the Secured Party. Each such notice shall describe generally the nature and extent of such damage,
destruction, loss, claim or proceeding. Subject to Section 10(d), each Grantor is hereby authorized and empowered to adjust or compromise any loss under any
such insurance other than losses relating to claims made directly against any Secured Party.

     (k) The provisions contained in this Security Agreement pertaining to insurance shall be cumulative with any additional provisions imposing additional
insurance requirements with respect to the Collateral or any other property on which a Lien is conferred under any Collateral Document.

     11. Rights and Remedies Upon Default. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of a Default, the Secured Party shall have the following rights and
remedies in addition to any rights and remedies set forth elsewhere in this Security Agreement or the other Loan Documents, all of which may be exercised with or, if
allowed by law, without notice to a Grantor:

     (a) All of the rights and remedies of a secured party under the UCC or under other applicable law, all of which rights and remedies shall be cumulative, and
none of which shall be exclusive, to the extent permitted by law, in addition to any other rights and remedies contained in this Security Agreement or any other
Loan Document;

     (b) The right to foreclose the Liens and security interests created under this Security Agreement by any available judicial procedure or without judicial process;

     (c) The right to (i) enter upon the premises of a Grantor through self-help and without judicial process, without first obtaining a final judgment or giving such
Grantor notice or opportunity for a hearing on the validity of the Secured Party’s claim and without any obligation to pay rent to such Grantor, or any other place or
places where any Collateral is located and kept, and remove the Collateral therefrom to the premises of the Secured Party or any agent of the Secured Party, for
such time as the Secured Party may desire, in order effectively to collect or liquidate the Collateral, (ii) require such Grantor or any bailee or other agent of such
Grantor to assemble the Collateral and make it
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available to the Secured Party at a place to be designated by the Secured Party that is reasonably convenient to both parties, and (iii) notify any or all Persons party
to a Qualifying Control Agreement or who otherwise have possession of or control over any Collateral of the occurrence of a Default and other appropriate
circumstances, and exercise control over and take possession or custody of any or all Collateral in the possession, custody or control of such other Persons;

     (d) The right to (i) exercise all of a Grantor’s rights and remedies with respect to the collection of Accounts, Chattel Paper, Instruments, Supporting Obligations
and General Intangibles (collectively, “Payment Collateral”), including the right to demand payment thereof and enforce payment, by legal proceedings or
otherwise; (ii) settle, adjust, compromise, extend or renew all or any Payment Collateral or any legal proceedings pertaining thereto; (iii) discharge and release all
or any Payment Collateral; (iv) take control, in any manner, of any item of payment or proceeds referred to in Section 5 above; (v) prepare, file and sign a
Grantor’s name on any Proof of Claim in bankruptcy, notice of Lien, assignment or satisfaction of Lien or similar document in any action or proceeding adverse to
any obligor under any Payment Collateral or otherwise in connection with any Payment Collateral; (vi) endorse the name of a Grantor upon any chattel paper,
document, instrument, invoice, freight bill, bill of lading or similar document or agreement relating to any Collateral; (vii) use the information recorded on or
contained on a Grantor’s internet website or otherwise in any data processing equipment and computer hardware and software relating to any Collateral to which a
Grantor has access; (viii) open such Grantor’s mail and collect any and all amounts due to such Grantor from any Account Debtors or other obligor in respect of
Payment Collateral; (ix) take over such Grantor’s post office boxes or make other arrangements as the Secured Party deems necessary to receive such Grantor’s
mail, including notifying the post office authorities to change the address for delivery of such Grantor’s mail to such address as the Secured Party may designate;
(x) notify any or all Account Debtors or other obligor on any Payment Collateral that such Payment Collateral has been assigned to the Secured Party and that
Secured Party has a security interest therein (provided that the Secured Party may at any time give such notice to an Account Debtor that is a department, agency
or authority of the United States government); each Grantor hereby agrees that any such notice, in the Secured Party’s sole discretion, may (but need not) be sent
on such Grantor’s stationery, in which event such Grantor shall co-sign such notice with the Secured Party if requested to do so by the Secured Party; and (xi) do
all acts and things and execute all documents necessary, in Secured Party’s sole discretion, to collect the Payment Collateral; and

     (e) The right to sell all or any Collateral in its then existing condition, or after any further manufacturing or processing thereof, at such time or times, at public
or private sale or sales, with such notice as may be required by law, in lots or in bulk, for cash or on credit, with or without representations and warranties, all as
the Secured Party, in its sole discretion, may deem advisable. The Secured Party shall have the right to conduct such sales on a Grantor’s premises or elsewhere
and shall have the right to use a Grantor’s premises without charge for such sales for such time or times as the Secured Party may see fit. The Secured Party may, if
it deems it reasonable, postpone or adjourn
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any sale of the Collateral from time to time by an announcement at the time and place of such postponed or adjourned sale, and such sale may, without further
notice, be made at the time and place to which it was so adjourned. Each Grantor agrees that the Secured Party has no obligation to preserve rights to the Collateral
against prior parties or to marshal any Collateral for the benefit of any Person. The Secured Party is hereby granted an irrevocable fully paid license or other right
(including each Grantor’s rights under any license or any franchise agreement), each of which shall remain in full force and effect until the Facility Termination
Date, to use, without charge, each of the labels, patents, copyrights, names, trade secrets, trade names, trademarks and advertising matter, or any property of a
similar nature owned or licensed by any Grantor, as it pertains to the Collateral, in completing production of, advertising for sale and selling any Collateral. If any
of the Collateral shall require repairs, maintenance, preparation or the like, or is in process or other unfinished state, the Secured Party shall have the right, but shall
not be obligated, to perform such repairs, maintenance, preparation, processing or completion of manufacturing for the purpose of putting the same in such
saleable form as the Secured Party shall deem appropriate, but the Secured Party shall have the right to sell or dispose of the Collateral without such processing
and no Grantor shall have any claim against the Secured Party for the value that may have been added to such Collateral with such processing. In addition, each
Grantor agrees that in the event notice is necessary under applicable law, written notice mailed to such Grantor in the manner specified herein ten (10) days prior to
the date of public sale of any of the Collateral or prior to the date after which any private sale or other disposition of the Collateral will be made shall constitute
commercially reasonable notice to such Grantor. All notice is hereby waived with respect to any of the Collateral which threatens to decline speedily in value or is
of a type customarily sold on a recognized market. The Secured Party may purchase all or any part of the Collateral at public or, if permitted by law, private sale,
free from any right of redemption which is hereby expressly waived by such Grantor and, in lieu of actual payment of such purchase price, may set off the amount
of such price against the Secured Obligations. Each Grantor recognizes that the Secured Party may be unable to effect a public sale of certain of the Collateral by
reason of certain prohibitions contained in the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and applicable state law, and may be otherwise delayed or
adversely affected in effecting any sale by reason of present or future restrictions thereon imposed by governmental authorities (“Affected Collateral”), and that as
a consequence of such prohibitions and restrictions the Secured Party may be compelled (i) to resort to one or more private sales to a restricted group of purchasers
who will be obliged to agree, among other things, to acquire Affected Collateral for their own account, for investment and not with a view to the distribution or
resale thereof, or (ii) to seek regulatory approval of any proposed sale or sales, or (iii) to limit the amount of Affected Collateral sold to any Person or group. Each
Grantor agrees and acknowledges that private sales so made may be at prices and upon terms less favorable to such Grantor than if such Affected Collateral was
sold either at public sales or at private sales not subject to other regulatory restrictions, and that the Secured Party has no obligation to delay the sale of any
Affected Collateral for the period of time necessary to permit the Grantor or any other Person to register or otherwise qualify them under or exempt them from any
applicable restriction, even if such Grantor or other Person would agree to register or otherwise qualify or exempt such Affected Collateral so
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as to permit a public sale under the Securities Act or applicable state law. Each Grantor further agrees, to the extent permitted by applicable law, that the use of
private sales made under the foregoing circumstances to dispose of Affected Collateral shall be deemed to be dispositions in a commercially reasonable manner.
Each Grantor hereby acknowledges that a ready market may not exist for Affected Collateral that is not traded on a national securities exchange or quoted on an
automated quotation system.

     The net cash proceeds resulting from the collection, liquidation, sale, or other disposition of the Collateral shall be applied first, to the expenses (including all
Attorneys’ Costs) of retaking, holding, storing, processing and preparing for sale, selling, collecting, liquidating and the like; second, to the satisfaction of all Secured
Obligations in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement or as required by applicable law; and third, any remaining balance shall be remitted to the
applicable Grantors or as a court of competent jurisdiction shall direct. Each Grantor shall be liable to the Secured Party, and shall pay to the Secured Party, on
demand any deficiency which may remain after such sale, disposition, collection or liquidation of the Collateral.

     12. Attorney-in-Fact. Each Grantor hereby appoints the Secured Party as the Grantor’s attorney-in-fact for the purposes of carrying out the provisions of this
Security Agreement and taking any action and executing any instrument which the Secured Party may deem necessary or advisable to accomplish the purposes hereof,
which appointment is irrevocable and coupled with an interest; provided, that the Secured Party shall have and may exercise rights under this power of attorney only
upon the occurrence and during the continuance of a Default. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of a
Default, the Secured Party shall have the right and power

     (a) to ask, demand, collect, sue for, recover, compromise, receive and give acquittance and receipts for moneys due and to become due under or in respect of
any of the Collateral;

     (b) to receive, endorse and collect any drafts or other instruments, documents and chattel paper in connection with clause (a) above;

     (c) to endorse such Grantor’s name on any checks, notes, drafts or any other payment relating to or constituting proceeds of the Collateral which comes into the
Secured Party’s possession or the Secured Party’s control, and deposit the same to the account of the Secured Party on account and for payment of the Secured
Obligations.

     (d) to file any claims or take any action or institute any proceedings that the Secured Party may deem necessary or desirable for the collection of any of the
Collateral or otherwise to enforce the rights of the Secured Party with respect to any of the Collateral; and

     (e) to execute, in connection with any sale or other disposition of Collateral provided for herein, any endorsement, assignments, or other instruments of
conveyance or transfer with respect thereto.
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     13. Reinstatement. The granting of a security interest in the Collateral and the other provisions hereof shall continue to be effective or be reinstated, as the case
may be, if at any time any payment of any of the Secured Obligations is rescinded or must otherwise be returned by the Secured Party or is repaid by the Secured
Party in whole or in part in good faith settlement of a pending or threatened avoidance claim, whether upon the insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization of any
Grantor or otherwise, all as though such payment had not been made. The provisions of this Section 13 shall survive repayment of all of the Secured Obligations and
the termination or expiration of this Security Agreement in any manner, including but not limited to termination upon occurrence of the Facility Termination Date.

     14. Certain Waivers by the Grantors. Each Grantor waives to the extent permitted by applicable law (a) any right to require the Secured Party or any other
obligee of the Secured Obligations to (x) proceed against any Person or entity, including without limitation any Grantor, (y) proceed against or exhaust any Collateral
or other collateral for the Secured Obligations, or (z) pursue any other remedy in its power; (b) any defense arising by reason of any disability or other defense of any
other Person, or by reason of the cessation from any cause whatsoever of the liability of any other Person or entity, (c) any right of subrogation, and (d) any right to
enforce any remedy which the Secured Party or any other obligee of the Secured Obligations now has or may hereafter have against any other Person and any benefit
of and any right to participate in any collateral or security whatsoever now or hereafter held by the Secured Party. Each Grantor authorizes the Secured Party and each
other obligee of the Secured Obligations without notice (except notice required by applicable law) or demand and without affecting its liability hereunder or under the
Loan Documents from time to time to: (i) take and hold security, other than the Collateral herein described, for the payment of such Secured Obligations or any part
thereof, and exchange, enforce, waive and release the Collateral herein described or any part thereof or any such other security; and (ii) apply such Collateral or other
security and direct the order or manner of sale thereof as the Secured Party or obligee in its discretion may determine.

     The Secured Party may at any time deliver (without representation, recourse or warranty) the Collateral or any part thereof to a Grantor and the receipt thereof by
such Grantor shall be a complete and full acquittance for the Collateral so delivered, and the Secured Party shall thereafter be discharged from any liability or
responsibility therefor.

     15. Continued Powers. Until the Facility Termination Date shall have occurred, the power of sale and other rights, powers and remedies granted to the Secured
Party hereunder shall continue to exist and may be exercised by the Secured Party at any time and from time to time irrespective of the fact that any of the Secured
Obligations or any part thereof may have become barred by any statute of limitations or that any part of the liability of any Grantor may have ceased.

     16. Other Rights. The rights, powers and remedies given to the Secured Party by this Security Agreement shall be in addition to all rights, powers and remedies
given to the Secured Party under any other Loan Document or by virtue of any statute or rule of law. Any forbearance or failure or delay by the Secured Party in
exercising any right, power or remedy hereunder shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such right, power or remedy, and any single or
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partial exercise of any right, power or remedy hereunder shall not preclude the further exercise thereof; and every right, power and remedy of the Secured Party shall
continue in full force and effect until such right, power or remedy is specifically waived in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement.

     17. Anti-Marshaling Provisions. The right is hereby given by each Grantor to the Secured Party to make releases (whether in whole or in part) of all or any part
of the Collateral agreeable to the Secured Party without notice to, or the consent, approval or agreement of other parties and interests, including junior lienors, which
releases shall not impair in any manner the validity of or priority of the Liens and security interests in the remaining Collateral conferred hereunder, nor release any
Grantor from personal liability for the Secured Obligations. Notwithstanding the existence of any other security interest in the Collateral held by the Secured Party, the
Secured Party shall have the right to determine the order in which any or all of the Collateral shall be subjected to the remedies provided in this Security Agreement.
Each Grantor hereby waives any and all right to require the marshaling of assets in connection with the exercise of any of the remedies permitted by applicable law or
provided herein or in any other Loan Document.

     18. Entire Agreement. This Security Agreement and each Security Joinder Agreement, together with the Credit Agreement and other Loan Documents,
constitutes and expresses the entire understanding between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior negotiations,
agreements and understandings, inducements, commitments or conditions, express or implied, oral or written, except as contained in the Loan Documents. The
express terms hereof and of the Security Joinder Agreements control and supersede any course of performance or usage of the trade inconsistent with any of the terms
hereof or thereof. Neither this Security Agreement nor any Security Joinder Agreement nor any portion or provision hereof or thereof may be changed, altered,
modified, supplemented, discharged, canceled, terminated, or amended orally or in any manner other than as provided in the Credit Agreement.

     19. Third Party Reliance. Each Grantor hereby consents and agrees that all issuers of or obligors in respect of any Collateral, and all securities intermediaries,
warehousemen, bailees, public officials and other Persons having any interest in, possession of, control over or right, privilege, duty or discretion in respect of, any
Collateral shall be entitled to accept the provisions hereof and of the Security Joinder Agreements as conclusive evidence of the right of the Secured Party to exercise
its rights hereunder or thereunder with respect to the Collateral, notwithstanding any other notice or direction to the contrary heretofore or hereafter given by any
Grantor or any other Person to any of such Persons.

     20. Binding Agreement; Assignment. This Security Agreement and each Security Joinder Agreement, and the terms, covenants and conditions hereof and thereof,
shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, and to their respective successors and assigns, except that no Grantor shall be permitted to assign
this Security Agreement, any Security Joinder Agreement or any interest herein or therein or, except as expressly permitted herein or in the Credit Agreement, in the
Collateral or any part thereof or interest therein. All references herein
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to the Secured Party shall include any successor thereof or permitted assignee, and any other obligees from time to time of the Secured Obligations.

     21. Severability. WHEREVER POSSIBLE, EACH PROVISION OF THIS SECURITY AGREEMENT SHALL BE INTERPRETED IN SUCH MANNER AS
TO BE EFFECTIVE AND VALID UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, BUT IF ANY PROVISION OF THIS SECURITY AGREEMENT SHALL BE PROHIBITED BY
OR INVALID UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, SUCH PROVISION SHALL BE INEFFECTIVE ONLY TO THE EXTENT OF SUCH LAW, SUCH PROVISION
SHALL BE INEFFECTIVE ONLY TO THE EXTENT OF SUCH PROHIBITION OR INVALIDITY, WITHOUT INVALIDATING THE REMAINDER OF SUCH
PROVISION OR THE REMAINING PROVISIONS OF THIS SECURITY AGREEMENT.

     22. Counterparts. This Security Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed an
original, and it shall not be necessary in making proof of this Security Agreement to produce or account for more than one such counterpart executed by the Grantor
against whom enforcement is sought.

     23. Notices. Any notice required or permitted hereunder shall be given at the address for the giving of notice then in effect under the Credit Agreement. All such
addresses may be modified, and all such notices shall be given and shall be effective, as provided in the Credit Agreement for the giving and effectiveness of notices
and modifications of addresses thereunder.

     24. Joinder. Each Person that shall at any time execute and deliver to the Secured Party a Security Joinder Agreement substantially in the form attached as
Exhibit A hereto shall thereupon irrevocably, absolutely and unconditionally become a party hereto and obligated hereunder as a Grantor and shall have thereupon
pursuant to Section 2 hereof granted a security interest in and collaterally assigned to the Secured Party all Collateral in which it has at its Applicable Date or
thereafter acquires any interest or the power to transfer, and all references herein and in the other Loan Documents to the Grantors or to the parties to this Security
Agreement shall be deemed to include such Person as a Grantor hereunder. Each Security Joinder Agreement shall be accompanied by the Supplemental Schedules
referred to therein, appropriately completed with information relating to the Grantor executing such Security Joinder Agreement and its property. Each of the
applicable Schedules attached hereto shall be deemed amended and supplemented without further action by such information reflected on the Supplemental
Schedules.

     25. Rules of Interpretation. The rules of interpretation contained in Sections 1.02, 1.03, and 1.04 of the Credit Agreement shall be applicable to this Security
Agreement and each Security Joinder Agreement and are hereby incorporated by reference. All representations and warranties contained herein shall survive the
delivery of documents and any credit extensions referred to herein or secured hereby.
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26. Governing Law; Waivers.

     (a) THIS SECURITY AGREEMENT AND EACH SECURITY JOINDER AGREEMENT SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE EXECUTED AND HAS BEEN
DELIVERED AND ACCEPTED IN CHICAGO, ILLINOIS BY SIGNING AND DELIVERING IT THERE. ANY DISPUTE BETWEEN THE PARTIES
HERETO ARISING OUT OF, CONNECTED WITH, RELATED TO, OR INCIDENTAL TO THE RELATIONSHIP ESTABLISHED BETWEEN THEM
IN CONNECTION WITH THIS SECURITY AGREEMENT AND EACH SECURITY JOINDER AGREEMENT, AND WHETHER ARISING IN
CONTRACT, TORT, EQUITY, OR OTHERWISE, SHALL BE RESOLVED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INTERNAL LAWS AND NOT THE
CONFLICTS OF LAW PROVISIONS OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS; PROVIDED THAT (i) WITH RESPECT TO THOSE INSTANCES IN WHICH
THE APPLICABLE CHOICE OF LAWS RULES OF SUCH STATE, INCLUDING SECTION 9-301 OF THE UCC, REQUIRE THAT THE MANNER OF
CREATION OF A SECURITY INTEREST IN SPECIFIC COLLATERAL OR THE MANNER OR EFFECT OF PERFECTION OR NONPERFECTION
OR THE RULES GOVERNING PRIORITY OF SECURITY INTERESTS ARE TO BE GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION,
THEN THE LAWS OF SUCH OTHER JURISDICTION SHALL GOVERN SUCH MATTERS, (ii) EACH CONTROL AGREEMENT (INCLUDING
EACH QUALIFYING CONTROL AGREEMENT) APPLICABLE TO ANY SECURITIES ACCOUNT OR DEPOSIT ACCOUNT SHALL BE
GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE JURISDICTION SPECIFIED IN SUCH CONTROL AGREEMENT, OR OTHERWISE BY THE LAWS OF THE
JURISDICTION THAT GOVERN THE SECURITIES ACCOUNT OR DEPOSIT ACCOUNT TO WHICH SUCH CONTROL AGREEMENT RELATES,
AND (iii) IN THOSE INSTANCES IN WHICH THE LAWS OF THE JURISDICTION IN WHICH COLLATERAL IS LOCATED GOVERN MATTERS
PERTAINING TO THE METHODS AND EFFECT OF REALIZING ON COLLATERAL, SUCH LAWS SHALL BE GIVEN EFFECT WITH RESPECT
TO SUCH MATTERS.

     (b) EACH GRANTOR HEREBY EXPRESSLY AND IRREVOCABLY AGREES AND CONSENTS THAT ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS SECURITY AGREEMENT OR ANY SECURITY JOINDER AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS
CONTEMPLATED HEREIN OR THEREIN MAY BE INSTITUTED IN ANY STATE OR FEDERAL COURT SITTING IN THE COUNTY OF COOK,
STATE OF ILLINOIS, UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND, BY THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THIS SECURITY AGREEMENT OR A
SECURITY JOINDER AGREEMENT, EXPRESSLY WAIVES ANY OBJECTION THAT IT MAY HAVE NOW OR HEREAFTER TO THE LAYING OF
THE VENUE OR TO THE JURISDICTION OF ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING, AND IRREVOCABLY SUBMITS GENERALLY AND
UNCONDITIONALLY TO THE JURISDICTION OF ANY SUCH COURT IN ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING.
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     (c) EACH GRANTOR AGREES THAT SERVICE OF PROCESS MAY BE MADE BY PERSONAL SERVICE OF A COPY OF THE SUMMONS AND
COMPLAINT OR OTHER LEGAL PROCESS IN ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING, OR BY REGISTERED OR CERTIFIED MAIL
(POSTAGE PREPAID) TO THE ADDRESS OF SUCH PARTY PROVIDED IN SECTION 25 OR BY ANY OTHER METHOD OF SERVICE PROVIDED
FOR UNDER THE APPLICABLE LAWS IN EFFECT IN THE STATE OF ILLINOIS.

     (d) NOTHING CONTAINED IN SUBSECTIONS (b) OR (c) HEREOF SHALL PRECLUDE THE SECURED PARTY FROM BRINGING ANY SUIT,
ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS SECURITY AGREEMENT OR ANY SECURITY JOINDER AGREEMENT
OR THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS IN THE COURTS OF ANY PLACE WHERE ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OF SUCH PARTY’S PROPERTY
OR ASSETS MAY BE FOUND OR LOCATED. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF ANY SUCH JURISDICTION,
EACH GRANTOR HEREBY IRREVOCABLY SUBMITS TO THE JURISDICTION OF ANY SUCH COURT AND EXPRESSLY WAIVES, IN RESPECT
OF ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING, THE JURISDICTION OF ANY OTHER COURT OR COURTS WHICH NOW OR HEREAFTER,
BY REASON OF ITS PRESENT OR FUTURE DOMICILE, OR OTHERWISE, MAY BE AVAILABLE UNDER APPLICABLE LAW.

     (e) IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING TO ENFORCE OR DEFEND ANY RIGHTS OR REMEDIES UNDER OR RELATED TO THIS SECURITY
AGREEMENT OR ANY SECURITY JOINDER AGREEMENT OR ANY AMENDMENT, INSTRUMENT, DOCUMENT OR AGREEMENT
DELIVERED OR THAT MAY IN THE FUTURE BE DELIVERED IN CONNECTION WITH THE FOREGOING, EACH PARTY HEREBY AGREES,
TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, THAT ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING SHALL BE TRIED BEFORE A COURT
AND NOT BEFORE A JURY AND HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVES, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT SUCH
PERSON MAY HAVE TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY SUCH ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING.

     (f) EACH GRANTOR HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVES ANY OBJECTION IT MAY HAVE THAT ANY COURT TO WHOSE JURISDICTION IT
HAS SUBMITTED PURSUANT TO THE TERMS HEREOF IS AN INCONVENIENT FORUM.

[Signature pages follow]
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     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Security Agreement on the day and year first written above.
       
  GRANTORS:   
       
  LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a Delaware corporation   
       
 

 
By:
Name: 

/s/ Thomas Neri
 

Thomas Neri  
 

  Title:  President   
       
  LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a Georgia corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
    

 
  

  Name: Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   
       
  LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a New Jersey corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
    

 
  

  Name: Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   
       
  LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a Nevada corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
    

 
  

  Name: Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   
       
  LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC., a Texas corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
    

 
  

  Name: Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   

 



 

       
  LP SERVICE CO., an Illinois corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
    

 
  

  Name: Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   
       
  LPI HOLDINGS, INC., an Illinois corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
    

 
  

  Name: Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   
       
 

 
CRONATRON WELDING SYSTEMS, LLC, a North Carolina
limited liability company  

 

       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
    

 
  

  Name: Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   
       
  DRUMMOND AMERICAN I LLC, an Illinois   
  limited liability company   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
    

 
  

  Name: Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   
       
  ASSEMBLY COMPONENT SYSTEMS, INC., an Illinois   
  corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
    

 
  

  Name: Thomas Neri   
  Title:  Chief Executive Officer   
       
 

 
AUTOMATIC SCREW MACHINE PRODUCTS COMPANY,
INC., an Alabama corporation  

 

       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
    

 
  

  Name: Thomas Neri   
  Title:  Chief Executive Officer   

 



 

       
  C. B. LYNN COMPANY, an Illinois corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
    

 
  

  Name: Thomas Neri   
  Title:  President   
       
  RUTLAND TOOL & SUPPLY CO., A Nevada corporation   
       
  By:  /s/ Thomas Neri   
    

 
  

  Name: Thomas Neri   
  Title:  Chief Executive Officer   

 



 

       
  SECURED PARTY:   
       
  BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Secured Party   
       
 

 
By:
Name: 

/s/ David Bacom
 

David Bacon  
 

  Title:  Vice President   
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EXHIBIT 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

   
Name  Jurisdiction of Incorporation
   
Assembly Component Systems, Inc.  Illinois
Automatic Screw Machine Products Company, Inc. (1)  Alabama
C.B. Lynn Company  Illinois
Cronatron Welding Systems, LLC.  North Carolina
Drummond American LLC.  Illinois
Lawson Products de Mexico S. de RL. de C.v.  Mexico
Lawson Products, Inc.  Georgia
Lawson Products, Inc.  Nevada
Lawson Products, Inc.  New Jersey
Lawson Products, Inc.  Texas
Lawson Products, Inc. (Ontario)  Ontario, Canada
LP Service Co.  Illinois
LPI Holdings, Inc.  Illinois
Rutland Tool & Supply Co.  Nevada

 

(1)  subsidiary of Assembly Component Systems, Inc.

 



EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-17912 of Lawson Products, Inc.) of our reports dated March 11, 2009,
with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Lawson Products, Inc., and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of
Lawson Products, Inc., included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2008.
     
   
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP    
Chicago, Illinois
   

March 11, 2009   
 

 



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Thomas J. Neri, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Lawson Products, Inc. (the “registrant”);
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 (b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 (d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 11, 2009
     
   
/s/ Thomas J. Neri   
Thomas J. Neri   
Chief Executive Officer   

 



     

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, F. Terrence Blanchard, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Lawson Products, Inc. (the “registrant”);
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 (b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 (d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 (b)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 11, 2009
     
   
/s/ F. Terrence Blanchard    
F. Terrence Blanchard   
Chief Financial Officer   

 



     

Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

     In connection with the Annual Report of Lawson Products, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2008 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company hereby
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that based on their knowledge:

 (1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and
 

 (2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of and
for the periods covered in the Report.

     
   
March 11, 2009 /s/ Thomas J. Neri   
 Thomas J. Neri   
 Chief Executive Officer  
 
   
 /s/ F. Terrence Blanchard   
 F. Terrence Blanchard   
 Chief Financial Officer  
 

 


